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As Turkey’s new player in the 
banking industry, Golden Global 
Bank intends to become one of 
the leading investment banks 
of Turkey and the region by 
offering practical solutions on 
permanent basis to meet its 
customers’ requirements in line 
with the principles of interest-
free banking.

The Bank focuses on providing 
banking services and alternative 
financing tools to companies 
active in foreign trade. 



WE ARE HERE TO BREAK NEW GROUND
Our goal is to differentiate the classical banking approach by 
introducing our unique business model in the Turkish banking 
sector. We realized a significant gap in the banking sector and 
set out on a journey to become Turkey’s first and only interest-
free investment bank. Driven by the experience and strength 
of our founders, Golden Global Bank obtained the required 
authorization to operate in this unique banking segment.



PREPARING FOR THE FUTURE WITH
ADVANCED TECHNOLOGY AND INNOVATION
We have embraced a boutique banking model 
integrating advanced technology with our banking 
infrastructure. Offering customized and innovative 
products such as musharaka, mudaraba and wakala, 
Golden Global Bank supports the real sector. We 
also focus on collaborating with fintechs to develop 
blockchain-based solutions in order to deliver next-
generation banking products and services.



A KEY ROLE IN 
INTERNATIONAL TRADE
Golden Global Bank is committed to become 
a major player in international trade by 
adopting a different approach to its banking 
services. Our lean organizational structure 
means that we can make and implement 
decisions quickly. Through extending our 
network of correspondent banks in target 
markets, we are able to increase our 
foreign trade volume. In addition, we aim to 
continuously improve the quality of our trade 
operations.



OUR SHORT-TERM TARGET
Although new to the market, Golden 
Global Bank ranks 12th active API 
service provider for open banking 
operations in Turkey. In only six months’ 
time, we grew our total assets to TL 219 
million, a 49% increase. We completed 
our first year of operation at a high 
performance, reporting net profit of 
about TL 10 million at year end 2020 
despite establishment related costs 
and investments. 
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CONTENTSAGENDA OF THE ORDINARY GENERAL 
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1.	 Opening	and	formation	of	the	General	Assembly	Meeting	Council,	

2.	 Reading	and	discussion	of	the	Board	of	Director’s	activity	report	and	the	independent	auditor	report	for		
	 the	accounting	period	of	2020,

3.	 Reading,	discussion	and	approval	of	the	financial	statements	for	2020,

4.	 Releasing	the	Board	Members	and	the	independent	auditor	individually,

5.	 Election	of	the	new	Board	Members	and	setting	their	terms	of	office,

6.	 Determination	of	use	of	the	accrued	profit,	rate	of	dividend	and	dividend	shares	to	be	distributed,

7.	 Determination	of	Board	Member	rights	such	as	remuneration,	attendance	payment,	premium	and		 	
	 bonus,

8.	 Election	of	the	independent	auditor	for	2021	in	accordance	with	article	339	of	the	Turkish	Commercial		 	
	 Code,	

9.	 Empowerment	of	the	Board	Members	for	matters	that	fall	into	the	scope	of	articles	395	and	396	of	the			
	 Turkish	Commercial	Code,

10.	 Wishes	and	conclusion.
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DEVELOPMENTS IN 2020
Golden	Global	Bank	was	established	on	October	
15th,	2019	and	commenced operations on June 1st, 
2020 under official authorization no. 8839 dated 
January 30th, 2020.

Operations began on June 1st, 2020
Golden	Global	Yatırım	Bankası	A.Ş.	was	
incorporated	on	October	15th,	2019	with	the	
establishment	license	no.	8369	dated	May	29th,	
2019	issued	by	the	Banking	Regulation	and	
Supervision	Agency.	The	Bank	commenced	
operations	on	June	1st,	2020	with	official	
authorization	no.	8839	dated	January	30th,	
2020.

01
Licenses obtained in a short time
Golden	Global	Bank	completed	many	statutory	
and	administrative	integration	and	licensing	
procedures	–	including	CBRT	Payment	Systems	
(EFT-EMKT),	Risk	Center,	Swift,	KKB,	BIST	Debt	
Securities	Market,	Precious	Metals	Market,	
Swap	Market,	Takasbank,	CMB	Intermediary	
Activities	Licenses	–	in	a	very	short	period	of	
time	thanks	to	its	efforts	pre-	and	post-official	
authorization.

03

Intermediation in transactions totaling  
USD 60 million
Golden	Global	Bank	effectively	leveraged	
its	correspondent	bank	network	and	
intermediated	foreign	trade-related	
transactions	worth	about	USD	60	million	from	
a	wide	range	of	countries,	including	Russia	and	
China.

07

12th Turkish bank capable of providing API 
(Application Programming Interface) services
As	part	of	its	next-generation	banking	
approach,	Golden	Global	Bank	prioritized	
technology	investments	and	became	Turkey’s	
12th	bank	capable	of	providing	open	banking	
API	services.

04

49% increase in total assets
Golden	Global	Bank	boosted	its	total	assets	
to	TL	219	million,	up	49%	in	2020.	The	Bank	
completed	its	first	year	at	a	high	performance,	
recording	net	profit	of	about	TL	10	million	profit	
despite	the	establishment	related	costs	and	
investments.

08
43 banks in 16 countries
Golden	Global	Bank	completed	relationship	
management	application	(RMA)	setup	with	43	
banks	in	16	countries.

05

Turkey’s first and only interest-free  
investment bank
Following	a	successful	application	process,	
Golden	Global	Bank	obtained	official	
authorization	to	become	the	first	and	only	
interest-free	investment	bank	in	Turkey.

02

Murabaha framework agreements with five 
banks
Golden	Global	Bank’s	Compliance	
Documentation	Set	and	AML	&	KYC	Surveys	
were	prepared	in	coordination	with	the	
Internal	Control	and	Compliance	Department.	
Murabaha	framework	agreements	were	
executed	with	five	banks	for	use	in	treasury	
placements.

06
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
Golden	Global	Bank	increased	its	tangible	assets	by	
288% to TL 4.4 million year-on-year in 2020.

Intangible Assets (TL Million)

17.4

3.7
376
Growth

%
‘19 ‘20

Total Assets ( TL Million)

219.4

147

49
Growth

%
‘19 ‘20

Profit/Loss (TL Million)

9.6

4.6

309
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%
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Shareholders’ Equity (TL Million)
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Tangible Assets (TL Million)

4.4

1.1
288
Growth

%
‘19 ‘20

Other Liabilities (TL Million)

36.1

1.6
‘19 ‘20

TL Thousand 2019 2020

Financial	Assets	(Net) 136,081 151,426

Financial	Assets	Measured	with	Amortized	Cost	(Net) - 44,080

Tangible	Assets	(Net) 1,130 4,380

Intangible	Assets	(Net) 3,656 17,400

Current	Tax	Assets - 832

Other	Assets 6,107 1,338

Total Assets 146,974 219,456

Borrower	Funds - 24,212

Lease	Liabilities - 2,231

Provisions - 898

Current	Tax	Liability - 417

Deferred	Tax	Liability - 566

Other	Liabilities 1,567 36,134

Shareholders’	Equity 145,407 154,998

Paid-in	Capital 150,000 150,000

Profit/Loss -4,593 4,998

Prior	Years’	Profit/Loss - -4,593

Profit/Loss	for	the	Period -4,593 9,591

Total Liabilities 146,974 219,456
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GOLDEN GLOBAL BANK AT A GLANCE
Founded	to	breathe	new	life	into	the	banking	industry	with	
its	boutique	banking	approach	and	unique	business	model,	
Golden Global Bank is Turkey’s first and only investment 
bank to operate in accordance with the principles of 
interest-free banking.

Golden	Global	Yatırım	Bankası	A.Ş.	
was	incorporated	on	October	15th,	
2019	with	the	establishment	license	
no.	8369	dated	May	29th,	2019	
issued	by	the	Banking	Regulation	
and	Supervision	Agency.	The	Bank	
commenced	its	operations	on	June	
1st,	2020	with	official	authorization	
no.	8839	dated	January	30th,	2020.

Golden	Global	Bank	was	
established	by	partners	with	
deep	experience	in	banking	and	
international	trade.	The	Bank’s	
founding	partners	previously	
served	in	various	professional	
roles	at	managerial	levels	and	
were	driven	by	an	entrepreneurial	
vision	to	provide	banking	services	
and	alternative	financing	tools	to	
foreign	trade	firms	in	particular.	The	
Bank	adopted	a	boutique	banking	
approach,	instead	of	offering	a	wide	
range	of	products	and	services	to	
every	customer	segment.	

The	Bank	boasts	a	lean	
organizational	structure	and	a	
highly	competent	staff,	each	of	
whom	has	decades	of	experience	
in	their	respective	fields.	As	a	

•	 Creating	a	comprehensive	
correspondent	bank	network	
in	its	target	markets	and	
engaging	in	efforts	to	boost	
Turkey’s	foreign	trade	volume;

•	 Leading	the	way	to	deepen	
Turkey’s	money	and	capital	
markets	by	providing	its	
customers	with	the	resources	
that	they	need	under	most	
affordable	terms	with	funds	
obtained	from	domestic	and	
foreign	state-owned,	private	
and	international	financial	
institutions;

•	 Financing	strategic	investment	
projects	in	Turkey	and	allowing	
Turkish	entrepreneurs	to	benefit	
from	potential	investments	in	
nearby	regions.

Pursuant	to	these	objectives,	
Golden	Global	Bank	aims	to:

•	 Develop	financial	solution	
proposals	that	effectively	meet	
its	customers’	needs	related	
to	foreign	trade	financing	
and	facilitate	international	
banking	operations	via	its	
extensive	correspondent	bank	
network	as	well	as	strategic	
collaborations	with	financial	
institutions	in	selected	target	
markets;	

•	 Deliver	next-generation	
banking	products	with	a	
state-of-the-art	technological	
infrastructure;

•	 Enable	Turkey	to	play	a	
more	effective	role	in	the	
international	precious	metals	
trade.

Commenced	its	operations	
on	June	1st,	2020,	the	Bank	
completed	many	statutory	and	
administrative	integration	and	
licensing	procedures	–	including	
CBRT	EFT	system,	Risk	Center,	
Swift,	KKB,	BIST	Debt	Securities	
Market,	Precious	Metals	Market,	
Swap	Market,	Takasbank,	CMB	
Intermediary	Activities,	E-Letter	of	
Credit	–	in	a	very	short	time.	

Golden	Global	Bank	became	the	
12th	bank	in	the	Turkish	market	
capable	of	providing	API	services	
compatible	with	open	banking.	
The	Bank	prioritizes	advanced	
technology	investments	as	
part	of	its	next-generation	
banking	approach.	Golden	
Global	Bank	began	working	
with	fintechs	to	offer	services	
through	the	API	platform	in	
conjunction	with	banks	and	
payment	service	providers.	The	
Bank	also	launched	the	Internet	
branch	for	monitoring	purposes	
and	initiated	e-letter	of	credit	
services.	Regarding	payment	
services,	the	Bank	is	nearing	
completion	of	certification	by	
MasterCard	and	Visa	to	perform	
transactions	globally.	In	addition,	
a	membership	application	has	
been	filed	with	Interbank	Card	
Center	(BKM).

Despite	the	negative	impact	
of	the	Covid-19	pandemic,	
Golden	Global	Bank	had	been	
in	contact	with	nearly	300	
financial	institutions	in	order	to	
establish	strong	correspondent	
relationships.	In	just	six	months,	
the	Bank	intermediated	foreign	

TL 17.4 MILLION 
Intangible 
Fixed Assets

TL 219 MILLION
Total Assets

result,	Golden	Global	Bank	began	
its	journey	to	become	a	banking	
institution	that	can	capitalize	on	
its	low	operating	costs,	superior	
operational	capabilities	and	quick	
decision-making	capabilities.

Golden	Global	Bank	aims	to	
integrate	innovative	digital	
banking	products	and	services	
into	its	banking	infrastructure.	
The	Bank	plans	to	lead	the	
Turkish	banking	sector	forward	
with	its	next-generation	banking	
model	by	closely	following	
global	developments	in	financial	
technology.

The	Bank	is	driven	by	its	trust	in	
Turkey’s	future	vision	and	supports	
the	country’s	goal	to	make	
Istanbul	the	center	for	international	
finance	and	trade.	Golden	Global	
Bank’s	target	markets	include	
countries	where	Turkish	investors,	
constructors	and	exporters	
have	strong	trade	relations	but	
nevertheless	face	difficulties	in	
accessing	banking	products	and	
services.	The	Bank	is	focused	on	
the	following	objectives:

trade	transactions	in	different	
currencies	–	including	USD,	EUR,	
yuan	and	UAE	dirham	–	worth	
about	USD	60	million	by	quickly	
establishing	a	correspondent	
bank	network	with	European,	
Russian,	Chinese,	Middle	Eastern	
and	African	banks	in	line	with	its	
international	banking	vision.	

After	commencing	operations	in	
June	2020,	the	Bank	increased	
its	total	assets	by	45%	to	TL	
219	million	by	year’s	end	2020.	
Golden	Global	closed	its	first	year	
successfully,	recording	net	profit	
of	about	TL	10	million	despite	
establishment	related	costs	and	
investments.	

In	2021,	Golden	Global	Bank	plans	
to	further	increase	its	foreign	
trade	volume	by	expanding	
its	network	of	correspondents	
in	target	markets	–	including	
Europe,	former	Commonwealth	
of	Independent	States	(CIS)	
countries,	Middle	East,	Africa	
and	Far	East	regions.	The	Bank	
aims	to	become	a	key	domestic	
market	and	international	player	
in	commodities	trading,	including	
precious	metals	and	food.	
Golden	Global	Bank	is	committed	
to	supporting	the	real	sector	
with	tools	such	as	musharaka,	
mudaraba	and	wakala.	The	
Bank	also	plans	to	focus	on	
collaborating	with	fintech	
companies	to	develop	innovative	
solutions,	including	blockchain-
based	solutions,	as	part	of	
its	next-generation	banking	
approach,	while	achieving	
sustainable	profitability.
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VISION, MISSION AND VALUES

CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE

Our Values
•	 Interest-free	banking
•	 Customer	oriented
•	 Trustworthy	
•	 Transparent
•	 Innovative
•	 Team	work
•	 Proactive
•	 Service	quality	
•	 Efficient
•	 Sustainable

Our Vision
Golden	Global	Bank’s	vision	is	to	become	a	
prestigious,	pioneering	bank	that	continuously	
creates	value	for	its	stakeholders,	operates	
according	to	the	principles	and	procedures	of	
interest-free	banking	and	closely	follows	global	
developments	in	this	area	to	incorporate	them	into	
its	practices.

Our Mission
Golden	Global	Bank’s	mission	is	to	become	a	
prestigious	and	well-respected	investment	bank	in	its	
region,	that	effectively	meets	its	customers’	needs,	
continuously	enhances	the	value	that	it	creates	
for	its	customers,	employees	and	stakeholders	
by	operating	according	to	the	principles	and	
procedures	of	interest-free	banking	while	acting	
responsibly	in	line	with	its	ethical	values.

GOLDEN GLOBAL BANK AT A GLANCE

Pursuant	to	its	vision,	Golden	Global	Bank	aims	to 
become a prestigious and pioneering bank that 
continuously creates value for its stakeholders.

36

32

Emir KAYA

Salih 
BERBEROĞLU

%

%14
Recep KABA

%

14

4

Ahmet DAĞLI

Mustafa AKIN

%

%

PAID-IN CAPITAL
TL 150 MILLION

Full Name/Trade Name Share Amount (TL Thousand) Share Ratio (%)

Emir	Kaya 54,000 36%

Salih	Berberoğlu 48,000 32%

Recep	Kaba 21,000 14%

Ahmet	Dağlı 21,000 14%

Mustafa	Akın 6,000 4%

Total 150,000 100%



INTRODUCTION GOLDEN GLOBAL BANK ANNUAL REPORT 202020 21

MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN
Demonstrating	our	trust	in	Turkey’s	economy	and	
financial	system,	Golden	Global	Bank	began its 
operations according to the principles of interest-free 
banking despite the gloomy environment of 2020.

Esteemed	Stakeholders,

In	2020	–	a	year	deeply	marred	
by	the	Covid-19	pandemic,	which	
severely	impacted	the	world	with	
widespread	social,	commercial	and	
financial	implications	–	humankind	
passed	a	challenging	test.	

We	were	also	left	downhearted	
by	natural	disasters,	including	
earthquakes,	avalanches	and	
fires,	that	occurred	this	year	in	
various	regions	across	the	country.	
In	addition,	Turkey	was	forced	
to	address	problems	owing	to	
its	strategic	location	right	in	the	
middle	of	a	region	filled	with	
political	and	military	tensions,	
including	nearby	conflicts	in	the	
East	Mediterranean,	Syria,	Iraq,	
Lebanon	and	Azerbaijan.

In	response	to	the	global	
pandemic,	we	kept	a	close	eye	on	
the	actions	taken	by	central	banks	
in	developed	countries,	especially	
the	USA,	in	the	form	of	interest	rate	
cuts	and	bond	purchase	programs	
to	support	the	markets	as	well	
as	economic	stimulus	packages	

in	these	countries.	We	saw	similar	
interventions	and	other	measures	
aimed	at	supporting	employment	
from	central	banks	of	developing	
economies,	including	Turkey.	

An unprecedented crisis
The	Covid-19	outbreak,	which	
affected	every	corner	of	the	globe,	
halted,	or	slowed	all	components	
of	the	economy,	including	
manufacturing,	service,	trade,	
finance	and	consumption,	at	the	
same	time.	This	fact	presented	
the	world	with	a	crisis	that	has	not	
been	experienced	before	in	modern	
financial	history.	While	all	segments	
of	society	were	impacted	by	this	
severe	crisis,	the	wide	range	of	
individual	country	responses	also	
differentiated	the	yielded	results.

In	the	EU,	member	states	struggled	
to	stimulate	their	economies	despite	
central	banks	lowering	interest	rates	
into	negative	territory.	The	USA	
experienced	similar	difficulties.	The	
perception	of	failing	to	effectively	
deal	with	the	pandemic’s	impacts	
also	affected	investor	willingness	
to	take	on	risks.	While	China,	where	

With the completion 
of the U.S. 
presidential elections 
toward year’s end, 
it is hoped that the 
new administration 
will take action to 
mitigate existing 
tensions in global 
trade. 
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MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN

Golden	Global	Bank	plans	to	further	support	Turkey’s	economy	
and	add	value	to	all	of	its	stakeholders	by utilizing the nation’s 
resources efficiently and capitalizing on opportunities arising 
from changes in the global landscape.

From	day	one,	Turkey	responded	
to	the	coronavirus	outbreak	with	
appropriate	levels	of	care	and	
urgency.	The	country	effectively	
capitalized	on	its	advanced	
healthcare	system.	As	a	result,	
Turkey	has	recorded	far	more	
success	in	combating	the	
pandemic	compared	to	other	
countries	of	the	world.	Although	
economic	fragility	persists	in	
terms	of	Turkey’s	current	account	
deficit,	growth,	interest	rates	
and	inflation,	we	believe	that	
2021	will	see	the	positive	impact	
of	the	policy	shift	made	by	the	
economic	management	during	
the	last	quarter.	The	pandemic’s	
effects	on	the	country’s	
macroeconomic	balance	are	
expected	to	be	limited	in	the	
coming	year.

the	coronavirus	outbreak	first	
started,	made	moves	toward	
normalization,	trade	war	tensions	
persisted	with	the	USA	and	EU	
regardless	of	the	pandemic.	
Mutual	hikes	in	import	tariffs,	
political	tensions	in	Hong	Kong,	
imposition	of	sanctions	and	lastly	
the	pandemic	all	suggest	that	
western	countries,	collectively	the	
biggest	consumer	market,	must	
find	alternative	trade	partners	
and	investment	regions.	With	the	
completion	of	the	U.S.	presidential	
elections	toward	year’s	end,	
it	is	hoped	that	the	new	
administration	will	take	action	
to	mitigate	existing	tensions	in	
global	trade.	

We began our journey by 
trusting in Turkey
Demonstrating	our	trust	in	
Turkey’s	economy	and	financial	
system,	Golden	Global	Bank	
began	its	operations	according	
to	the	principles	of	interest-free	
banking,	despite	the	gloomy	
environment	of	2020.

At	Golden	Global	Bank,	we	
plan	to	further	support	Turkey’s	
economy	and	add	value	to	all	
of	our	stakeholders	by	utilizing	
the	nation’s	resources	efficiently	
and	capitalizing	on	opportunities	
arising	from	changes	in	the	
global	landscape.	

I	would	like	to	express	
my	gratitude	to	all	of	the	
stakeholders	who	have	
accompanied	us	on	this	exciting	
journey.

Yours	respectfully,

MUSTAFA AKIN
Chairman of  
the Board of Directors



INTRODUCTION GOLDEN GLOBAL BANK ANNUAL REPORT 202024 25

MESSAGE FROM THE GENERAL MANAGER
Golden Global Bank began its journey to develop 
solutions specially tailored to meet its customers’ 
needs and introduce new products that comply	with	
the	principles	of	interest-free	banking	while	focusing	
on	international	banking.

Thanks	to	its	strong	healthcare	
system,	Turkey	ranks	among	
those	countries	most	effectively	
managing	its	public	health	
response	to	the	pandemic.	By	
restructuring	tax	debts	and	
quickly	introducing	stimulus	
measures,	such	as	interest	rate	
discounts,	the	country	softened	
the	pandemic’s	impact	and	
prevented	a	major	economic	
collapse.	

Lingering	issues	–	such	as	
the	current	account	deficit,	
economic	growth,	foreign	
exchange	rates	and	inflation,	
which	have	required	delicate	
management	in	previous	years	
–	remained	on	Turkey’s	agenda	
in	2020.	Taking	into	account	
the	severe	negative	impact	of	
the	global	pandemic,	Turkey	
demonstrated	a	solid	economic	
performance	within	its	budgetary	
limits.	Any	potential	effects	of	
the	supportive	measures	and	
stimulus	packages	implemented	
to	maintain	employment	and	
keep	businesses	open	will	be	
monitored	throughout	2021.	

Esteemed	Stakeholders,

In	2020,	the	world	focused	on	
dealing	with	the	widespread	
implications	of	the	Covid-19	
pandemic.	In	this	global	event	
with	no	parallel	in	modern	history,	
all	components	of	the	world	
economy	came	to	an	abrupt	
stop	at	the	same	time.	Countries	
thought	to	be	in	a	strong	position	
with	their	advanced	technologies,	
modern	healthcare	systems	and	
strong	financials	were	helpless	in	
the	face	of	the	deadly	pandemic.	
Long	held	standards	and	habits	
quickly	gave	way.

Global	trade	slowed	to	a	crawl	
due	to	the	pandemic.	Severe	
damage	was	sustained	across	a	
broad	spectrum	of	world	trade,	
from	energy	production	to	raw	
material	supply.	Independent	of	
the	pandemic,	the	trade	wars	
between	the	USA	and	China	as	
well	as	the	ongoing	Brexit	process	
were	other	major	factors	that	
affected	the	global	economy	
during	this	highly	challenging	
year. 

TL 9.6 MILLION TL 219 MILLION
Net Profit Total Assets

A challenging period for  
the banking sector
2020	was	not	an	easy	year	for	
the	banking	industry.	The	sector’s	
balance	sheet	grew	to	over	TL	6	
trillion,	an	increase	of	35%	year-
on-year.	The	Turkish	banking	
industry	reported	similar	figures	
in	credit	and	deposit	growth.	

Asset	quality	was	the	focal	
point	of	the	banking	sector	in	
2020,	partly	due	to	the	effects	
of	the	pandemic.	In	comparison	
to	previous	years,	the	banking	
industry	spent	far	more	time	and	
efforts	on	non-performing	loans	
and	debt	restructuring.

The	importance	of	diversifying	
resources	to	achieve	effective	
balance	sheet	management	was	
another	focus	area	during	the	
year.	Players	in	Turkey’s	banking	
sector	managed	international	
borrowing	successfully	despite	
poor	global	conditions.	
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MESSAGE FROM THE GENERAL MANAGER

At	this	point,	Turkey	should	
carefully	examine	the	reasons	for	
the	lack	of	any	significant	decline	
in	foreign	currency	deposits.	The	
banking	industry	will	support	
actions	by	the	government’s	
economic	administration	to	boost	
trust	in	the	Turkish	lira.	

Boutique banking model
Golden	Global	Bank	was	
established	to	introduce	the	
boutique	banking	business	model	
–	one	commonly	found	in	western	
financial	centers	–	to	Turkey.	
The	Bank	began	its	journey	to	
develop	solutions	specially	tailored	
to	meet	its	customers’	needs	
and	introduce	new	products	
that	comply	with	the	principles	
of	interest-free	banking	while	
focusing	on	international	banking.	
Golden	Global	Bank	aimed	to	
reach	these	goals	by	capitalizing	
on	advanced	technology	with	an	
innovative	approach.

Golden	Global	Bank’s	founding	
process	started	at	the	end	of	
2017	when	the	project	was	
initially	conceived.	In	early	2020,	

Total	support	to	the	real	sector	
–	via	qard	hasan,	wakala,	
murabaha	and	non-cash	
financing	methods	–	reached	
about	TL	522	million.	Golden	
Global	Bank	effectively	capitalized	
on	its	correspondent	bank	
network	and	intermediated	
foreign	trade-related	transactions	
worth	about	USD	60	million	
from	a	wide	range	of	countries,	
including	Russia	and	China.

What	lies	beneath	this	success	
achieved	in	such	a	short	time?	
Our	Bank	features	an	array	
of	unique	characteristics	
that	differentiate	it	from	the	
competition.	

Golden	Global	Bank	is	the	first	
and	only	investment	bank	in	
Turkey	to	conduct	its	business	
operations	in	a	way	that	is	
consistent	with	the	principles	of	
interest-free	banking.	With	its	
boutique	banking	approach,	the	
Bank	aims	to	become	an	active	
player	in	those	product	segments	
and	markets	that	larger	banks	
may	neglect	or	fail	to	prioritize	
in	developing	appropriate	and	
customized	solutions.	Golden	
Global	Bank	adopts	a	different	
business	model	compared	to	its	
competitors,	while	boasting	an	
expert	staff,	robust	technology	
infrastructure	and	business	
processes	that	enable	quick	
decision-making.

With	a	strategic	focus	on	
international	banking	transactions	
and	payment	systems,	Golden	
Global	Bank	aims	to	become	a	key	
player	in	the	Middle	East,	Africa,	
China	and	Russian	markets	that	
have	difficulty	in	accessing	fast,	
high-quality	banking	services.	

Next-generation banking
Golden	Global	Bank	sees	financial	
technology	companies	as	a	
complementary	part	of	the	financial	
system	and	develops	new	financial	
products	through	strong	fintech	
collaborations.	Despite	being	newly	
established,	Golden	Global	Bank	
has	already	completed	its	API	
integration,	leaving	many	banks	
in	the	domestic	market	behind.	As	
part	of	its	next-generation	banking	
approach,	Golden	Global	Bank	is	the	
12th	bank	in	Turkey	ready	for	open	
banking	applications	in	terms	of	
internal	systems	and	infrastructure.

Adopting	a	boutique	banking	
concept	as	its	business	model,	
Golden Global Bank also boasts a 
team	of	expert	professionals	who	
are	open	to	new	ideas	and	fond	of	
their	jobs.	The	Bank	prioritize	the	
professional	development	of	its	
employees	and	encourages	staff	
members	to	attend	certification	and	
training	programs	as	necessary.	In	
line	with	its	growth	targets,	Golden	
Global Bank plans to onboard 
new	employees	and	develop	the	
competencies	of	its	entire	staff	as	
required	by	its	business	model.

Golden	Global	Bank	effectively	capitalized	on	its	
correspondent	bank	network	and	intermediated foreign 
trade-related transactions worth about USD 60 million 
from a wide range of countries, including Russia and China.

TL 150 MILLION
Paid-in Capital

TL 522 MILLION
Support to the Real 
Sector

the	establishment	process	was	
completed	with	the	formation	of	the	
founding	management	team	and	
fulfillment	of	technical,	administrative	
and	legal	requirements.	The	Bank	
commenced	operations	and	started	
to	accept	customers	in	June	2020.	

Golden	Global	Bank	completed	
many	statutory	and	administrative	
integration	and	licensing	processes	
–	including	CBRT	EFT	system,	
Risk	Center,	Swift,	KKB,	BIST	Debt	
Securities	Market,	Precious	Metals	
Market,	Swap	Market,	Takasbank,	
CMB	Intermediary	Activities,	E-Letter	
of	Credit	–	in	a	short	period	of	time.

A profitable year despite 
investment costs
Despite	the	negative	impact	of	the	
pandemic,	Golden	Global	Bank	
closed	the	fiscal	year	with	success.	
The	Bank	boosted	its	total	assets	
to	TL	219	million,	registering	a	49%	
increase	in	a	short	time.	Golden	
Global	Bank	completed	its	first	year	
of	operation	with	success,	recording	
net	profit	of	about	TL	10	million	in	
spite	of	establishment	related	costs	
and	investments.	

Golden	Global	Bank	aims	to	
further	diversify	its	customer	base	
and	transaction	offering	with	
the	introduction	of	new	financial	
products	in	2021.	The	Bank	also	plans	
to	open	additional	correspondent	
accounts	in	more	countries	by	
gradually	expanding	its	network	of	
domestic	and	foreign	correspondent	
financial	institutions.	Our	goal	is	to	
significantly	increase	the	volume	of	
foreign	trade	transactions	that	the	
Bank	intermediates.

In	the	coming	year,	Golden	Global	
Bank	will	prioritize	completion	of	its	
ongoing	technology-driven	projects.	
To	this	end,	the	Bank	will	begin	
offering	fast	and	affordable	payment	
services	in	collaboration	with	its	
fintech-API	integration	partners.	
Upon	activation	of	MasterCard,	
Visa	and	BKM	memberships	during	
the	first	quarter	of	the	year,	Golden	
Global	Bank	will	start	working	with	
the	world’s	largest	payment	service	
providers.	

I	would	like	to	express	my	gratitude	
to	all	our	stakeholders	who	placed	
their	trust	and	confidence	in	us.	In	
addition,	I	want	to	thank	Golden	
Global	Bank’s	valuable	employees,	
who	are	our	driving	force	on	this	
journey	to	introduce	vitality	and	
innovations	into	the	Turkish	banking	
sector	and	add	value	to	Turkey’s	
economy.

Yours	respectfully,

ÖZAY BALTA
General Manager
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CORPORATE/COMMERCIAL BANKING AND 
BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT
Golden Global Bank contributes to the development 
of	interest-free	banking	in	Turkey	as	well	as	the	
growth	of	the	national	economy.

Golden	Global	Bank’s	customer	
portfolio	mainly	consists	of	firms	
engaged	in	international	trade.	
The	Bank’s	clients	also	include	
firms	engaged	in	commodity	and	
precious	metal	trading.	

Starting	its	operations	in	
June	2020,	Golden	Global	
Bank	spent	most	of	its	efforts	
on	incorporation	work,	
institutionalization	processes,	
legal	and	regulatory	compliance	
programs,	integration	of	external	
institutions	and	customer	
diversification	during	its	first	six	
months.	

The	Bank	is	continuing	its	efforts	
to	establish	working	relationships	
with	overseas	customers	and	
firms	engaged	in	international	
trade	operations,	including	
transit	trade.	All	integration	
processes	required	to	be	able	
to	perform	secure	trading	on	
behalf	of	Golden	Global	Bank	
and	its	customers	are	now	
complete.	As	a	result,	the	Bank	
has	commenced	securities	
trading	transactions.	Integration	

Golden	Global	Bank	was	
established	primarily	to	provide	
banking	services	and	alternative	
financing	tools	to	foreign	trade	
firms.	It	is	the	first	and	only	
investment	bank	in	Turkey	that	
conducts	its	business	operations	
that	is	consistent	with	the	
principles	of	interest-free	banking.

The	Bank	offers	its	customers	
cash	financing	products	–	
such	as	murabaha,	wakala,	
mudaraba,	musharaka,	qard	
hasan	–	and	leasing	as	well	as	
non-cash	financing	products,	
including	letters	of	credit,	external	
guarantee	and	e-letter	of	credit.	It	
also	provides	cash	management	
services,	such	as	cash	deposit	
and	withdrawal,	EFT	and	
international	funds	transfers.	

processes	required	to	provide	
digital	banking	and	POS	services	
are	currently	underway.

Golden	Global	Bank	closely	
monitors	any	emerging	
opportunities	that	may	facilitate	its	
product	diversification	in	interest-
free	banking.	The	Bank	also	aims	
to	contribute	to	the	development	
of	interest-free	banking	in	the	
Turkish	market.	Golden	Global	
Bank	is	capable	of	performing	
financial	leasing	transactions	in	its	
capacity	as	an	investment	bank.	
The	Bank	became	a	member	
of	the	Association	of	Financial	
Institutions	and	activated	its	system	
infrastructure	to	be	able	to	perform	
this	type	of	transaction.	

Driven	by	a	mindset	of	continuous	
innovation	and	improvement,	
Golden	Global	Bank	is	committed	
to	ensuring	legal	and	regulatory	
compliance	and	establishing	the	
necessary	systems	infrastructure	
to	offer	its	customers	commodity	
trading	and	e-invoice	financing	
products,	which	are	not	commonly	
used	in	Turkey.

USD 59 MILLION
Volume of Foreign 
Trade Transactions 
Intermediated
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TREASURY
The	Treasury	Department	
proactively	works	to identify  
the right strategies according 
to market conditions.

better	and	efficient	services	to	
the	Bank’s	customers.

Depending	on	market	
developments,	the	Treasury	
Department	takes	actions	to	
identify	the	right	strategy	based	
on	projections	by	compiling	
data	on	type,	price	and	volume	
of	financial	resources.	This	way,	
the	optimum	asset-liability	
composition	could	be	designated	
in	relation	to	the	Bank’s	growth	
target,	profitability	and	risk	
position.	

Golden	Global	Bank	completed	
many statutory and 
administrative	integration	and	
licensing	processes	–	including	
CBRT	Payment	Systems	(EFT-
EMKT),	Risk	Center,	Swift,	KKB,	
BIST	Debt	Securities	Market,	
Precious	Metals	Market,	Swap	
Market,	Takasbank,	CMB	
Intermediary	Activities	Licenses	
and	E-Letter	of	Credit	–	in	a	very	
short	time	thanks	to	its	efforts	
during	the	incorporation	stage.

At	Golden	Global	Bank,	
short-term	and	long-term	
liquidity	planning	in	TL	and	
foreign	currencies	is	of	critical	
importance.	The	Bank’s	Treasury	
Department	engages	in	efforts	
to	comply	with	statutory	reserve	
requirements,	meet	liquidity	
needs	in	accordance	with	
the	principles	of	participation	
banking,	utilize	excess	liquidity	
and	manage	assets	and	liabilities	
in	a	way	that	provides	a	high	
profit	margin.	

The	Treasury	Department	
performs	transactions	in	the	
foreign	exchange,	precious	
metals,	money	and	capital	
markets	to	utilize	such	resources.	
The	Department	also	develops	
innovative	products	according	
to	customers’	requirements.	
In	addition,	the	Treasury	
Department	helps	to	ensure	
that	new	developments	
and	opportunities	arising	
in	the	financial	markets	are	
transformed	into	diversified	
products	and	tools	for	customers.	
The	primary	objective	is	to	offer	

In	2020,	Golden	Global	Bank	
improved	its	ability	to	obtain	TL	
and	foreign	currency-denominated	
funds	from	domestic	and	foreign	
banks	and	developed	the	
required	systems	infrastructure	
for	sukuk	trading	and	buy-sell	
back	transactions.	The	Bank	also	
intermediated	gold	purchase	
transactions	in	precious	metals	
market	and	offered	its	customers	
the	ability	to	perform	forward	
exchange	trading	transactions	for	
hedging	purposes.	Work	is	ongoing	
to	ensure	quick	integration	with	all	
potential	products	and	markets	
that	may	arise	depending	on	
evolving	market	conditions.

Since	starting	its	operations,	
Golden	Global	Bank	has	
performed	transactions	totaling	
USD	299	million	in	foreign	
exchange	markets	and	USD	27.71	
million	in	precious	metals	markets	
to	at	the	end	of	2020.	

Golden	Global	Bank	aims	to	
differentiate	from	the	competition	
with	its	capability	to	develop	
tailored	made	products	for	its	
customers	as	part	of	its	boutique	
banking	approach.	The	Bank	
plans	to	further	broaden	its	client	
base	and	offer	improved	services	
to	its	customers	in	the	coming	
year. 

In	2021,	Golden	Global	Bank	aims	
to	develop	a	customer-oriented	
approach	in	collaboration	with	
the	Marketing	Department	in	
order	to	provide	its	customers	
with	instant	pricing	of	market	
products.	The	Bank’s	plans	for	
2021	also	include	recruiting	expert	
staff;	conducting	customer	visits	
to	inform	them	about	hedging	
against	potential	high	price	
risks	in	the	markets	as	well	as	
operational	risks;	and	establishing	
a	minimum-risk	management	
approach.

The Treasury 
Department 
develops innovative 
products and tools 
based on customer 
demands in order 
to offer better and 
quicker services to 
customers.
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FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND  
INVESTOR RELATIONS
More than 300 banks from 63 countries	were	
contacted	via	face-to-face	meetings,	phone	calls,	video	
conferencing,	e-mail	and	Swift	channels.

cash	financing	to	the	Bank	
and	sharing	periodic	balance	
sheet	data	with	them	on	a	
regular	basis;

•	 Reviewing	the	process	
of	establishing	RMA	
relationships	(encrypted	
Swift)	with	correspondents,	
conveying	the	Legal	
Department’s	opinion	for	
the	documentation	and	
submitting	requests	to	the	
Operations	Departments;

•	 Evaluating	and	processing	
the	incoming	requests	
for	RMA	relations	from	
correspondents	by	carrying	
out	a	review	of	the	institution	
in	question	and	receiving	the	
Legal	Department	opinion.

• To establish credit lines for 
banks and allocate country 
limits: 
•	 Analyzing	banks	to	set	or	
increase	limits	of	domestic	
and	foreign	financial	
institutions	and	respectively,	
reviewing	the	country	risk.

and	AML	(Anti-Money	
Laundering)	policies	for	the	
Bank	and	correspondent	
banks;

•	 Collecting	required	
documents,	sending	them	
via	e-mail,	Swift	or	DHL	and	
tracking	the	referenced	
documents;

•	 Providing	additional	
information	to	
correspondents	via	meetings,	
teleconferencing	and	video	
conferencing,	as	needed;

•	 Keeping	track	of	KYC	and	
AML	surveys	on	a	periodic	
basis	to	ensure	that	such	
surveys are mutually 
collected	from/provided	to	
correspondents.

Golden	Global	Bank	aims	to	make	
a	difference	in	the	sector	with	
its	boutique	banking	approach	
and	specialized	service	offering.	
The	Bank	focuses	on	eliminating	
financing	risks	and	operational	
risks	of	customers	through	
appropriate	payment	channels	
and	delivering	financing	solutions.	
In	addition,	Golden	Global	Bank	
provides	insurance	products	in	
countries	where	access	to	banking	
services	is	limited	and	customers	
have	difficulties	in	import/export	
transfers.	The	Bank	also	collects	
customers’	receivables	in	foreign	
trade	transactions.	

Golden	Global	Bank	provides	
a	wide	variety	of	products	and	
services	related	to	foreign	trade	
financing,	including:	leasing,	

The	Financial	Institutions	
Department	plays	a	leading	role	
in	establishing	and	maintaining	
relationships	with	the	Bank’s	
Foreign	Trade,	Treasury,	
Legal-Compliance	and	Risk	
Management	Departments.	
The	Financial	Institutions	
Department’s	responsibilities	
include:	

• To maintain relationships 
with the correspondent 
banks:  
•	 Selecting	banks	in	foreign	
countries	that	could	
potentially	be	contacted	for	
new	correspondent	bank	
relationships	and	initiating	
the	necessary	processes;

•	 Providing	information	
on	Golden	Global	Bank’s	
financial	status	and	
strategies	as	well	as	
economic	and	political	
developments	of	Turkey	

•	 Explaining	the	Bank’s	long-
term	strategies	to	creditors	
that	provide	cash	and	non-

• To provide medium- to long-
term funding resources for 
the Bank:
•	 Playing	an	active	role	in	
marketing	efforts;	ensuring	
coordination	among	the	
Bank’s	internal	departments	
during	processes	related	
to	obtaining	funding	under	
appropriate	terms	by	
utilizing	money	and	capital	
market	debt	instruments,	
such	as	TL	lease	certificates,	
FX	sukuk,	murabaha	
syndication,	club	loans	and	
the	like;	drawing	up	and	
negotiating	agreements	with	
the	related	counterparties.

• To monitor and sustain 
nostro and vostro accounts: 
•	 Taking	part	in	the	account	
opening	and	closing	
processes	in	coordination	
with	related	departments,

•	 Conducting	negotiations	
over	account	terms	and	
conditions	received	from	
correspondents.

• To help prepare the Bank’s 
compliance documentation 
set: 
•	 Responding	to	inquiries	
from	correspondents	in	
coordination	with	the	Bank’s	
Compliance	Officer;	

•	 Working	in	coordination	with	
the	Legal	and	Compliance	
Departments	to	create	and	
maintain	up	to	date	KYC	
(Know	Your	Customer)	

• To ensure the seamless and 
convenient performance of 
customers’ foreign trade 
transactions, an important 
source of income for Golden 
Global Bank: 
•	 Ensuring	that	non-cash	
limits	are	established	by	the	
correspondent	banks;

•	 Securing	the	competitive	
transaction	fees/commissions	
for	the	Bank	and	its	customers	
by	negotiating	commissions/
prices/fees	for	letters	of	credit,	
letters	of	guarantee	and	the	
like;

•	 Contacting	the	correspondent	
banks	to	eliminate	any	
unfavorable	issues	that	
may	arise	during	operations	
associated	with	the	relevant	
processes;

•	 Supporting	the	Marketing	
Departments	with	key	
customer	visits	in	relation	
to	foreign	trade	financing;	
opportunities:

•	 Working	to	diversify	and	
improve	foreign	trade	products	
in	order	to	support	commission	
income.

corporate	financing	support,	pre-
shipment	FX	loans,	commodity	
financing,	sight	letter	of	credit,	
deferred	letter	of	credit	for	import,	
cash	advance,	cash	against	goods,	
import	and	export	transactions	
against	documents,	export	letter	of	
credit,	payment	transactions	against	
documents,	pre-	and	post-shipment	
export	finance,	Eximbank	credits	
and	export	credit	insurance.	

Other	services	provided	by	the	Bank	
include:	bilateral,	club	loans,	FX/TL	
sukuk,	syndication	credit,	capital	and	
money	market	debt	instruments	
such	as	subordinated	loans	and	
loans	provided	by	international	
institutions;	agreements	with	
correspondent	banks	based	on	
commission;	and	risk	sharing	
such	as	master	risk	participation	
agreements	and	rebate	
agreements.

After	the	Bank	received	official	
authorization	in	January	2020,	the	
Financial	Institutions	Department	
created	a	business	model	based	
on	the	strategy	set	and	largely	
completed	the	identified	actions	
despite	the	unfavorable	conditions	
as	a	result	of	the	Covid-19.	

In	2020,	the	Bank	took	the	following	
key	steps:

•	 Became	a	member	of	Swift	in	
April	2020.

•	 Designed	a	corporate	
presentation	about	the	Bank	and	
shared	it	with	the	correspondent	
banks.



REVIEW OF OPERATIONS IN 2020 34 35GOLDEN GLOBAL BANK ANNUAL REPORT 2020

Nostro	accounts	in	currencies	such	as	USD, EUR, yuan, 
ruble, UAE dirham and GBP were activated with 10 banks 
from five countries.

set	and	AML	&	KYC	surveys	in	
coordination	with	the	Internal	
Control	and	Compliance	
Department.

•	 Appointed	a	process	agent	in	
the	USA.

•	 Activated	the	Bank’s	Bankers	
Almanac	profile	upon	
completion	of	the	membership	
process.

•	 Activated	nostro	accounts	in	
currencies	such	as	USD,	EUR,	
yuan,	ruble,	UAE	dirham	and	
GBP	with	10	banks	from	five	
different	countries.

•	 Opened	nostro	accounts	
and	established	financing	
relationships	with	11	banks	and	
then	allocated	limits	to	these	
banks	to	start	transaction	
flows.

•	 Executed	murabaha	
framework	agreements	with	
five	banks	for	use	in	treasury	
placements.

•	 Completed	related	contract	
negotiations	with	DDCAP	
London	and	its	integration	into	
the	banking	system	in	order	to	
perform	tawarruq	transactions	
globally.

•	 Contacted	more	than	300	
banks	from	63	different	
countries	via	face-to-face	
meetings,	phone	calls,	video	
conferencing,	e-mail	and	
Swift	channels	to	announce	
the	incorporation	of	the	Bank	
and	discuss	various	areas	for	
potential	collaboration.

•	 Held	face-to-face	meetings	
with	about	40	banks	in	from	
different	countries	despite	the	
pandemic	and	visited	more	
than	20	banks	in	Turkey	during	
fourth	quarter	of	2020.

•	 Completed	RMA	setup	with	43	
banks	from	16	countries.

•	 Prepared	the	Bank’s	
compliance	documentation	

•	 Developed	fee	lists	for	vostro	
accounts.

•	 Created	a	standardized	
murabaha	agreement	and	vostro	
account	agreement	for	the	Bank.

•	 Executed	a	risk-sharing	
framework	agreement	with	a	
bank	for	use	in	foreign	trade	
transactions.

In	2021,	Golden	Global	Bank	
plans	to	continue	its	efforts	to	
establish	the	necessary	systems	
infrastructure	in	terms	of	
correspondent	banking,	pursuant	
to	legal	and	regulatory	compliance.	
The	Bank	also	aims	to	open	new	
nostro/vostro	accounts;	diversify	
foreign	trade	products;	boost	the	
number	of	correspondents	with	
allocated	limits	in	foreign	trade	
financing	and	treasury	transactions;	
increase	the	number	of	banks	with	
completed	RMA	setups;	leverage	
ICIEC	and	Eximbank	export	credit	
insurance	products;	diversify	
funding	resources	of	the	Bank;	help	
develop	related	bank	policies	and	
systems	infrastructure	to	create	a	
reliable	and	trustworthy	image	for	
correspondent	financial	institutions	
in	the	area	of	legal	compliance.

Murabaha 
framework 
agreements were 
executed with five 
banks in order to 
be utilized for the 
treasury placements.

FOREIGN TRADE
Golden	Global	Bank	is	continuously	working	on	expanding	its	
correspondent	network,	boosting	the	number	of	banks	where	
the	Bank	has	correspondent	limits	and	RMA	setups,	broadening	
its	range	of	cash	and	non-cash	transactions,	diversifying 
services offered to existing customers and onboarding new 
customers.

Golden	Global	Bank	is	committed	to	
contributing	favorably	to	Turkey’s	
foreign	trade	deficits	and	attract	
more	external	funds	by	primarily	
intermediating	export	projects	and	
financing	transactions,	imports	
of	intermediate	goods	that	could	
potentially	support	exports	and	
transit	trade	transactions.	

The	Bank	develops	tailored	solutions	
for	its	customers	with	its	flexible	and	
quick	decision-making	mechanisms,	
robust	advanced	technology	
infrastructure	and	broad	network	
of	correspondent	banks.	During	the	
Bank’s	first	year	of	operation,	its	
customer	portfolio	mainly	performed	
free	money	transfer	facilities	and	
cash	import/export	transactions.	

Golden	Global	Bank	is	continuously	
working	on	expanding	its	
correspondent	network,	boosting	the	
number	of	banks	where	the	Bank	
has	correspondent	limits	and	RMA	
setups,	broadening	its	range	of	cash	
and	non-cash	facilities,	diversifying	
services	offered	to	existing	customers	
and	onboarding	new	customers.

In	2020,	Golden	Global	Bank	
recorded	incoming	money	transfers	
amounting	USD	51.7	million	and	
outgoing	money	transfers	in	total	of	
USD	7.19	million.

FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS
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INFORMATION TECHNOLOGIES AND 
INFORMATION SECURITY
Despite	being	newly	established,	Golden Global Bank has 
already completed its API integration, leaving many banks in 
the market behind.

Golden	Global	Bank’s	key	
objectives	in	information	
technology	include	high	
performance,	security,	efficiency	
and	product	diversity.	Based	on	its	
customers’	needs,	the	Bank	strives	
to	make	innovative	products	
available	to	its	customers	at	the	
right	time	and	in	a	secure	way	by	
using	its	advanced	technology	
infrastructure.	

Despite	being	newly	established,	
Golden	Global	Bank	has	already	
completed	its	API	integration,	
leaving	many	banks	in	the	market	
behind.	In	fact,	Golden	Global	Bank	
is	the	12th	bank	in	Turkey	that	is	
API	completed	for	open	banking	
applications	in	terms	of	internal	
systems	and	infrastructure.	

Prioritizing	technology	
investments,	the	Bank	activated	
the	Internet	branch	for	monitoring	
purposes	and	initiated	e-letter	of	
credit	services.	The	Internet	branch	
and	mobile	banking	services	are	
scheduled	to	be	fully	operational	
in	2021.

project	is	also	underway.	As	part	
of	this	effort,	the	Bank	plans	
to	offer	prepaid	cards,	virtual	
and	physical	POS	services	to	its	
customers	through	MasterCard	
and	Visa	by	the	end	of	first	
quarter	of	2021.	The	Bank	aims	to	
complete	Troy	Card	certification	
and	offer	its	customers	Troy	
Cards	in	the	coming	year.	

Other	key	projects	in	Information	
Technology	includes	the	following:	

• Third-party	business	
applications,	such	as	EFT,	Swift,	
KKB	and	Risk	Center,	were	
selected	and	integrated	with	
the	main	banking	platform.	

• Nearly	150	physical	and	
virtual	servers	were	installed,	
managed	and	updated.

• A	secure	infrastructure	was	
provided	to	allow	Bank	
employees	to	work	remotely	
(from	home)	during	the	
Covid-19	pandemic.	

• Wireless	internet	service	was	
provided	for	Bank	visitors	in	
accordance	with	Law	No.	5651.

• A	failsafe	communication	
systems	infrastructure	was	
established	at	Golden	Global	
Bank	using	state-of-the-art	
technologies	and	the	best	
products	in	the	industry.

• Main	banking,	database	
security	and	log	products	were	
installed	to	ensure	system	
security	and	perform	system	
monitoring.	

• Penetration	tests	were	
performed	in	accordance	with	
the	BRSA	Penetration	Tests	
Regulation.	

As	part	of	its	next-generation	
banking	approach,	Golden	Global	
Bank	sees	financial	technology	
companies	as	a	complementary	
part	of	the	financial	system	
and	develops	new	financial	
products	through	strong	fintech	
collaborations.	The	Bank	performs	
indepth	analyses	on	blockchain	
technologies	in	conjunction	with	
technology	firms.	Business	models	
that	comply	with	applicable	
banking	legislation	are	currently	
being	developed.

The	Bank	initiated	Mastercard	and	
Visa	certification	processes	to	keep	
track	of	up	to	date	developments	
in	the	payment	systems	arena.	
Golden	Global	Bank	aims	to	play	
a	key	role	in	the	payment	systems	
segment	via	collaborations	with	
fintechs.	

MasterCard	VPOS,	one	of	the	virtual	
POS	services,	is	scheduled	to	go	
live	at	the	Bank	by	February	2021.	
In	the	second	phase,	Golden	Global	
Bank	plans	to	offer	physical	POS	
devices	to	its	customers	by	end-
March.	The	prepaid	card	services	

• Agreements	were	executed	
with	all	business	partners	and	
suppliers	pursuant	to	BRSA	
regulations.

• The	Disaster	Recovery	Center	
and	Business	Continuity	
Center	tests	were	successfully	
performed	during	the	year.

• Policies	and	implementation	
instructions	detailing	Golden	
Global	Bank’s	information	
technologies	processes	and	
standards	were	drawn	up	in	
accordance	with	the	COBIT	
framework	and	applicable	
BRSA	regulations.	

• Information	Security,	
Information	Systems	Strategy,	
Information	Systems	Steering	
and	Information	Systems	
Continuity	Committees	were	
established	to	oversee	matters	
related	to	management	
and	security	of	information	
technologies.	The	committees	

Golden Global Bank 
develops new and 
innovative financial 
tools with its strong 
collaborations.

carried	out	necessary	activities	
by	holding	meetings.	

• The	Bank’s	2021-2024	
Information	Systems	Strategy	
Plan	was	drawn	up.

• A	project	management	
process	was	created	according	
to	international	project	
management	standards.

In	2021,	Golden	Global	Bank	
plans	to	conduct	an	analysis	
and	planning	program	to	ensure	
that	main	banking	software	
development	and	maintenance/
support	processes	can	be	
performed	by	the	Bank’s	internal	
IT	staff	pursuant	to	the	Information	
Technology	strategy.	For	this	
purpose,	the	Bank	aims	to	establish	
an	R&D	team	at	Teknopark.	In	the	
coming	year,	the	Bank	also	plans	
to	start	receiving	professional	call	
center	services	to	support	card,	
POS	and	Internet/mobile	branch	
applications.
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BANKING OPERATIONS
In 2020, Golden Global Bank completed systems integrations 
to fully meet customer needs	in	accordance	with	the	
instructions	and	guidelines	of	regulatory	authorities.

As	part	of	this	process,	the	Bank	
performed	the	following	activities	
during	the	year:

• Internal	systems	integration	
was	completed	with	the	Identity	
Information	Sharing	System	
(IISS),	which	is	used	to	retrieve	
customer	identity	and	address	
details	during	the	customer	
identification	process.

• Internal	systems	integration	with	
CBRT	was	completed	to	ensure	
that	customer	RPS	(Retail	
Payment	System)	transactions	
can	be	performed	and	money	
transfers	can	be	executed	
seamlessly.

• Cash	management	system	
(CMS)	integration	was	
completed	to	enable	CBRT	
group	transfer	transactions.

• Registered	Electronic	Mail	
(REM)	and	National	Electronic	
Notification	System	(NENS)	
integrations	were	completed	
to	establish	a	systems	
infrastructure	capable	of	

As	Turkey’s	first	and	only	interest-
free	investment	bank,	Golden	
Global	Bank	is	committed	to	
adding	value	to	the	national	
economy	and	deepening	the	
financial	markets	with	products	
tailored	to	meet	its	customers’	
needs	in	accordance	with	legal	
and	regulatory	requirements.	The	
Bank	also	aims	to	continuously	
improve	the	quality	of	its	services	
and	respond	quickly	to	market	
needs. 

Golden	Global	Bank	strives	to	
meet	its	customers’	needs	and	
demands	in	a	fast,	appropriate	
and	complete	way	in	compliance	
with	applicable	laws,	rules	and	
regulations	and	the	Bank’s	
internal	regulations.	Toward	this	
objective,	the	Banking	Operations	
Department	provides	the	
following	services:	

responding	to	information	
and	inquiry	requests	of	public	
institutions	and	organizations.

• After	completing	Savings	
Deposit	Insurance	Fund	
and	the	Republic	of	Turkey	
Ministry	of	Customs	and	Trade	
e-attachment	integrations,	a	
system	was	established	that	
is	capable	of	receiving	and	
replying	to	e-attachment	
packages.

• With	the	Bank’s	e-letter	of	
credit	program,	a	structure	was	
built	that	is	capable	of	issuing	
e-letters	of	credit	to	customs	
offices,	Eximbank	and	private	
companies.

• After	completing	MKS	
integration,	Bank	customers	
are	able	to	access	capital	
market	products.

• Internet	banking	was	made	
available	to	customers	with	
monitoring	and	reporting	
options.

• Customer	identification/
account	opening	processes

• Counter	transactions
• Alternative	distribution	channel	
(ADC)	processes

• Money/precious	metal	
transfers

• Sukuk	firm	purchase/sale	and	
buy-sell	back	transactions

• Fund	extension	transactions
• Letter	of	credit	transactions
• E-letter	of	credit	transactions
• Official	correspondence,	
e-attachment	transactions

• CBRT	group	purchases/group	
submissions,	Borsa	Istanbul	
physical	gold	transactions

In	2020,	Golden	Global	Bank	
adapted	its	main	banking	
system	according	to	interest-free	
investment	banking	practices	
and	relevant	legislation.	Upon	
receiving	official	authorization,	
the	Bank	completed	systems	
integrations	to	fully	meet	
customer	needs	in	accordance	
with	the	instructions	and	
guidelines	of	regulatory	
authorities.

• By	establishing	a	Disaster	Recovery	
Center	(DRC)	and	a	comprehensive	
home-office	infrastructure,	the	
Bank	is	capable	of	meeting	its	
customers’	needs	completely	and	
securely	at	all	times.

Activities	planned	for	2021	include	
the	following:

• Commissioning	the	Head	Office	
Additional	Service	Building

• Intermediating	leasing	
transactions

• Performing	API	integrations	with	
payment	institutions

• Making	transaction	and	
application	menus	available	in	the	
Internet	branch

• Introducing	POS	and	pre-paid	
card/credit	card	products

• Intermediating	check	and	bill	
swap	transactions

• Performing	integration	with	the	
FAST	(Instant	and	Continuous	
Transfer	of	Funds)	system

• Conducting	GTS	(Gold	Transfer	
System)	integration

By establishing a 
Disaster Recovery 
Center (DRC) and 
a comprehensive 
home-office 
infrastructure, the 
Bank is capable 
of meeting its 
customers’ needs 
completely and 
securely at all times.
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INTERNAL SYSTEMS
The Internal Systems Department supervise the 
effectiveness, adequacy and compliance of Golden 
Global Bank’s internal systems under	the	leadership	 
of	the	Audit	Committee.

At	Golden	Global	Bank,	the	
Internal	Systems	Department	
reports	to	the	Audit	Committee,	
which	consists	of	members	of	the	
Board	of	Directors.	The	Bank’s	
Internal	Systems	Department	is	
comprised	of	the	Internal	Audit	
Department,	Internal	Control	and	
Compliance	Department	and	the	
Risk	Management	Department.	

The	Internal	Systems	Department,	
under	the	leadership	of	the	
Audit	Committee,	supervises	
the	effectiveness	and	adequacy	
of	the	Bank’s	internal	systems,	
operation	of	these	systems	along	
with	the	accounting	and	financial	
reporting	systems	and	the	
integrity	of	the	data	generated	in	
accordance	with	applicable	laws,	
rules	and	regulations.	

The	Bank’s	Internal	Systems	
Department	is	responsible	for	the	
following	activities:
•	 Conducting	necessary	pre-
evaluations	related	to	selection	
of	independent	audit	firms	
and	support	services	providers	
by	the	Board	of	Directors	
according	to	the	instructions	of	
the	Audit	Committee;	

•	 Monitoring	the	activities	of	
organizations	selected	and	
contracted	by	the	Board	of	
Directors	on	a	regular	basis	
and	reporting	its	findings	to	the	
Audit	Committee;	

•	 Carrying	out	the	Compliance	
Program	created	pursuant	
to	the	Regulation	on	
Program	of	Compliance	
with	Obligations	Regarding	
Anti-Money	Laundering	and	
Combating	the	Financing	of	
Terrorism	published	on	the	
implementation	of	the	Law	
on	Prevention	of	Laundering	
Proceeds	of	Crime	and	fulfilling,	
under	the	leadership	of	the	
Audit	Committee,	the	related	
duties	and	responsibilities	

set	out	in	the	legislation	via	
the	Internal	Control	and	
Compliance	Department	
Manager,	who	is	appointed	as	
the	MASAK	Compliance	Officer	
by	the	Board	of	Directors;	

•	 Monitoring	compliance	with	the	
provisions	related	to	internal	
control,	internal	audit	and	risk	
management	set	out	in	the	
Regulation	on	Internal	Systems	
and	the	Internal	Capital	
Adequacy	Assessment	Process	
of	Banks	as	well	as	compliance	
with	the	Bank’s	internal	
regulation	and	implementation	
instructions	approved	by	
the	Board	of	Directors	
and	reporting	to	the	Audit	
Committee	on	any	measures	
that	need	to	be	taken	thereof;

•	 Checking	whether	the	
Internal	Control	System,	Risk	
Management	System	and	
Internal	Audit	Systems	cover	
the	Bank’s	current	and	planned	
activities	and	risks	associated	
with	such	activities,	whether	
necessary	control	mechanisms	
are	in	place	and	whether	such	

activities	are	carried	out	in	an	
appropriate	manner;	

•	 Evaluating	the	rating	agencies,	
independent	audit	firms	
including	those	that	perform	
information	systems	audits	and	
valuation	firms	that	the	Bank	
is	considering	contracting	with;	
assessing	the	independence	
of	these	companies’	chairmen	
and	board	of	directors	
members,	auditors,	executives	
and	employees	with	respect	to	
their	activities	related	to	Golden	
Global	Bank;	and	evaluating	
the	adequacy	of	the	resources	
assigned	to	these	activities;	
presenting	its	assessments	in	a	
report	to	the	Audit	Committee;	
and	repeating	these	
procedures	regularly	during	the	
term	of	the	contract	if	the	Bank	
resolves	to	procure	service	
from	these	companies;

•	 Reporting	to	the	Audit	
Committee	on	measures	that	
need	to	be	taken	and	practices	
that	need	to	be	implemented	
by	the	Bank	as	well	as	other	

matters	evaluated,	checked	
and	audited	to	ensure	that	
the	Bank	can	continue	its	
operations	safely	and	securely	
and	generating	a	report	that	
includes	opinions	on	other	
matters	of	significance;

•	 Reporting	to	the	Audit	
Committee	on	measures	that	
need	to	be	taken	to	review,	
resolve	and	prevent	recurrence	
of	significant	complaints	
received	by	the	Bank,	resolving	
such	matters	and	taking	
measures	to	prevent	their	
recurrence.

Golden	Global	Bank’s	Internal	
Systems	Department	aims	to	
improve	the	effectiveness	of	
the	Bank’s	Risk	Management,	
Internal	Control	and	Internal	Audit	
Systems	in	accordance	with	legal	
and	regulatory	requirements	
via	effective	interdepartmental	
communications	and	under	the	
active	supervision	of	the	Audit	
Committee.

Future Risks Associated with 
Sales, Efficiency, Income 
Generation Capacity, 
Profitability, Debt-to-Equity 
Ratio and Other Similar Matters
The	Board	of	Directors	is	
responsible	for	establishing,	
conducting	regular	reviews	
on	and	making	the	necessary	
changes	to,	the	basic	approach	
to	risk,	risk	policies	and	principles,	
strategies	and	risk-taking	levels.	
It	conducts	regular	monitoring	
of	future	risks	associated	with	
income	generation	capacity,	
efficiency,	profitability,	debt-to-
equity	ratio	and	other	similar	
matters.
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HUMAN RESOURCES
In line with its strategic objectives and corporate values, 
Golden	Global	Bank	is	committed	to	employing	well	trained	
and	experienced	professionals	who	have	high	potential,	with	
a	strong	sense	of	duty	and	responsibility	and	are	capable	of	
working	in	a	profit-driven	and	customer-oriented	manner.

In	line	with	its	strategic	objectives	
and	corporate	values,	Golden	
Global	Bank	is	committed	to	
employing	well	trained	and	
experienced	professionals	who	are	
high	potential,	with	a	strong	sense	
of	duty,	team	work	approach	and	
responsibility	and	are	capable	
of	working	in	a	profit-driven	
and	customer-oriented	manner.	
The	Bank	aims	to	build	a	high-
performing	workforce	that	can	
achieve	its	objective	of	becoming	
a	pioneering	investment	bank	
that	operates	according	to	the	
principles	of	interest-free	banking.

In	2020,	Golden	Global	Bank	
dedicated	its	efforts	to	hire	and	
grow	a	team	of	professionals	who	
work	together	in	a	harmonious	
way.	In	addition	to	experienced	
bankers,	the	Bank	recruited	new	
graduates	from	leading	Turkish	
and	foreign	universities.	As	of	
December	31st,	2020,	the	Bank	
had	24	employees.	Eight	Bank	
employees	hold	an	MBA,	while	16	
have	a	bachelor’s	degree.	

Golden	Global	Bank	encourages	
its	employees	to	attend	training	
programs	to	gain	a	broader	
perspective	and	enhance	their	
skills	and	knowledge	in	their	
respective	areas	of	expertise.	
The	Bank	aims	to	develop	highly	
engaged,	young	and	dynamic	
next-generation	bankers	
with	foreign	language	skills.	
Golden	Global	Bank	actively	
recruits	young	bankers	and	
persuades	them	to	develop	
their	skills	and	knowledge	in	
different	departments	within	the	
organization.	Consequently,	the	
Bank	plans	to	provide	its	staff	
with	training	programs	both	in	
Turkey	and	abroad.

This	year,	Golden	Global	Bank	
was	unable	to	conduct	its	
planned	training	programs	due	
to	the	Covid-19	pandemic.	In	
2021,	the	Bank	plans	to	provide	
training	on	key	topics	and	
themes,	including	the	Power	
of	Communication,	Maps	of	
the	Mind,	Time	Management,	
Strategy,	Future	Thinking	and	

Planning	for	the	Business	
World.	In	addition,	employees	
will	receive	specialized	training	
on	their	respective	functions	
and	departments.	The	Bank	
encourages	its	employees	to	
be	proactive	and	deliberate	in	
planning	their	professional	and	
developmental	training.	

16

8

MASTER’S 
DEGREE

BACHELOR’S 
DEGREE

17

7

FEMALE MALE

Golden	Global	Bank	takes	into	
account	employee	experience,	
skill	level	and	knowledge	when	
determining	staff	wages	and	
other	compensation.	Private	
health	insurance	coverage	is	
provided	for	Bank	employees	
and	their	dependents.

Financial Rights Granted to 
the Members of the Board of 
Directors and Senior Managers
Financial	rights	totaling	TL	1,344	
thousand	were	provided	to	the	
Group’s	Senior	Management	in	
2020.

Details About Dividend 
Distribution Policy and If No 
Dividend Distribution Will 
Take Place, Reason for Not 
Distributing Dividends and 
Proposal on the Use of Non-
Distributed Profits
From	the	net	profit	of	TL	
9,591	thousand	achieved	
from	operations	in	2020,	no	
dividends	has	been	distributed	
to	shareholders	and	5%	of	
the	net	profit	will	be	retained	
and	allocated	as	“contingency	
reserves,”	while	the	remaining	
amount	will	be	tracked	under	
“accumulated	profit.”

Details About Social Benefits 
to Employees, Professional 
Training and Corporate 
Social Responsibility Activities 
Related to Company Activities 
Resulting in Other Social and 
Environmental Consequences
Employees	of	Golden	Global	
Yatırım	Bankası	are	provided	with	
private	health	insurance	(with	
coverage	for	family	members),	
transportation,	meal,	training	
programs	for	personal	and	
professional	development	and	
they	are	reimbursed	for	their	
communication	expenses.	We	
also	offer	part-time	jobs	for	senior	
students	from	universities	to	get	
them	prepared	for	their	business	
career.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR 
MANAGEMENT

career	at	Garanti	Bank	A.Ş.	
From	1998	until	2005,	he	served	
as	Portfolio	Manager	at	Koç	
Bank	A.Ş.	and	Branch	Manager	
at	Toprak	Bank	A.Ş.	and	Deniz	
Bank	A.Ş.,	respectively.	After	
retiring	from	the	banking	sector,	
Mr.	Kaba	worked	as	a	Financial	
Advisor	and	Project	Coordinator	
at	international	trade	companies	
for	about	15	years.	Recep	Kaba	
has	been	actively	involved	in	the	
establishment	of	Golden	Global	
Yatırım	Bankası	A.Ş.

Bedri Sayın
Board Member
Bedri	Sayın	was	born	in	Siirt	
in	1956	and	graduated	from	
Çukurova	University,	Faculty	of	
Economics	and	Administrative	
Sciences,	Department	of	Business	
Administration.	He	began	his	
professional	career	in	1974	as	a	
primary	school	teacher	at	the	
Ministry	of	National	Education.	In	
1983,	Mr.	Sayın	started	his	banking	
career	at	T.C.	Ziraat	Bankası	A.Ş.	
After	working	at	Ziraat	Bank	
for	five	years,	he	joined	Türkiye	
Finans	Katılım	Bankası	A.Ş.	where	
he	held	various	management	
positions	from	1988	until	1996;	Mr.	
Sayın	was	the	Deputy	General	
Manager	there	from	1996	to	
2014.	Subsequently,	he	served	
as	General	Manager	and	Board	
Member	at	Adabank	A.Ş.	between	
2014	and	2020.	Mr.	Sayın	has	
been	a	Board	Member	at	Golden	
Global	Yatırım	Bankası	A.Ş.	since	
early	2020.

Salih Berberoğlu
Board Member
Salih	Berberoğlu	was	born	in	
1968	in	Baf,	Southern	Cyprus.	
He	graduated	from	Macalester	
College	with	a	Bachelor’s	
degree	and	obtained	an	MBA	
in	Management	Sciences	from	
Purdue	University.	Mr.	Berberoğlu	

Mustafa Akın
Chairman of the Board of 
Directors
Mustafa	Akın	was	born	in	1963	
in	Erzincan	and	graduated	from	
Anadolu	University,	Faculty	of	
Economics	and	Administrative	
Sciences,	Department	of	
Economics.	Mr.	Akın	started	
his	professional	career	at	
Pamukbank	T.A.Ş.	in	1986.	During	
1994-2011,	he	assumed	the	Branch	
Manager	role	at	Pamukbank	
and	Halkbank	and	then	joined	
T.C.	Ziraat	Bankası	A.Ş.	in	2011	as	
Corporate	Loans	Group	President.	
Mr.	Akın	went	on	to	serve	as	
Corporate	Loans	and	Retail	
Loans	Group	President	at	Ziraat	
Bank	until	2015.	Subsequently,	he	
was	involved	in	the	establishment	
of	Ziraat	Participation	Bank	
as	Deputy	General	Manager.	
He	served	as	Deputy	General	
Manager	in	Supply	and	
Management	of	Loans	and	
then	Deputy	General	Manager	
in	Marketing	at	Ziraat	Katılım	
Bankası	A.Ş.	From	2011	to	2017,	 
Mr.	Akın	served	as	a	Board	
Member	at	Ziraat	Sigorta	A.Ş.,	
Türkiye	Ziraat	Halk	Vakfı	and	
overseas	subsidiaries	of	Ziraat	
Bank,	i.e.	Moscow	JSC	and	
Ziraatbank	Montenegro	AD	
banks.	Since	2018,	Mr.	Akın	has	
been	actively	engaged	in	the	
establishment	of	Golden	Global	
Yatırım	Bankası	A.Ş.

Recep Kaba
Deputy Chairman of the Board 
of Directors
Recep	Kaba	was	born	in	1959	
in	Samsun	and	began	his	
professional	career	in	1977	as	a	
primary	school	teacher	at	the	
Ministry	of	National	Education.	
He	went	on	to	work	for	the	
General	Directorate	of	State	
Hydraulic	Works.	In	1982,	Mr.	
Kaba	commenced	his	banking	

started	his	professional	career	in	
1994	at	İnter	Yatırım	A.Ş.	Between	
1998	and	2001,	he	served	as	
Manager	in	the	Corporate	Finance	
Department	at	Bayındır	Bank	
A.Ş.	and	then	Coordinator	in	the	
Finance	and	External	Affairs	
Department	at	Yaşar	Holding.	 
Mr.	Berberoğlu	went	on	to	join	HC	
İstanbul	Menkul	Değerler	A.Ş.	as	
Director	of	the	Corporate	Finance	
Department	where	he	worked	
from	2001	to	2004.	Subsequently,	
Mr.	Berberoğlu	served	as	Chief	
Operating	Officer	(COO)	at	Limak	
Holding	between	2004	and	2014.	
Since	2014,	he	has	provided	
financial	consultancy	services	
to	Turkish/foreign	companies	
and	served	as	coordinator	in	the	
merger	and	acquisition	projects	
of	many	multinationals.	Mr.	
Berberoğlu	was	actively	involved	
in	the	establishment	of	Golden	
Global	Yatırım	Bankası	A.Ş.

Özay Balta
Board Member – General 
Manager
Özay	Balta	was	born	in	1980	
in	Kahramanmaraş	and	
graduated	from	Galatasaray	
University,	Faculty	of	Economic	
and	Administrative	Sciences,	
Department	of	International	
Affairs.	He	started	his	professional	
career	as	Assistant	Auditor	at	
Halkbank	in	2004;	he	became	
Deputy	Head	of	the	Audit	
Committee	in	2009.	Subsequently,	
Mr.	Balta	served	as	Department	
Manager	at	Halkbank’s	Treasury	
Management	Middle	Office	and	
the	Commercial	Loans	Supply	
Directorate	from	2011	to	2012.	
He	worked	as	SME	&	Corporate	
Branch	Manager	at	Halkbank	
between	2012	and	2016.	Mr.	Balta	
was	actively	engaged	in	the	
establishment	of	Golden	Global	
Yatırım	Bankası	A.Ş.	as	Founding	
General	Manager.From left to right: Bedri	Sayın,	Mustafa	Akın,	Salih	Berberoğlu,	Recep	Kaba,	Özay	Balta



MANAGEMENT AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE46 47GOLDEN GLOBAL BANK ANNUAL REPORT 2020

COMMITTEES
Committee Name Members Title at the Bank Committee Role 

Corporate	Governance	
Committee

Bedri	Sayın Board	Member Chairman

Salih	Berberoğlu Board	Member Member

Remuneration	Committee
Recep	Kaba Board	Member Chairman

Bedri	Sayın Board	Member Member

Information	Systems	Strategy	
Committee

Bedri	Sayın Board	Member Chairman

Özay	Balta General	Manager Member

Murat	Tekbaş Group	President Member

Cemal	Gümüş Manager Member

Information	Systems	Steering	
Committee

Özay	Balta General	Manager Chairman

Murat	Tekbaş Group	President Member

Tolga	Çiçek Manager Member

Cemal	Gümüş Manager Member

Ömür	Gürsoy Manager Member

Assets	and	Liabilities	
Committee

Özay	Balta General	Manager Chairman

Murat	Tekbaş Group	President Member

Aslı	Peker Manager Member

Muharrem	Tütüncü Manager Member

Ömür	Gürsoy Manager Member

Information	Security	
Management	Committee

Özay	Balta General	Manager Chairman

Murat	Tekbaş Group	President Member

Tolga	Çiçek Manager Member

Muharrem	Tütüncü Manager Member

Business	Continuity	
Committee

Cemal	Gümüş Manager Member

Murat	Tekbaş Group	President President

Muharrem	Tütüncü Manager Member

Ömür	Gürsoy Manager Member

Aslı	Peker Manager Member

Information	Systems	
Continuity	Committee

Cemal	Gümüş Manager Member

Murat	Tekbaş Group	President President

Tolga	Çiçek Manager Member

Özkan	Bulut Officer Member

Tuğba	Özkan Manager Member

ADVISORY COMMITTEE

The	Communique	on	Compliance	
with	Principles	and	Standards	
of	Interest-Free	Banking	drawn	
up	by	the	Banking	Regulation	
and	Supervision	Agency	(BRSA)	
was	published	in	the	Official	
Gazette	dated	September	14th,	
2019	and	numbered	30888.	The	
communique	entered	into	force	
in	April	2020	upon	expiration	of	a	
six-month	transition	period.

This	communique	sets	out	the	
principles	and	procedures	for	
the	structures	and	processes	to	
be	established	by	participation	
banks	and	the	development	of	
investment	banks,	which	provide	
financing	to	their	customers	
in	accordance	with	article	19,	
paragraph	10	of	the	Regulation	
on	Credit	Transactions	of	
Banks	published	in	the	Official	
Gazette	dated	November	1st,	
2006	and	numbered	26333.	
The	communique	provides	a	
framework	for	these	institutions	
to	conduct	their	operations	in	
accordance	with	the	principles	
and	standards	of	interest-free	
banking.

Golden	Global	Bank,	operating	as	an	investment	bank	since	June	
1st,	2020,	has	decided,	as	stated	in	the	official	authorization	dated	
October	15th,	2019,	to	perform	all	of	its	banking	activities	according	to	
the	principles	and	standards	of	interest-free	banking.	The	Bank	has	
established	the	necessary	structures	and	processes	as	of	the	effective	
date	of	the	referenced	communique.

Pursuant	to	the	communique,	an	Advisory	Committee	Secretariat	and	an	
Advisory	Committee	consisting	of	a	chairman,	vice-chairman	and	one	
member	were	established	within	the	Bank	according	to	the	requirements	
set	out	in	the	communique.	This	committee	and	the	secretariat	will	
report	directly	to	the	Board	of	Directors.

Members Role

Orhan	Taştekil Advisory	Committee	Chairman

Cemal	Kalkan Advisory	Committee	Vice	Chairman

Yunus	Akyüz Advisory	Committee	Member

The	Advisory	Committee	held	12	meetings	in	total	during	the	last	six-
month	accounting	period	pursuant	to	the	principles	and	procedures	
of	operation	set	out	in	article	8	of	the	Communique.	The	Committee	
discussed	and	resolved	eight	subjects	in	total	pursuant	to	article	7	of	the	
Communique	regarding	its	duties	and	authorities.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Members
Committee 

Role

Other 
Committees 

Joined/Chaired

Professional 
Experience 

(Years)

Mustafa	Akın Member - 34

Bedri	Sayın Member

Corporate 
Governance,	

Remuneration,	
Information	

Systems 
Strategy	 37
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ORGANIZATIONAL CHART

Advisory 
Committee

BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS

Audit CommitteeGeneral Manager

Head of 
Operational 

Transactions Group

Internal	Control	
and	Compliance Risk	Management

Head of Financial 
Coordination and 

IT Group
Internal	Audit

Treasury	and	
Financial	
Institutions

Product	and	
Customer 

Management

Fund	Collection	
and	Management

Banking	
Operations

Financial	
Coordination	and	

HR

Foreign	Trade	
Operations

IT	Management	
and	Security

Treasury	
Operations
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INFORMATION ON THE BANK’S BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS

BANK COMMITTEES AND PARTICIPATION OF 
COMMITTEES IN MEETINGS

Members Board Role
Appointment 

Date
Educational 
Background

Professional 
Experience 
in Banking 

and Business 
Administration 

(Years)

Mustafa	Akın
Chairman/Audit	

Committee	Member 11.05.2019 Bachelor’s	Degree 34

Recep	Kaba Vice	Chairman 11.05.2019 High	School	Diploma 23

Salih	Berberoğlu Member 11.05.2019 Master’s	Degree 17

Bedri	Sayın(*)
Member/Audit	

Committee	Member 11.05.2019 Bachelor’s	Degree 37

Özay	Balta(*)
Member/General	

Manager 11.05.2019 Bachelor’s	Degree 15

Zeynep	Aslı	Peker
Deputy General 

Manager 19.11.20199 Bachelor’s	Degree 22

(*)	The	persons	marked	with	this	symbol	above	do	not	hold	any	shares	in	the	Bank.
 

Committees Number of Meetings

Board	of	Directors 36

Audit	Committee 8

Corporate	Governance	Committee 1

Remuneration	Committee 1

Business	Continuity	Committee 1

Assets	and	Liabilities	Committee Weekly

Information	Systems	Strategy	Committee 1

Information	Systems	Steering	Committee 2

Information	Security	Management	Committee 2

Information	Systems	Continuity	Committee 1

Board of Directors
The	Board	of	Directors	held	 
36	meetings	in	2020.

Audit Committee
The	Audit	Committee	held	 
8	meetings	in	2020.

Corporate Governance 
Committee
The	Corporate	Governance	
Committee	held	1	meeting	 
in	2020.

Remuneration Committee
The	Remuneration	Committee	
held	1	meeting	in	2020.

Business Continuity Committee
The	Business	Continuity	
Committee	held	1	meeting	in	
2020.

Assets and Liabilities 
Committee
The	Assets	and	Liabilities	
Committee	held	weekly	meetings	
in	2020.

Information Systems Strategy 
Committee
The	Information	Systems	
Strategy	Committee	held	 
1	meeting	in	2020.

Information Systems Steering 
Committee
The	Information	Systems	Steering	
Committee	held	2	meetings	 
in	2020.

Information Security 
Management Committee
The	Information	Security	
Management	Committee	held	 
2	meetings	in	2020.

Information Systems Continuity 
Committee
The	Information	Systems	
Continuity	Committee	held	 
1	meeting	in	2020.
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SUMMARY OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ 
REPORT

TRANSACTIONS MADE WITH THE RISK 
GROUP IN WHICH THE BANK IS INVOLVEDAMENDMENTS TO THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

INFORMATION ON THE POSITIONS HELD BY 
THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
AND MANAGERS OUTSIDE OF THE COMPANY

No	changes	have	been	made	in	the	Articles	of	Association	in	2020.

The	Board	Members	and	the	Bank	managers	do	not	hold	any	positions	outside	the	Bank.

Participations, 
Subsidiaries and Jointly 
Controlled Entities Joint 

Ventures)
Bank’s Direct and 

Indirect Shareholders
Other Real and Legal 

Persons in the Risk Group

Funds Received from 
Shareholders

Current 
Period

Previous 
Period

Current 
Period

Previous 
Period

Current 
Period

Previous 
Period

0 0 23,713 0 0 0

INFORMATION ON SUPPORT SERVICE 
PROVIDERS
Title of the Organization from which Support Service  
is Provided

Field of Activity 
for which Support 

Service is Provided Explanation

Architecht	Bilişim	Sistemleri	ve	Pazarlama	Ticaret	A.Ş.	 Information	systems
Information	systems	

management

İŞ	Net	Elektronik	Bilgi	Üretim	Dağıtım	Ticaret	ve	İletişim	
Hizmetleri	A.Ş.	 Information	systems

Information	systems	
and	infrastructure	

support

Ekol	Grup	Koruma	Güvenlik	Eğitim	Hizmetleri	Limited	Şirketi	 Security	

Ensuring	branch	
security	within	the	

scope	of	Law	No.	5188

Paycore	Ödeme	Hizmetleri	ve	Takas	Mutabakat	Sistemleri	A.Ş. Operational	systems
POS	Operations,	POS	
maintenance/repair

Fineksus	Bilişim	Çözümleri	Ticaret	A.Ş.	 Information	systems
Information	systems	
management,	Swift

Esteemed	Shareholders,

In	2020,	we	all	together	witnessed	
the	effects	of	the	Covid-19	
pandemic	that	spread	all	over	the	
world.

We	observe	that	the	global	
economy	has	started	to	recover	
again	as	a	result	of	the	economic	
measures	and	incentives	taken	by	
the	countries	during	this	period,	
in	which	social	life	and	the	global	
economy	have	been	highly	
affected.

In	terms	of	the	banking	sector,	a	
total	balance	sheet	growth	of	35%	
was	achieved	and	TL	6	trillion	was	
exceeded	in	2020.

Despite	the	negative	effects	of	the	
Covid-19	pandemic,	Golden	Global	
Bank	started	its	operations	in	2020	
and	had	a	successful	year	with	the	
dedication	of	its	employees	and	
the	courtesy	of	its	stakeholders.	

Our	various	legal	and	
administrative	integration	and	
licensing	processes,	especially	
the	CBRT	EFT	system,	BIST	Debt	
Securities	Market,	Precious	Metals	
Market,	were	completed	during	
this	period.

Golden	Global	Bank	has	become	
the	12th	bank	in	Turkey	that	can	
offer	API	services	compatible	
with	open	banking	by	prioritizing	
technological	developments	
with	its	new	generation	banking	
approach.

It	increased	its	asset	size	by	49%	
to	TL	219	million	and	despite	the	
investment	expenses,	it	closed	its	
first	year	with	a	profit	of	TL	10	million.

During	2020	Golden	Global	Bank	
extended	financial	support	to	
the	real	sector	in	the	amount	of	
approximately	TL	522	million,	
furthermore	the	bank	has	
intermediated	foreign	trade	
amounting	to	approximately	USD	60	
million	from	different	countries	with	
its	wide	correspondent	networks.

Golden	Global	Bank	will	continue	to	
develop	its	correspondent	network	
in	different	countries,	increase	its	
foreign	trade	volume,	support	the	
real	sector	with	interest-free	banking	
tools,	focus	on	collaborating	with	
fintechs	and	develop	new	generation	
banking	applications.
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ANNUAL REPORT COMPLIANCE OPINION

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
ON THE ANNUAL REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

To	the	Shareholders	of	Golden	Global	Yatırım	Bankası	A.Ş.

1) Opinion
As	we	have	audited	the	full	set	consolidated	financial	statements	of	Golden	Global	Yatırım	Bankası	A.Ş.	(“the	
Bank”)	and	its	subsidiaries	(“the	Group”)	for	the	period	between	01/01/2020–31/12/2020,	we	have	also	audited	
the	annual	report	for	the	same	period.

In	our	opinion,	the	financial	information	provided	in	the	Management’s	annual	report	and	the	Management’s	
discussions	on	the	Bank’s	financial	performance,	are	fairly	presented	in	all	material	respects,	and	are	consistent	
with	the	full	set	audited	financial	statements	and	the	information	obtained	from	our	audit.

2) Basis for Opinion
We	conducted	our	audit	in	accordance	with	the	regulation	on	“Independent	Auditing	of	Banks”	published	
in	the	Official	Gazette	dated	April	2,	2015	with	No.	29314	and	the	Standards	on	Independent	Auditing	(“SIA”)	
which	is	a	part	of	Turkish	Auditing	Standards	published	by	the	Public	Oversight	Accounting	and	Auditing	
Standards	Authority	(“POA”).	Our	responsibility	is	disclosed	under	Responsibilities	of	the	Independent	Auditor	
on	the	Independent	Audit	of	the	Annual	Report	in	detail.	We	declare	that	we	are	independent	from	the	Bank	
in	accordance	with	the	Code	of	Ethics	for	Independent	Auditors	(“Code	of	Ethics”)	issued	by	POA	and	ethical	
provisions	stated	in	the	regulation	of	audit.	We	have	also	fulfilled	our	other	responsibilities	regarding	ethics	
as	part	of	the	Ethical	Rules	and	the	relevant	legislation.	We	believe	that	the	independent	audit	evidence	we	
obtained	during	the	independent	audit	process	constitutes	a	sufficient	and	appropriate	basis	for	our	opinion.

3) Auditor’s Opinion on Complete Set of Financial Statements
We	have	presented	unqualified	opinion	for	the	Bank’s	full	set	financial	statements	for	the	period	between	
01/01/2020–31/12/2020	in	our	Auditor’s	Report	dated	March	30,	2021.

4) Management’s Responsibility for the Annual Report
The	Bank	Management	is	responsible	for	the	following	in	accordance	with	Article	514	and	516	of	the	Turkish	
Commercial	Code	No.	6102	(“TCC”)	and	the	regulation	on	“Preparing	and	Publishing	the	Annual	Report	by	Banks”	
published	in	the	Official	Gazette	dated	1	November	2006	and	No.	26333	(“the	Communiqué”):

a)	Preparing	the	annual	report	within	the	first	three	months	following	the	balance	sheet	date	and	present	it	to	the	
general	assembly;	

b)	Preparing	the	annual	report	in	a	way	to	reflect	the	Bank’s	activities	throughout	the	year	and	its	financial	position	
in	all	aspects,	accurately,	completely,	straightforwardly,	truthfully	and	honestly.	In	this	report	financial	position	
is	assessed	in	accordance	with	the	financial	statements.	Additionally,	the	report	clearly	points	out	to	the	Bank’s	
development,	and	the	potential	risks	that	may	be	faced.	The	assessment	of	the	board	of	directors	on	these	
matters	is	included	in	the	report.	

c)	Including	the	matters	below	in	the	annual	report:	
-	 Major	developments	at	the	Bank	that	transpired	after	the	end	of	the	reporting	year	that	are	of	particular	
significance,	

-	 The	Bank’s	research	and	development	activities,	
-	 Financial	benefits	such	as	wages,	premiums	and	bonuses	paid	to	board	members	and	key	management	
personnel,	appropriations,	travel,	accommodation	and	representation	expenses,	benefits	in	cash	and	kind,	
insurance	and	similar	guarantees.

The	Board	of	Directors	also	complies	with	the	secondary	regulations	set	forth	by	the	Banking	Regulation	and	
Supervision	Agency,	the	Ministry	of	Trade,	and	the	other	related	authorities	when	preparing	the	annual	report.

5) Independent Auditor’s Responsibility Regarding the Independent Audit of the Annual Report

Pursuant	to	the	provisions	of	the	Turkish	Commercial	Code	and	the	Regulation,	our	purpose	is	to	present	an	opinion	on	
whether	the	financial	information	in	the	Board	of	Director’s	Annual	Report,	and	the	assessments	made	by	the	Board	of	
Directors	on	the	Bank’s	situation	are	consistent	with	the	audited	financial	statements	and	the	findings	we	have	come	
across	during	our	independent	audit,	and	whether	they	reflect	the	facts;	and	issue	a	report	conveying	this	opinion.

The	independent	audit	that	we	have	performed	was	done	within	the	framework	of	the	397th	Article	of	the	Turkish	
Commercial	Code	and	the	“Regulation	on	Independent	Audit	of	the	Banks”	published	in	the	Official	Gazette	No.	29314	
dated	April	2,	2015	and	in	conformity	with	the	Independent	Audit	Standards	(“BDS”).	Those	standards	require	that	we	
comply	with	ethical	requirements	and	plan	and	perform	the	audit	to	obtain	reasonable	assurance	about	whether	the	
Management’s	discussions	on	the	Bank’s	financial	performance,	are	fairly	presented	in	all	material	respects,	and	are	
consistent	with	the	full	set	audited	financial	statements	and	the	information	obtained	from	our	audit

The	name	of	the	engagement	partner	who	supervised	and	concluded	this	audit	is	Erdem	Taş.

DRT	BAĞIMSIZ	DENETİM	VE	SERBEST	MUHASEBECİ	MALİ	MÜŞAVİRLİK	A.Ş.
Member	of	DELOITTE	TOUCHE	TOHMATSU	LIMITED

Erdem	Taş,	SMMM
Partner

Istanbul,	March	30,	2021
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ASSESSMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION, 
PROFITABILITY AND DEBT CAPACITY

TL Thousand 2020

Dividend	Income	 6,942

Dividend	Expenses	(-)	 257

Net	Fees	and	Commission	Income/Expense	 817

Other	Incomes	 26,898

Other	Expenses	 23,207

Provision	for	Taxes	 1,602

Net	Profit	for	the	Period	 9,591

Total	Assets	 219,456

Total	Shareholders'	Equity	 154,998

Capital	Adequacy	Ratio	 139.46%

Golden	Global	Bank	increased	its	assets	by	49%	to	TL	219	million	and	shareholders’	equity	by	6.6%	to	TL	155	
million.	The	Bank’s	capital	adequacy	ratio	reached	above	the	legal	requirement	at	139%.	The	Bank	continues	
to	increase	its	profit	by	ensuring	the	effective	and	productive	usage	of	the	resources.	Information	on	the	
financial	position,	profitability	and	debt	payment	capability	is	presented	in	the	sections	of	financial	tables	and	
auditor’s	report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND COMPLIANCE, INTERNAL 
AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT OPERATIONS
Internal Control and 
Compliance
The	Internal	Control	and	
Compliance	Department,	which	
directly	reports	to	the	Audit	
Committee,	is	structured	to	keep	
all	financial	and	operational	risks	
under	control	at	a	sustainable	
and	reasonable	level	in	order	to	
ensure	the	following:	the	Bank’s	
assets	are	protected;	the	Bank’s	
operations	are	carried	out	in	
accordance	with	the	legislation	
and	regulations	and	the	Bank’s	
internal	legislation,	internal	
policies,	strategies	and	objectives;	
all	accounts	and	records	are	kept	
in	an	accurate	and	safe	manner	
and	the	financial	reporting	
system	is	safe.	

The	Internal	Control	and	
Compliance	Department	carries	
out	inspections	and	controls	
focusing	on	risks	and	processes	
associated	with	the	Bank’s	
operations;	reviews,	monitors	
and	evaluates	the	compliance,	
adequacy	and	effectiveness	
of	the	controls	and	reports	the	
results	to	related	recipients.	
Separation	of	transactional	
duties,	transaction	approval	
authorities	and	limits,	system	
controls,	post-transaction	controls	
and	other	transaction-specific	

controls	allow	the	operations	and	
transactions	to	be	continuously	
performed	in	an	effective,	
accurate,	regular	and	safe	
manner.	In	addition,	Information	
Technology	controls	are	carried	
out	as	a	part	of	and	following	the	
process	implementation	controls.	

As	part	of	the	internal	control	
work	plan	for	the	year	2020,	
risk-control	self-assessments	
related	to	the	design	of	the	
internal	control	system	were	
conducted	in	the	form	of	
workshops	with	the	participation	
of	process/department	
managers	and	they	covered	
all	banking	and	Information	
Technology	processes.	Efforts	
were	made	to	ensure	compliance	
of	new	products	and	services,	
compliance	of	support	services	
and	compliance	with	interest-
free	banking	principles.	The	
Bank’s	procedures	and	their	
compliance	with	the	legislation	
as	well	as	its	other	transactions	
were	reviewed	through	sampling	
method	and	with	onsite	controls,	
the	transactions	were	checked	to	
determine	whether	they	complied	
with	the	legislation	and	the	Bank’s	
internal	legislation.	Findings,	
opinions	and	recommendations	
were	first	shared	with	the	

business	owners	that	were	
responsible	for	performing	the	
related	operations,	based	on	the	
risks	presented	and	the	severity	
of	the	findings	and	based	on	
whether	corrective/preventive	
actions	were	taken.	After	mutual	
evaluations	were	done,	they	were	
reported	to	senior	management	
and	the	Audit	Committee.	

The	Internal	Control	and	
Compliance	Department	
Manager	was	also	appointed	as	
the	MASAK	Compliance	Officer	in	
order	to	ensure	compliance	with	
the	regulations	introduced	by	
MASAK	and	to	take	the	necessary	
actions	for	this	purpose.	

The	Bank	developed	a	
compliance	policy	and	customer	
acceptance	processes	according	
to	international	best	practices	
and	MASAK	regulations.	This	
policy	and	the	processes	are	
reviewed	every	year	and	updated	
as	necessary.	A	scenario-based	
software/program	is	used	to	
detect	suspicious	transactions,	
while	third-party	software	is	used	
to	perform	scans	against	national	
and	international	lists	of	restricted	
persons	during	the	identification	
of	customers	and	money	transfer	
transactions.	
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Internal Audit
In	line	with	Golden	Global	Bank’s	
strategy	and	objectives,	the	
Internal	Audit	Department	makes	
audit	planning	by	prioritizing	and	
addressing,	without	any	limitation,	
all	organizations,	business	areas,	
processes,	practices	and	systems	
of	the	Bank	through	a	risk-
oriented	audit	approach	under	the	
leadership	of	the	Audit	Committee.	
As	part	of	audit	planning,	risk	
rating	and	prioritization	processes	
are	performed	with	the	respective	
responsible	management	staff	
through	a	shared	intelligence	
approach,	according	to	the	
methods	based	on	internationally	
accepted	standards	and	
frameworks.	

Priorities,	frequencies	and	
scope	of	audits	are	determined	
in	a	manner	that	ensures	the	
Bank	can	achieve	its	objectives	
and	strategies	in	the	best	and	
most	secure	way	possible.	
Golden	Global	Bank’s	Internal	
Audit	Department	strives	to	
minimize	risks	and	make	them	
independent	of	“persons”	by	
adopting	a	modern	auditing	
approach,	continuously	raising	
the	maturity	level	of	businesses	
and	processes	and	systematizing	
the	risks	at	the	highest	level	
possible.	

Objectives	and	know-how	of	
business	process	owners	are	
combined	with	the	risk	and	
control	awareness	of	the	audit	
department	through	a	shared	
intelligence	methodology	to	
harness	the	combined	power;	
business	process	owners	
are	involved	in	risk-oriented	
audit	planning;	audits	that	are	
carried	out	with	the	contribution	
of	effective	communication	
established	with	business	owners	
minimize	the	risks	to	achieving	
business	objectives	and	errors	
and	deficits	detected	during	
audits	are	quickly	resolved	by	
taking	appropriate	actions.	

In	this	context,	in	2020,	
consultancy	services	were	
provided	in	the	process	of	
designing	the	newly	established	
bank’s	control	system	
and	creating	an	auditable	
environment	and	a	control	
system	was	created.	An	action	
plan	was	developed	for	the	
errors	and	deficits	detected	as	
a	result	of	these	consultancy	
services	and	implementation	
of	the	corrective	actions	was	
monitored.	Audit	planning	was	
made	with	the	participation	of	the	
senior	management	according	
to	internationally	accepted	

standards	and	frameworks.	All	
banking	processes	were	included	
in	the	scope	of	the	audit	to	the	
largest	extent	possible	and	the	
audit	was	performed.	Again,	
based	on	the	same	approach,	
28	out	of	34	information	systems	
were	reviewed	during	the	audit.	
An	action	plan	is	developed	
for	the	detected	deficits	and	
implementation	of	the	actions	is	
monitored.

Risk Management
The	Risk	Management	
Department’s	basic	functions	
include	identifying,	measuring	
and	managing	risks	according	to	
the	legislation	and	regulations.

Established	within	the	accounting	
period,	the	Bank	developed	the	
following	regulations,	instructions	
and	procedures;

•	 IT	Risk	Management	
Implementation	Instructions,

•	 Risk	and	Opportunity	
Assessment	Procedure,

•	 Regulation	on	Dividend	Ratio	
Risk	Arising	from	Banking	
Accounts,

•	 Regulation	on	Management	of	
Information	Systems	Risks,

•	 Regulation	on	Management	of	
Support	Services	Risks,

INTERNAL CONTROL AND COMPLIANCE, INTERNAL  
AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT OPERATIONS

•	 Regulation	on	Management	of	
Financing	Risks,

•	 Regulation	on	Liquidity	Risk	
and	Management	of	Liquidity	
and	Financial	Emergencies,

•	 Regulation	on	Management	of	
Operational	Risks,

•	 Regulation	on	Management	of	
Market	Risks,

•	 Regulation	on	Risk	Appetite,
•	 Regulation	on	Internal	
Assessment	Process	for	Capital	
Requirement,

•	 Regulation	on	Implementation	
of	Stress	Tests,

•	 Regulation	on	Management	of	
Reputation	Risks.

With	these	regulations,	
instructions	and	procedures,	the	
Bank	intended	to	construct	its	
Risk	Management	processes	on	a	
robust	foundation.
 
Ratio	sets	based	on	Risk	Appetite	
are	reported	to	the	Assets	and	
Liabilities	Committee	and	the	
Audit	Committee	on	a	weekly	
basis.	In	addition,	net	overall	FX	
position	and	capital	adequacy	
ratios	are	closely	monitored	and	
upon	request,	reported.

Financing Risk & Market Risk 
Within	the	framework	of	Basel	
III	rules,	risk	reports	are	drawn	
up	monthly	according	to	the	
standard	method	and	reported	to	
the	BRSA	on	a	solo	basis.	

Every	three	months,	statements	
on	the	amount	subject	to	
financing	risks,	dividend	risks	
and	capital	adequacy	ratio	
calculation	are	prepared	as	part	
of	Independent	Audit	Reports.

Operational Risk
Monitoring	of	risks	that	already	
exist	and/or	may	arise	in	the	
Bank	is	performed	in	a	manner	
that	allows	risks	to	be	detected	
at	the	source.	Transactions	
and	transaction	processes	that	
may	cause	operational	risks	
are	assessed	in	terms	of	risks.	
A	risk	inventory	was	created	for	
detected	risk	perceptions.	Check	
points	are	identified	in	the	risk	
inventory.	The	risk	inventory	is	
updated	every	six	months.

New	products	to	be	created	or	
developed	in	the	Bank	are	put	
into	service	after	approval	of	the	
Risk	Management	Department	
and	measurement	of	potential	
risks.	Before	services	are	
outsourced,	a	Risk	Analysis	
Report	is	created	by	the	Risk	
Management	Department.	

Information Technologies Risk
In	addition	to	conducting	
assessments	of	risks	associated	
with	information	technology	
operations,	the	Risk	Management	
Department	also	monitors	the	
risks	that	may	be	caused	by	
technological	changes	and	
adjustments	and	closely	monitors	
actions	taken	against	such	
risks.	The	Risk	Management	
Department’s	manager	is	also	
a	member	of	the	Information	
Security	Committee.

In	order	to	assess	capital	
adequacy,	stress	tests	are	done	
over	financing	risks,	dividend	
risks	and	market	risks	using	
non-consolidated	data	according	
to	the	standard	method	and	the	
results	are	reported	to	the	Audit	
Committee	every	three	months.
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(CONVENIENCE TRANSLATION OF INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT ORIGINALLY ISSUED IN TURKISH)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the General Assembly of Golden Global Yatırım Bankası A.Ş. 

A)  Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

1) Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Golden Global Yatırım Bankası A.Ş. (“the Bank”), which comprise 
the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the statement of income, statement of income 
and expense items recognized in equity, statement of changes in shareholders’ equity and statement of 
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Bank as at 31 December 2020, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with “the Banking Regulation and Supervision Agency (“BRSA”) Accounting and Reporting 
Regulations” including the regulation on “The Procedures and Principles Regarding Banks’ Accounting Practices 
and Maintaining Documents” published in the Official Gazette dated 1 November 2006 with No.26333, and other 
regulations on accounting records of banks published by the Banking Regulation and Supervision Board and 
circulars and pronouncements published by BRSA and provisions of Turkish Financial Reporting Standards 
(TFRS) for the matters not legislated by the aforementioned regulations.

2) Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Independent Auditing (“SIA”) which is a part of 
Turkish Auditing Standards published by the Public Oversight Accounting and Auditing Standards Authority 
(“POA”) and “Regulation on Independent Auditing of Banks” published by BRSA on Official Gazette dated 2 
April 2015 numbered 29314. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the 
Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Independent Auditors (Code of Ethics) published by the 
POA, together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements, and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

3) Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit 
of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of 
the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters.

Audit of information technology 
The Bank is dependent on Information technologies 
(“IT”) infrastructure for the continuity of its operations 
and financial operations, and the demand for 
technology-supported services in the Bank is rapidly 
growing. Controls over the reliability and continuity 
of electronic data processing are within the scope of 
information systems internal controls audit. With the 
Bank’s dependence on information systems, the controls 
regarding the access rights, the continuity of the systems, 
the privacy and integrity of the electronic data are of 
critical importance, and the scope is created according 
to these priorities in the risk-based audit plan and audit is 
applied according to the relevant scope.

The procedures carried out within the scope of our information 
technology audit works:

• The Bank’s controls on information systems have been 
determined, understood and tested by us with a risk-based 
approach.

• Information Technology Audit includes important information 
systems layers (applications, databases, operating systems 
and network levels) in terms of financial statements that 
play a role in the formation, transmission and storage 
of data. The information systems controls we tested are 
generally categorized in the areas listed below:
• Access Security 
• Change Management
• Data Center and Network Operations

• High-risk areas as, database logging and change 
management control activities are selected, to prevent 
and detect whether accesses to financial data had been 
identified in a timely manner. 

 The accesses and logging controls underlying all 
applications that have direct or indirect impacts on financial 
data generation are tested.

• Automatic controls and integration controls have been 
tested in order to understand the basis of the financial data 
formation process and to detect changes and accesses.

• In addition, tests have been carried out regarding the 
completeness and accuracy of the reports that provided 
input to the controls and was produced by IT components.

• In addition, the controls regarding the database, network 
and operating system levels of the applications within the 
scope have been tested.

4) Responsibilities of Management and Those Charges with Governance for the Financial Statements  
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with the BRSA Accounting and Financial Reporting Regulations, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process.
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5) Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

In an independent audit, our responsibilities as independent auditors are as follows: 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with the “Regulation on Independent Auditing of Banks” published by BRSA on Official Gazette 
dated 2 April 2015 numbered 29314 and SIA will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with the SIA and “Regulation on Independent Auditing of Banks” published by 
BRSA on Official Gazette dated 2 April 2015 numbered 29314, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Indetify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. (The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control).  

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Bank’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that 
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were 
of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key 
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not 
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected 
to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

B) Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with paragraph four of the Article 402 of the Turkish Commercial Code No. 6102 (“TCC”), 
nothing has come to our attention that may cause us to believe that the Bank’s set of accounts and financial 
statements prepared for the period 1 January-31 December 2020 does not comply with TCC and the provisions 
of the Company’s articles of association in relation to financial reporting.

In accordance with paragraph four of the Article 402 of TCC, the Board of Directors provided us all the required 
information and documentation with respect to our audit.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Erdem Taş.

Additional Paragraph for English Translation 

The effect of the differences between the accounting principles summarized in Section 3 and the accounting 
principles generally accepted in countries in which the accompanying financial statements are to be distributed 
and International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) have not been quantified and reflected in the 
accompanying financial statements. The accounting principles used in the preparation of the accompanying 
financial statements differ materially from IFRS. Accordingly, the accompanying financial statements are not 
intended to present the Bank’s financial position and results of its operations in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in such countries of users of the financial statements and IFRS. 

DRT BAĞIMSIZ DENETİM VE SERBEST MUHASEBECİ MALİ MÜŞAVİRLİK A.Ş. 
Member of DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU LIMITED

Erdem Taş, SMMM
Partner 

İstanbul, 30 March 2021
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THE YEAR-END FINANCIAL REPORT AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2020 OF
GOLDEN GLOBAL YATIRIM BANKASI ANONİM ŞİRKETİ

The Bank’s Address of Headquarter : Büyükdere Caddesi No :127 Astoria B/17 Blok 
  Kat:6 Şişli/ İstanbul
The Bank’s Telephone and Fax : (0212) 215 26 41, (0212) 215 26 44
The Bank’s Web Site : https://goldenglobalbank.com.tr
E-Mail Address for Contact  : info.ggbank@goldenglobalbank.com.tr

The year-end financial report prepared in accordance with the Communiqué on the Financial Statements 
and Related Policies and Disclosures to be Publicly Announced as regulated by the Banking Regulation and 
Supervision Agency, consist of the section listed below.

• GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE BANK 
• FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE BANK 
• EXPLANATIONS ON THE ACCOUNTING POLICIES APPLIED IN THE RELATED PERIOD 
• INFORMATION ON THE FINANCIAL STRUCTURE AND RISK MANAGEMENT OF THE BANK 
• EXPLANATIONS AND DISCLOSURES RELATED TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
• INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
• OTHER EXPLANATIONS AND DISCLOSURES

The accompanying year-end financial statements and notes to these financial statements which are 
expressed, unless otherwise stated, in thousands of Turkish Lira have been prepared and presented based 
on the accounting books of the Bank in accordance with the Regulation on the Principles and Procedures 
Regarding Banks’ Accounting and Keeping of Documents, Turkish Accounting Standards, Turkish Financial 
Reporting Standards, and related appendices and interpretations of these, and have been independently 
audited.

 Mustafa AKIN   Özay BALTA   Bedri SAYIN 
Chairman of the Board of Directors             General Manager                Member of the Audit Committee 

           Murat TEKBAŞ  Muharrem TÜTÜNCÜ
    Chairman of Financial Coordination     Manager of Risk Management Department                  
                          and Information Technology         

For the questions regarding this financial report, contact details of the personnel in charge are presented below:

Name-Surname/Title : Mustafa DOĞANÇAY / The Authorized Person
Telephone Number : (0 212) 215 26 41
Fax Number : (0 212) 215 26 44
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SECTION ONE 
General Information

I. History of the Bank including its incorporation date, initial legal status and amendments to legal 
status 

Golden Global Yatırım Bankası A.Ş. (the “Bank”) was established on 15 October 2019 with the permission dated 
29 May 2019 from the Banking Regulation and Supervision Agency and started its activities on 1 June 2020.

II. Explanation about the Bank’s capital structure, shareholders of the bank who are in charge of the 
management and auditing of the bank directly or indirectly, changes in these matters (if any) and the 
group the bank belogs to 

Name-Surname / Title Share Amounts Shares Paid-in Capital
Emir KAYA 54.000 36 54.000
Salih BERBEROĞLU 48.000 32 48.000
Recep KABA 21.000 14 21.000
Ahmet DAĞLI 21.000 14 21.000
Mustafa AKIN 6.000 4 6.000
Total 150.000 100% 150.000

As of 31 December 2021, the Bank’s nominal capital is TL 150.000 as fully paid. All shares belong to real persons.

III. Information on the Bank’s chairman and members of the board of directors, members of the audit 
committee, general manager and vice presidents, changes in these matters (if any) and shares of the 
bank they possess and their responsibilities 

Board of Directors:

Name Surname Administrative funciton 
Assignment 
dates Education level

Business Experience 
Period in Banking and 

Administration

MUSTAFA AKIN Chairman / Member of 
Audit Committee 11.05.2019 BACHELOR’S DEGREE 34

RECEP KABA Vice Chairman 11.05.2019 HIGH SCHOOL 23

SALİH BERBEROĞLU Member 11.05.2019 MASTER DEGREE 17

BEDRİ SAYIN (*) Member – Member of Audit 
Committee 11.05.2019 BACHELOR’S DEGREE 37

ÖZAY BALTA (*) Member – General Manager 11.05.2019 BACHELOR’S DEGREE 15

ZEYNEP ASLI PEKER (*) Member - Executive Vice President 15.01.2020 BACHELOR’S DEGREE 20

(*) The aforementioned members have no share in the Bank. 

IV. Information about the persons and institutions that have qualified shares attributable to the Bank 

As of 31 December 2020 there is no person and institution that has qualified attributable to the Bank.   

V. Summary information on the Bank’s activities and services

The Bank may perform all kinds of Investment Banking activities in accordance with the principles of interest-
free finance, without collecting deposits and funds through special current and participation accounts specified 
in the Banking Law and relevant legislation.

Except for activities requiring permission from authorized institutions and organizations, the Bank may perform 
activities in banking and capital markets legislation and other matters concerning banking without the 
requirement for a new authorization.

The Bank operates in line with the permissions granted by the Banking Regulation and Supervision Agency. 
However, it will organize and perform all of its activities, including the following issues, in accordance with the 
principles of interest-free finance, in accordance with the principles of Investment Banking.

The Bank may engage in the following activities in line with these principles;

1. To provide cash, non-cash, loans or to lend in any form, to open domestic and international letters of credit, 
to add confirmations to opened letters of credit, to issue domestic and international guarantee letters, to 
perform other transactions related to loans and guarantees or other commercial means,

2. To buy, sell, import and export gold, silver and other precious metals, to become a member of the precious 
metal exchanges that have been established and to be established, to trade in these exchanges,

3. To perform cash and deposit payment and funds transfer transactions, including the use of correspondent 
banking accounts or check payment and collection transactions of all kinds,

4. To help and mediate for domestic and foreign capital to invest in the country and foreign countries and to 
participate in companies established or to be established,

5. To participate in all kinds of partnerships in which banks can establish or become partners in Turkey or 
foreign countries, or to establish new partnerships for this purpose or leave established partnerships,

6. To make transactions on goods, real estate and documents representing the rights on them in accordance 
with the relevant legislation; to provide funds through joint investments, partnerships or similar methods,

7. To provide safe deposit box and storage services,

8. To provide effective foreign exchange transactions and to perform purchase and sale of money market 
instruments,
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9. To perform purchase, sale and brokerage regarding futures contracts, option contracts, simple or complex 
financial instruments including derivatives more than one based on economic and financial indicators, 
capital market instruments, commodities, precious metals and foreign currency,

10. To purchase and sale of capital market instruments or to perform repurchase agreements to resell or re-
operations,

11. To underdake actions in favor of others with collateral, guarantees and other liabilities,

12. To perform investment consultancy transactions, 

13. To perform portfolio management and to manage it,

14. To undertake the role of market maker regarding the purchase and sale transactions within the framework 
of the obligations undertaken within the scope of a contract established with the Undersecretariat of 
Treasury and/or the Central Bank and institution associates,

 
15. To perform inter-bank money market transactions,

16. To perform brokerage for financial lease operations,

17. To operate in insurance agency and insurance business,

18. To act as correspondent and representative of domestic and foreign banks and other financial institutions, 
to give these institutions the correspondence and representation of the Bank, to open accounts and deposit 
money at these institutions,

19. To mediate import and export transactions,

20. To conduct transactions in local and international capital and commodity markets and exchanges, to 
intermediate in the issuance, purchase, sale of financial products used in these markets on behalf of the 
bank or its customers,  

21. To borrow from domestic and foreign markets, provide funds, by providing collateral for the assets of the 
Bank or by any means including the issuance of capital market instruments in accordance with the relevant 
legislation,

22. To acquire, sell, transfer, pledge or mortgage all kinds of movable and immovable property, rights, industrial 
and intellectual and similar rights, rights in rem and receivables such as usufruct, easement and superficial 
rights, to take pledges and mortgages on immovable property in its favor, to remove existing mortgages, 
to transfer receivables and related guarantees, to be lessee or lessor for movable and immovable property, 
industrial and intellectual and similar rights, to annotate lease and preliminary sales contracts in its favor, to 
remove annotations, to conclude a commercial enterprise pledge,

23. In order to carry out banking business or to collect its receivables; to acquire movable and real estate and to 
dispose of them by selling, barter and other means when necessary, to obtain all kinds of real and personal 
guarantees for the collection and provision of their rights and receivables, to perform relevant registration, 
cancellation, assignment and all other transactions at the land registry, tax offices, etc. before public and 
private institutions,

24. To issue all kinds of debt securities and all kinds of securities and capital market instruments,

25. To perform all kinds of capital market activities and transactions; buying, selling, transferring, endorsing all 
kinds of investment instruments that can be traded in particular their shares traded in domestic and foreign 
capital markets and securities exchanges or non-stock markets on behalf of themselves or their customers, 
to launch and manage investment funds, to operate in portfolio management and to operate in other 
capital market and stock exchanges allowed by the legislation,

26. To perform activities for social purposes to the extent permitted by the legislation.

VI. Current or likely, actual or legal barriers to immediate transfer of equity or repayment of debts 
between Bank and its subsidiaries 

None.



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES GOLDEN GLOBAL BANK ANNUAL REPORT 202072 73

GOLDEN GLOBAL YATIRIM BANKASI ANONİM ŞİRKETİ
BALANCE SHEET AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2020 
(STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION)
(Unless otherwise stated amounts are expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL”)

GOLDEN GLOBAL YATIRIM BANKASI ANONİM ŞİRKETİ
BALANCE SHEET AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2020 
(STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION)
(Unless otherwise stated amounts are expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL”)

SECTION TWO
Financial Statements  

I. Balance sheet 

ASSETS
Audited Current Period

31 December 2020
Audited Prior Period

31 December 2019
TL FC Total FC TL Total

I. FINANCIAL ASSETS (Net) 82.983 68.443 151.426 148 135.933 136.081
1.1. Cash and Cash Equivalents 82.983 68.443 151.426 148 135.933 136.081
1.1.1. Cash and Balances with Central Bank I-a 1.442 26.261 27.703 4 - 4
1.1.2. Banks I-c 81.541 42.182 123.723 144 135.933 136.077
1.1.3. Receivables from Money Markets - - - - - -
1.1.4. Expected Loss Provision  (-) - - - - - -
1.2. Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss I-b - - - - - -
1.2.1. Government Debt Securities - - - - - -
1.2.2. Equity Instruments - - - - - -
1.2.3. Other Financial Assets - - - - - -
1.3. Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income I-d - - - - - -
1.3.1. Government Debt Securities - - - - - -
1.3.2. Equity Instruments - - - - - -
1.3.3. Other Financial Assets - - - - - -
1.4. Derivative Financial Assets - - - - - -
1.4.1. Derivative Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss - - - - - -
1.4.2. Derivative Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income - - - - - -
II. FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST (Net) 40.393 3.687 44.080 - - -
2.1. Loans I-e 40.393 3.687 44.080 - - -
2.2. Lease Receivables I-j - - - - - -
2.3. Factoring Receivables - - - - - -
2.4. Other Financial Assets Measured at Amortized Cost I-f - - - - - -
2.4.1. Government Debt Securities - - - - - -
2.4.2. Other Financial Assets - - - - - -
2.5. Expected Loss Provision  (-) - - - - - -
III. NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND HELD FROM DISCOUNTINUED OPERATIONS 

(Net) I-p - - - - - -
3.1. Held for Sale Purpose - - - - - -
3.2. Held from Discontinued Operations - - - - - -
IV. EQUITY INVESTMENTS - - - - - -
4.1. Associates (Net) I-g - - - - - -
4.1.1. Associates Valued Based on Equity Method - - - - - -
4.1.2. Associates - - - - - -
4.2. Subsidiaries (Net) I-h - - - - - -
4.2.1. Financial Subsidiaries - - - - - -
4.2.2. Non-Financial Subsidiaries - - - - - -
4.3. Joint Ventures (Net) I-i - - - - - -
4.3.1. Joint Ventures Valued Based on Equity Method - - - - - -
4.3.2. Joint Ventures - - - - - -
V. TANGIBLE ASSETS (Net) I-l 4.380 - 4.380 1.130 - 1.130
VI. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Net) I-m  17.400 - 17.400 3.656 - 3.656
6.1. Goodwill - - - - - -
6.2. Other  17.400 -  17.400 3.656 - 3.656
VII. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Net) I-n - - - - - -
VIII. CURRENT TAX ASSET I-q 832 - 832 - - -
IX. DEFERRED TAX ASSET I-o - - - - - -
X. OTHER ASSETS I-r 501  837  1.338 6.107 - 6.107

TOTAL ASSETS  146.489  72.967 219.456 11.041 135.933 146.974

LIABILITIES
Audited Current Period 

31 December 2020
Audited Prior Period 

31 December 2019
TL FC Total TL FC Total

I. DEPOSITS II-a - - - - - -
II. FUNDS BORROWED II-c - - - - - -
III. PAYABLES TO MONEY MARKETS - - - - - -
IV. SECURITIES ISSUED (Net)  - - - - - -
4.1. Bills - - - - - -
4.2. Asset Backed Securities - - - - - -
4.3. Bonds - - - - - -
V. FUNDS 463 23.749 24.212 - - -
5.1. Borrower Funds 463 36 499 - - -
5.2. Other - 23.713 23.713 - - -
VI. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS - - - - - -
VII. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL LIABILITIES - - - - - -
7.1. Part of Financial Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss - - - - - -
7.2. Part of Financial Liabilities at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income - - - - - -
VIII. FACTORING LIABILITIES - - - - - -
IX. LEASE LIABILITIES II-e 2.231 - 2.231 - - -
X. PROVISIONS II-g 764 134 898 - - -
10.1. General Provisions 764 134 898 - - -
10.2. Restructuring Provision - - - - - -
10.3. Provision for Employee Benefits - - - - - -
10.4. Insurance Technical Provisions (Net) - - - - - -
10.5. Other Provisions - - - - - -
XI. CURRENT TAX LIABILITY II-h 417 - 417 - - -
XII. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY V-VIII 566 - 566 - - -
XIII. LIABILITIES RELATED TO NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND HELD FROM 

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Net) - - - - - -
13.1. Held for Sale Purpose - - - - - -
13.2. Held from Discontinued Operations - - - - - -
XIV. SUBORDINATED DEBT INSTRUMENTS - - - - - -
14.1. Loans - - - - - -
14.2. Other Debt Instruments - - - - - -
XV. OTHER LIABILITIES II-d 4.971 31.163 36.134 1.567 - 1.567
XVI. EQUITY II-i 154.998 - 154.998 145.407 - 145.407
16.1. Paid-in Capital 150.000 - 150.000 150.000 - 150.000
16.2. Capital Reserves - - - - - -
16.2.1. Share Premium - - - - - -
16.2.2. Share Cancellation Profits - - - - - -
16.2.3. Other Capital Reserves - - - - - -
16.3. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Profit or Loss Not Reclassified Through Profit or Loss - - - - - -
16.4. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Profit or Loss Reclassified  Through Profit or Loss - - - - - -
16.5. Profit Reserves - - - - - -
16.5.1. Legal Reserves - - - - - -
16.5.2. Status Reserves - - - - - -
16.5.3. Extraordinary Reserves - - - - - -
16.5.4. Other Profit Reserves - - - - - -
16.6. Profit or Loss 4.998 - 4.998 (4.593) - (4.593)
16.6.1. Prior Years’ Profit or Loss (4.593) - (4.593) - - -
16.6.2. Net Profit or Loss for the Period 9.591 - 9.591 (4.593) - (4.593)

     
TOTAL LIABILITIES 164.410 55.046 219.456 146.974 - 146.974

The accompanying explanations and notes are an integral part of these financial statements. The accompanying explanations and notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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The accompanying explanations and notes are an integral part of these financial statements. The accompanying explanations and notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

II. Statement of off balance sheet accounts

OFF BALANCE SHEET ACCOUNTS
Audited Current Period

31 December 2020
Audited Prior Period

31 December 2019
TL FC Total TL FC Total

A. OFF-BALANCE SHEET LIABILITIES (I+II+III) 22.815 7.744 30.559 - - -
I. GUARANTEES AND WARRANTIES III-a 22.815 7.744 30.559 - - -
1.1. Letters of Guarantee 22.815 7.744 30.559 - - -
1.1.1. Guarantees Subject to State Tender Law - - - - - -
1.1.2. Guarantees Given for Foreign Trade Operations - - - - - -
1.1.3. Other Letters of Guarantee 22.815 7.744 30.559 - - -
1.2. Bank Loans - - - - - -
1.2.1. Import Letter of Acceptence - - - - - -
1.2.2. Other Bank Acceptances - - - - - -
1.3. Letters of Credit - - - - - -
1.3.1. Documentary Letters of Credit - - - - - -
1.3.2. Other Letters of Credit - - - - - -
1.4. Prefinancing Given as Guarantee - - - - - -
1.5. Endorsements - - - - - -
1.5.1. Endorsements to the Central Bank of Turkey - - - - - -
1.5.2. Other Endorsements - - - - - -
1.6. Purchase Guarantees for Securities Issued - - - - - -
1.7. Factoring Guarantees - - - - - -
1.8. Other Guarantees - - - - - -
1.9. Other Collaterals - - - - - -
II. COMMITMENTS - - - - - -
2.1. Irrevocable Commitments - - - - - -
2.1.1. Forward Asset Purchase and Sales Commitments - - - - - -
2.1.2. Forward Deposit Purchase and Sales Commitments - - - - - -
2.1.3. Share Capital Commitments to Associates and Subsidiaries - - - - - -
2.1.4. Loan Granting Commitments - - - - - -
2.1.5. Securities Issue Brokerage Commitments - - - - - -
2.1.6. Commitments for Reserve Requirements - - - - - -
2.1.7. Commitments for Cheque Payments - - - - - -
2.1.8. Tax and Fund Liabilities from Export Commitments - - - - - -
2.1.9. Commitments for Credit Card Limits - - - - - -
2.1.10 Commitments for Credit Cards and Banking Services Promotions - - - - - -
2.1.11. Receivables from Short Sale Commitments of Marketable 

Securities - - - - - -
2.1.12. Payables for Short Sale Commitments of Marketable Securities - - - - - -
2.1.13. Other Irrevocable Commitments - - - - - -
2.2. Revocable Commitments - - - - - -
2.2.1. Revocable Loan Granting Commitments - - - - - -
2.2.2. Other Revocable Commitments - - - - - -

OFF BALANCE SHEET ACCOUNTS 
Audited Current Period

31 December 2020
Audited Prior Period

31 December 2019
TL FC Total TL FC Total

III. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - - - - - -
3.1 Hedging Derivative Financial Instruments - - - - - -
3.1.1 Fair Value Hedge - - - - - -
3.1.2 Cash Flow Hedge - - - - - -
3.1.3 Foreign Net Investment Hedge - - - - - -
3.2 Trading Derivative Financial Instruments - - - - - -
3.2.1 Forward Foreign Currency Buy/Sell Transactions - - - - - -
3.2.1.1 Forward Foreign Currency Transactions-Buy - - - - - -
3.2.1.2 Forward Foreign Currency Transactions-Sell - - - - - -
3.2.2 Swap Transactions Related to Foreign Currency and Interest Rates - - - - - -
3.2.2.1 Foreign Currency Swap-Buy - - - - - -
3.2.2.2Foreign Currency Swap-Sell - - - - - -
3.2.2.3 Interest Rate Swap-Buy - - - - - -
3.2.2.4 Interest Rate Swap-Sell - - - - - -
3.2.3 Foreign Currency, Interest rate and Securities Options - - - - - -
3.2.3.1 Foreign Currency Options-Buy - - - - - -
3.2.3.2 Foreign Currency Options-Sell - - - - - -
3.2.3.3 Interest Rate Options-Buy - - - - - -
3.2.3.4 Interest Rate Options-Sell - - - - - -
3.2.3.5 Securities Options-Buy - - - - - -
3.2.3.6 Securities Options-Sell - - - - - -
3.2.4 Foreign Currency Futures - - - - - -
3.2.4.1 Foreign Currency Futures-Buy - - - - - -
3.2.4.2 Foreign Currency Futures-Sell - - - - - -
3.2.5 Interest Rate Futures - - - - - -
3.2.5.1 Interest Rate Futures-Buy - - - - - -
3.2.5.2 Interest Rate Futures-Sell - - - - - -
3.2.6 Other - - - - - -
B. CUSTODY AND PLEDGES RECEIVED (IV+V+VI) 574.450 - 574.450 - - -
IV. ITEMS HELD IN CUSTODY - - - - - -
4.1. Customer Fund and Portfolio Balances - - - - - -
4.2. Investment Securities Held in Custody - - - - - -
4.3. Cheques Received for Collection - - - - - -
4.4. Commercial Notes Received for Collection - - - - - -
4.5. Other Assets Received for Collection - - - - - -
4.6. Assets Received for Public Offering - - - - - -
4.7. Other Items Under Custody - - - - - -
4.8. Custodians - - - - - -
V. PLEDGES RECEIVED 574.450 - 574.450 - - -
5.1. Marketable Securities - - - - - -
5.2. Guarantee Notes 574.450 - 574.450 - - -
5.3. Commodity - - - - - -
5.4. Warranty - - - - - -
5.5. Immovable - - - - - -
5.6. Other Pledged Items - - - - - -
5.7. Pledged Items-Depository - - - - - -
VI. ACCEPTED BILL, GUARANTEES AND WARRANTEES - - - - - -

TOTAL OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS (A+B) 597.265 7.744 605.009 - - -
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III. Statement of profit or loss

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS 

Audited 
1 January – 

31 December 2020

Audited 
15 October –  

31 December 2019
I. PROFIT SHARE INCOME IV-I  6.942 -
1.1 Profit Share on Loans IV-I-a 6.761 -
1.2 Profit Share on Reserve Requirements - -
1.3 Profit Share on Banks IV-I-b  181 -
1.4 Profit Share on Money Market Transactions - -
1.5 Profit Share on Marketable Securities Portfolio IV-I-c - -
1.5.1 Fair Value Through Profit or Loss - -
1.5.2 Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income - -
1.5.3 Measured at Amortised Cost - -
1.6 Financial Lease Profit Share Income - -
1.7 Other Profit Share Income   - -
II. PROFIT SHARE EXPENSE (-) IV-II  257 -
2.1 Profit Share on Deposits - -
2.2 Profit Share on Funds Borrowed IV-II-a 17 -
2.3 Profit Share Expense on Money Market Transactions - -
2.4 Profit Share on Securities Issued IV-II-c - -
2.5 Other Profit Share Expenses 240 -
III. NET PROFIT SHARE INCOME/EXPENSE  (I - II)  6.685 -
IV. NET FEES AND COMMISSIONS INCOME/EXPENSES 817 -
4.1 Fees and Commissions Received 1.113 -
4.1.1 Non-cash Loans 61 -
4.1.2 Other 1.052 -
4.2 Fees and Commissions Paid (-) IV-X (296) -
4.2.2 Non-cash Loans (8) -
4.2.2 Other (288) -
V. DIVIDEND INCOME - -
VI. TRADING PROFIT/LOSS (Net) IV-III 26.876 233
6.1 Trading Gains /Losses on Securities  - -
6.2 Gains / Losses on Derivative Financial Transactions - -
6.3 Foreign Exchange Gains / Losses   26.876 233
VII. OTHER OPERATING INCOME IV-IV 22 23
VIII. GROSS OPERATING PROFIT (III+IV+V+VI+VII+VIII)    34.400 256
IX. PROVISION FOR LOANS (-) - -
X. PERSONNEL EXPENSES (-) (7.864) (751)
XI. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES (-) IV-VI  (15.343) (4.098)
XII. NET OPERATING PROFIT/LOSS (IX-X-XI) 11.193 (4.593)
XIII. AMOUNT IN EXCESS RECOGNIZED AS INCOME AFTER MERGER - -
XIV. PROFIT / LOSS FROM EQUITY METHOD APPLIED SUBSIDIARIES - -
XV. PROFIT/LOSS ON NET MONETARY POSITION - -
XVI. PROFIT/LOSS BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUED OPERATIONS (XII+XIII+XIV+XV) IV-VIII 11.193 (4.593)
XVII. TAX PROVISION FOR CONTINUED OPERATIONS (±) IV-VII  (1.602) -
17.1 Current Tax Provision   (1.036) -
17.2 Deferred Tax Expense Effect (+)  (566) -
17.3 Deferred Tax Income Effect (-) - -
XVIII. CURRENT PERIOD NET PROFIT/LOSS FROM CONTINUED OPERATIONS (XVI±XVII)  9.591 (4.593)
XIX. INCOME FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS - -
19.1 Income from Non-current Assets Held for Sale - -
19.2 Profit from Sales of Associates, Subsidiaries and Joint Ventures - -
19.3 Income from Other Discontinued Operations - -
XX. EXPENSES FOR DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (-) - -
20.1 Expenses for Non-current Assets Held for Sale - -
20.2 Loss from Sales of Associates, Subsidiaries and Joint Ventures - -
20.3 Expenses from Other Discontinued Operations - -
XXI. PROFIT/LOSS BEFORE TAX FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (XIX-XX) - -
XXII. TAX PROVISION FOR DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (±) - -
22.1 Current Tax Provision - -
22.2 Deferred Tax Expense Effect (+) - -
22.3 Deferred Tax Income Effect (-) - -
XXIII. CURRENT REPIOD PROFIT/LOSS FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (XXII±XXIII) - -
XXIV. NET PROFIT/LOSS FOR THE PERIOD (XVIII+XXIII) IV-IX 9.591 (4.593)

IV. Financial statements related to income and expense items recognized in equity 

Audited 
1 January – 

31 December 2020

Audited 
15 October –

 31 December 2019
 I. CURRENT PERIOD PROFIT/LOSS   9.591 (4.593)
 II. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - -
2.1 Not Reclassified Through Profit or Loss - -
2.1.1 Tangible Assets Revaluation Increase/Decrease - -
2.1.2 Intangible Assets Revaluation Increase/Decrease - -
2.1.3 Defined Benefit Plan Remeasurement Gain/Loss - -
2.1.4 Other Comprehensive Income Items Not Reclassified Through Profit or 

Loss - -
2.1.5 Tax Related Other Comprehensive Income Items Not Reclassified 

Through Profit or Loss - -
2.2 Reclassified Through Profit or Loss - -
2.2.1 Foreign Currency Translation Differences - -
2.2.2 Valuation and/or Reclassification Income/Expense of the Financial 

Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income - -
2.2.3 Cash Flow Hedge Profit/Loss - -
2.2.4 Foreign Net Investment Hedge Profit/Loss - -
2.2.5 Other Comprehensive Income Items Reclassified Through Profit or 

Losses - -
2.2.6 Tax Related Other Comprehensive Income Items Reclassified Through 

Profit or Loss - -
III. TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (I+II) 9.591 (4.593)
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GOLDEN GLOBAL YATIRIM BANKASI ANONİM ŞİRKETİ
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 
(Unless otherwise stated amounts are expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL”)

GOLDEN GLOBAL YATIRIM BANKASI ANONİM ŞİRKETİ
STATEMENT OF DISTRIBUTION OF PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2020 
(Unless otherwise stated amounts are expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL”)

The accompanying explanations and notes are an integral part of these financial statements. The accompanying explanations and notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

V. Statement of cash flows 

 Notes

Audited
1 January -

31 Deecember 2020

Audited
15 October -

31 December 2019
A. CASH FLOWS FROM BANKING OPERATIONS  VII-a   
1.1 Operating Profit Before Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities  (14.224) (3.260) 
1.1.1 Profit Share Received    4.590 - 
1.1.2 Profit Share Paid  - - 
1.1.3 Dividend Received   - - 
1.1.4 Fees and Commissions Received  1.113 - 
1.1.5 Other Income  22 23 
1.1.6 Collections from Non-performing Loans Recognized as Loss   - - 
1.1.7 Cash Payments to Personnel and Service Suppliers  (7.864) - 
1.1.8 Taxes Paid  (1.892) - 
1.1.9 Other  (10.193) (3.283) 
1.2 Change in Assets and Liabilities Related to Banking Operations  (24.369) (4.540) 
1.2.1 Net (Increase) / Decrease in Financial Assets At Fair Value Through Profit Or Loss   - - 
1.2.2 Net (Increase) / Decrease in the Account of Banks   - - 
1.2.3 Net (Increase) / Decrease in Loans  (41.728) - 
1.2.4 Net (Increase) / Decrease in Other Assets   4.793 (6.107) 
1.2.5 Net Increase / (Decrease) in Bank Deposits   - - 
1.2.6 Net Increase / (Decrease) in Other Deposits  -. - 
1.2.7 Net Increase / (Decrease) in Financial Liabilities At Fair Value Through Profit Or Loss  - - 
1.2.8 Net Increase / (Decrease) in Funds Borrowed   - - 
1.2.9 Net Increase / (Decrease) in Payables Due   - - 
1.2.10 Net Increase / (Decrease) in Other Liabilities  61.304. 1.567 
I. Net Cash (Used in) / Provided from Banking Operations  10.145 (7.800) 
B. CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES   
II. Net Cash Provided from Investing Activities  (21.676) (6.352) 
2.1 Cash Paid For Acquisition of Associates and Subsidiaries and Joint Ventures   - - 
2.2 Cash Obtained From Disposal of Associates and Subsidiaries and Joint Ventures   - - 
2.3 Purchases of Movable and Immovable Properties  (4.331) (1.410) 
2.4 Disposals of Movable and Immovable Properties   - - 
2.5 Purchase of Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income (-)   - - 
2.6 Sale of Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income (+)   - - 
2.7 Purchase of Financial Assets Measured at Amortized Cost (-)   - - 
2.8 Sale of Financial Assets Measured at Amortized Cost (+)   - - 
2.9 Other  (17.345) (4.942)
C. CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES   
III. Net Cash Provided from Financing Activities   - 150.000 
3.1 Cash Obtained from Funds Borrowed and Securities Issued   - - 
3.2 Cash Used for Repayment of Funds Borrowed and Securities Issued   - - 
3.3 Issued Equity Instruments   - - 
3.4 Dividends Paid   - - 
3.5 Payments for Finance Leases   - - 
3.6 Other (+/-)   - 150.000 
IV. Effect of Change in Foreign Exchange Rate on Cash and Cash Equivalents (+/-)    26.876 233 
V. Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents (I+II+III+IV)  15.345 136.081 
VI. Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of the Period (+)  136.081 - 
VII. Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of the Period (V+VI)  151.426 136.081

VI. Distribution of profit for the period 

 

Audited
1 January -

31 December 2020  *

Audited
15 October -

31 December 2019
I. Distribution profit for the period  
1.1 Profit for the Period 11.193 (4.593)
1.2 Taxes Payable and Legal Liabilities (-) (1.602) -
1.2.1 Corporate Tax (Income Tax) (1.036) -
1.2.2 Income Tax Deduction - -
1.2.3 Other Taxes and Legal Liabilities (**) (566) -
A. Net Profit for the Period (1.1-1.2) 9.591 (4.593)
1.3 Prior Years’ Loss (-) - 4.593
1.4 First Order Legal Reserve (-) - -
1.5 Legal Funds Required to Leave and Save at the Bank (-) - -
B. Net Distributable Dividend [(A- (1.3 + 1.4 + 1.5)] 9.591 -
1.6 First Dividend to Shareholders (-)  - -
1.6.1 Shareholders  - -
1.6.2 Privileged Shareholders  - -
1.6.3 Participation in Redeemable Certificates  - -
1.6.4 Profit Participation Bonds  - -
1.6.5 Profit and Loss Sharing Certificate Holders  - -
1.7 Dividend to Personnel (-)  - -
1.8 Dividend to Board of Directors (-)  - -
1.9 Second Dividend to Shareholders (-)  - -
1.9.1 To Shareholders  - -
1.9.2 To Privileged Shareholders  - -
1.9.3 To Participation in Redeemable Certificates  - -
1.9.4 To Profit Participation Bonds  - -
1.9.5 To Profit and Loss Sharing Certificate Holders  - -
1.1 Second Order Legal Reserve (-)  - -
1.11 Statutory Reserves (-)  - -
1.12 Extraordinary Reserves  - -
1.13 Other Reserves  - -
1.14 Special Funds  - -
II. Distribution from Reserves  - -
2.1 Reserves Distributed  - -
2.2 Second Order Legal Reserves (-)  - -
2.3 Share to Shareholders (-)  - -
2.3.1 To Shareholders  - -
2.3.2 To Privileged Shareholders  - -
2.3.3 To Participation in Redeemable Certificates  - -
2.3.4 To Profit Participation Bonds  - -
2.3.5 To Profit and Loss Sharing Certificate Holders  - -
2.4 Share to Personnel (-)  - -
2.5 Share to the Board of Directors (-)  - -
III. Earnings Per Share  - -
3.1 To Shareholders  - -
3.2 To Shareholders ( % )  - -
3.3 To Priviledged Shareholders  - -
3.4 To Priviledged Shareholders ( % )  - -
IV. Dividend Per Share  - -
4.1 To Shareholders  - -
4.2 To Shareholders ( % )  - -
4.3 To Priviledged Shareholders  - -
4.4 To Priviledged Shareholders ( % )  - -

(*) The profit distribution is decided by the General Assembly of the Bank, and the General Assembly meeting has not been held as of the date of the financial statements.
(**) Other taxes and legal  liabilities constitues the deferred tax expense. 
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SECTION THREE
Accounting Policies

I. Basis of presentation

The financial statements are prepared within the scope of the “Regulation on Accounting Applications for 
Banks and Safeguarding of Documents” related with Banking Law numbered 5411 published in the Official 
Gazette no. 26333 dated 1 November 2006 and other regulations related to reporting principles on accounting 
records of Banks published by Banking Regulation and Supervision Agency (“BRSA”) and circulars and 
interpretations published by BRSA and in case where a specific regulation is not made by BRSA, Turkish 
Financial Reporting Standards and put into effect by Public Oversight Accounting and Auditing Standards 
Authority (“POA”).

The accounting policies and valuation principles followed in the preparation of the financial statements are 
explained in the notes below.

II. Explanations on strategy of using financail instruments and foreign currency transactions 

The Bank follows an asset-liability management strategy that mitigates risk and increases earnings by 
balancing the funds borrowed and the investments in various financial assets. The main objective of asset-
liability management is to limit the Bank’s exposure to liquidity risk, currency risk and credit risk while increasing 
profitability and strengthening the Bank’s equity.

Gains and losses arising from foreign currency transactions have been recorded in the period in which the 
transaction took place. Foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities are valued with the 
period end valuation rates published converting them into Turkish Lira and valuation differences of foreign 
currencies have been recognized as foreign exchange profit or loss.

The foreign currency exchange differences resulting from the translation of debt securities issued and 
monetary financial instruments into Turkish Lira are included in the income statement. There are no foreign 
currency differences capitalized by the Bank.

III. Explanations on futures, option contracts and derivative instruments

The derivative transactions that the Bank mainly uses are forward, futures, swaps, options and forward 
purchase and sale contracts. Derivative transactions are classified as financial instruments whose fair value 
difference is reflected to profit and loss and are monitored with their fair values. Liabilities and receivables 
arising from derivative transactions are recorded in off-balance sheet accounts at their contractual amounts.

Derivative transactions are evaluated with their fair values in the periods following their recognition. In 
accordance with the classification of derivative transactions, if the fair value is positive, in the “Part of Derivative 
Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit and Loss” or in “Derivative Financial Assets at Fair Value through 
Other Comprehensive Income”, if negative, “Derivative Financial Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit and Loss 
”or in “Derivative Financial Liabilities at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income ”. Differences in the 
fair value of derivative transactions, of which the fair value difference of derivative financial assets is reflected 
to profit/loss, are recognized under profit/loss from derivative financial transactions in the trade profit / loss 
item in the income statement.

There are no embedded derivatives created by separating them from the main contract or derivatives for 
hedging purposes.
 
IV. Explanation on profit share income and expenses

Profit share income is recognized in the income statement on an accrual basis by using the method of internal 
rate of return and is accounted under profit share income account in the financial statements. While applying 
the internal rate of return method, the bank amortizes the fees and transaction costs included in the calculation 
of the effective profit rate over the expected life of the financial instrument.

V. Explanations on fee and commission income and expenses

Except for the fees and commission income and expenses obtained for some banking services which are 
recorded as income and expense when collected, fees and commission income/expenses are reflected in the 
income statement over the period of the related transaction. Fees and commissions, other than those that are 
integral parts of the effective profit rate in the internal rate of return method of financial instruments measured 
at amortized cost, are accounted in accordance with TFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.

Fees and commission income and expenses, excluding fee revenues, related to some banking transactions, for 
which revenue is recorded at once during the service period, and loan fees and commission expenses paid to 
other credit institutions and organizations are recognized on an accrual basis throughout the service period.

In accordance with the provisions of TAS, commission and fees collected in advance for loans granted are 
deferred and reflected to the income statement by using the internal rate of return method. Unearned portion 
of the commission and fees relating to the future periods are recorded to the “Unearned Revenues” account 
under “Other Liabilities” on the balance sheet.
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VI. Explanations on financial assets

The Bank classifies and accounts for its financial assets as ‘Fair Value Through Profit/Loss’, ‘Fair Value Through 
Other Comprehensive Income,’ or ‘Amortized Cost’ as per the standard of “TFRS 9 Financial Instruments”. This 
classification is based on the contractual cash flow characteristics of the related business model used for 
management of the financial assets at initial recognition.

Financial assets are recognized or derecognized according to TFRS 9 Financial Instruments Part 3 Recognition 
and Derecognition. They are included in the balance sheet of the Bank, if the Bank is a legal party to these 
instruments.

Financial instruments have the feature of detecting, affecting and diminishing liquidity, credit and profit share 
risks in the financial statements. All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the 
settlement date i.e. the date that the asset is delivered to or by the Bank. Settlement date accounting requires 
(a) accounting of the asset when acquired by the Bank and (b) disposing of the asset out of the balance sheet 
on the date settled by the Bank; and accounting of gain or loss upon disposal.
 
In case of application of settlement date accounting, for the financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 
and financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income the Bank accounts for the changes that 
occur in the fair value of the asset in the period between trade transaction date and settlement date.

Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within 
the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the market place. Changes in fair value of 
assets to be received during the period between the trade date and the settlement date are accounted in the 
same way as the acquired assets. Fair value differences are not accounted for financial assets presented at 
cost or amortized cost; gain or loss of financial assets at fair value through profit and loss are reflected in the 
statement of income; gain or loss of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are 
accounted for in the other comprehensive income.

Details of the accounts in which financial instruments are classified in financial statements are given below.

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss are financial assets other than the ones that are managed 
with business model that aims to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and profit share on the principal outstanding amount; that are either acquired for 
generating a profit from short-term fluctuations in prices or are financial assets included in a portfolio aiming to 
short-term profit taking.

The fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit and loss, which are traded in active markets, is 
determined according to the price of the stock exchange; and if there is no stock exchange price, the price is 
determined according to the price of the Official Gazette.Where there is no quoted price in an active market, 
the fair value is determined by using other methods specified in TFRS 13.

Financial assets at the fair value through profit or loss are initially recognized at fair value. They are subject to 
valuation at fair value after recognition. The profit and losses incurred are accounted in the profit and loss.

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income

Financial assets are classified as fair value through other comprehensive income where the business models 
aim to hold financial assets in order to collect the contractual cash flows and selling assets and the terms of 
financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal of profit share at certain dates.  

In the initial recognition of financial assets with fair value difference accounted for in other comprehensive 
income, their fair values including transaction costs are used.

Valuation of the financial assets whose fair value difference is reflected in other comprehensive income 
after the first registration is made at their fair value. The results of the subsequent changes in the fair value 
of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, namely unrealized gain or loss are 
recorded in “Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income/Expense Items to be Reclassified to Profit or Loss”. 
Accumulated fair value gain or loss, previously reflected in equity, is recorded to the income statement when 
the said financial assets are disposed.

The fair value of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, which are traded in active 
markets is determined according to the price of the stock exchange. If there is no price of stock exchange, it is 
determined according to the Official Gazette. Where there is no quoted price in an active market, the fair value 
is determined by using other methods specified in TFRS 13.
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Financial Assets at Amortised Cost

A financial asset is classified as a financial asset measured at amortized cost, if the financial asset is held within 
the scope of a business model for the collection of contractual cash flows and the contractual terms of the 
financial asset result in cash flows that include payments arising only from principal and profit share on the 
principal amounts on specific dates.

After the initial recognition, provision for impairment to be deducted, if any, financial assets measured at 
amortized cost are recognized with discounted value using effective profit share method (internal rate of 
return).

Profit share earned from financial assets measured at amortized cost is recorded as profit share income.

The Bank classifies financial assets in accordance with the classifications explained above during the 
acquisition of the mentioned assets.

Loans

Loans, other than those with intention to be sold, are the financial assets, the contractual terms of which result 
in cash flows that include payments arising only from principal and profit share on the principal amounts on 
specific dates. 

The Bank initially recognises loans at the cost of the acquisition and accounts for the amortized cost using the 
effective profit share method (internal rate of return) subsequent periods. 

Foreign currency-indexed individual and commercial loans are shown under Turkish Currency (“TL”) accounts 
after having been converted into Turkish Lira at exchange rate at transaction date. Repayments are calculated 
at exchange rate at date of payment and exchange rate differences encountered are reflected in profit and 
loss accounts. Net foreign exchange gains of the foreign currency indexed loans are presented under foreign 
exchange gain/loss.  

All loans of the Bank are monitored under the “Financial Assets at Amortized Costs” account.

VII. Explanations on impairment of financial assets 

Expected Loss Provision

The Bank sets aside the expected loss provision for its loans and receivables by taking into consideration the 
“Regulation on the Classification of Loans and the Procedures and Principles Regarding the Provisions to be Set 
Aside” published in the Official Gazette dated 22 June 2016 and numbered 29750.

In addition, the Bank was exempted from the application of TFRS 9 due to the requirement for the credit history 
to be known in order to determine the expected loss provisions.

Loans 

In the event that there are findings indicating that the loans cannot be collected, the Bank will make 
classification in Group III, IV, and V loans pursuant to the “Methods and Principles for the Determination of 
Loans and Other Receivables to be Reserved for and Allocation of Reserves” published in the Official Gazette 
dated 1 November 2006 and numbered 26333, and specific reserves are provided for these amounts. The Bank 
can make special provisions for loans with poor financial status and / or that are irrecoverable, above the 
minimum rates projected in the group to which it belongs.

The collections made in relation to the provisions made for the aforementioned loans in the current period are 
deducted from the “Provisions for Loans and Other Receivables” account in the income statement, and the 
principal collections made for the loans that have been provided for or written-off from assets in the previous 
periods are accounted for in the “Other Operating Income” account.

VIII. Explanations on offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet when the Bank 
has legally enforceable rights to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to collect/pay the 
related financial assets and liabilities on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

IX. Explanations on sales and repurchase agreements and securities lending transactions 

The securities subject to repo are classified in the portfolios of “Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Other 
Comprehensive Income” or “Financial Assets at Amortized Cost” according to their purposes in the Bank 
portfolio and are subject to valuation according to the principles of the portfolio they belong to.

Funds obtained in return of repo agreements are monitored in liabilities under “Payable to Money Markets” 
accounts, and expense rediscount is calculated according to the internal rate of return method for the part of 
the difference between the sales and repurchase prices determined by the repo agreements.

Reverse repo transactions are recognized under the account “Receivables from Money Markets”. For the 
part of the difference between the purchase and resale prices determined by reverse repo agreements, 
corresponding to the period, income rediscount is calculated according to the internal rate of return method.
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X. Information on non-current assets held for sale and held from discontinued operations and 
explanations on liabilities related with these assets 

Assets that meet the criteria to be classified as held for sale are measured at carrying amount and 
depreciation of such assets is ceased and they are presented separately in the balance sheet. In order to 
classify an asset as held for sale, the asset (or the disposal group) should be available for an immediate sale 
in its present condition subject to the terms of any regular sales of such assets (or such disposal groups) and 
the sale should be highly probable. For a highly probable sale, the appropriate level of management must 
be committed to a plan to sell the asset (or the disposal group), and an active program to complete the plan 
should be initiated to locate a customer. Also, the asset (or the disposal group) should have an active market 
sale value, which is a reasonable value in relation to its current fair value. Events or circumstances may extend 
the completion of the sale more than one year. 

Such assets are still classified as held for sale if there is sufficient evidence that the delay in the sale process is 
due to the events and circumstances occurred beyond the control of the entity or the entity remains committed 
to its plan to sell the asset (or disposal group). 

A discontinued operation is a component of a bank that either has been disposed of, or is classified as held for 
sale. Gains or losses relating to discontinued operations are presented separately in the statement of profit or 
loss.

XI. Explanations on goodwill and other intangible assets 

As at the balance sheet date, there is no goodwill recorded in the financial statements of the Bank. 

Intangible assets are carried at their restated historical costs and intangible assets that are purchased in 
the subsequent periods are carried at their historical cost, less any accumulated amortization and any 
impairment losses. Intangible assets are amortized by using the straight line method based on their useful 
lives. Amortization method and period are assessed periodically at the end of each year. Intangible assets 
consist of software expenses and they are amortized by using the straight line method over 3 years. There is 
no significant change in the accounting estimates expected or to be expected having a significant effect on the 
amortization method, amortization period or residual value.

XII. Explanations on intangible assets 

Tangible assets are measured at its cost when initially recognised and any directly attributable costs of setting 
the asset in working order for its intended use are included in the initial measurement. Tangible assets are 
presented in the financial statements over their remaining cost after deducting accumulated depreciation from 
cost amounts, if any, and after deducting accumulated depreciation from their fair values. Tangible assets are 
depreciated over their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method. Lands are not depreciated due to 
their unlimited lifetime. 

Estimated useful lives are as follows:

Buildings 50 years

Transfer Vehicles 5 years

Other intangible assets 3-36 years

As of the balance sheet date, the depreciation amount is calculated by proportioning the depreciation amount 
estimated for one full year with the duration of being in the assets. If the cost value is higher than the “Net 
realizable value” of the related tangible asset, the value of the aforementioned asset is reduced to the “Net 
realizable value” and the provision for the impairment allocated is associated with the expense accounts. Gains 
and losses arising from the disposal of tangible assets are determined by deducting the net book value of the 
related tangible asset from the sales revenue.
 
Ordinary maintenance and repair expenses inccured for tangible assets items are recognized as expenses. 
Investment expenditures that increase the future benefit by enhancing the capacity of tangible assets are 
capitalized. The investment expenditures include the cost components which are used either to increase the 
useful life or the capacity of the asset or the quality of the product or to decrease the costs.

There are no mortgages, pledges or similar precautionary measures on tangible assets or commitments given 
for the purchase as of 31 December 2020.  

XIII. Explanation on leasing transactions

The Bank assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Bank recognises 
a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the 
lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low 
value assets. If there is no other systematic basis that better reflects the timing structure in which the economic 
benefits obtained from the leased assets are used, the Bank accounts for the lease payments as operating 
expenses by linear method during the lease period.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at 
the commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily 
determined, the Bank uses its incremental borrowing rate.
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Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

• Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed paymnets), less any lease incentives; 
• Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the 

commencement date;
• The amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;
• The exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and
• Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to 

terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the statement of financial position. The lease liability is 
subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect profit share on the lease liability (using 
the effective profit share (internal rate of return) method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the 
lease payments made. 

The Bank remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use 
asset) whenever:

• The lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in 
which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised 
discount rate.

The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a 
guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease 
payments using the initial discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a floating 
profit share rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used). 

• A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which 
case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount 
rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Bank did not make any such adjustments during the periods presented.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments 
made at or before the commencement day and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at 
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Whenever the Bank incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on 
which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the 
lease, a provision is recognised and measured under TAS 37.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying 
asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the 
Group expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of 
the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

The Bank applies TAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any identified 
impairment loss as described in the ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ policy.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability 
and the right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event 
or condition that triggers those payments occurs and included in ‘Other expenses’ in profit or loss.

XIV. Explanations on provisions and contingent liabilities 

Provisions and contingent liabilities are accounted in accordance with “Turkish Accounting Standard on 
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets Corresponding” (“TAS 37”).

Provisions are recognized when the Bank has a present obligation, legal or constructive, as a result of a past 
event, when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation and when a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. As per the “Matching 
Principle,” a provision is provided for the liabilities arising as a result of past events in the period they arise, if it 
is probable that the liability will be settled and a reliable estimate for the liability amount can be made. When 
a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation cannot be made or it is not probable that an outflow of 
resources will be required to settle the obligation, the obligation is considered as a “Contingent” liability and is 
disclosed in the related notes to the financial statements.

XV. Explanations on obligations related to employee benefits 

The Bank recognizes its liabilities of employment terminations and vacation benefits in accordance with TAS 19 
“Turkish Accounting Standard about Benefits for Employee”.

TAS 19, which is updated with the Communiqué published in Official Gazette by Public Oversight Accounting 
and Auditing Standards Authority (“POA”) on 12 March 2013 numbered 28585, abolished the option of 
associating related loss and profit with the “Income Statement” of the relevant period in the accounting 
treatment of actuarial profit and loss resulting from changes in actuarial assumptions or differences between 
actual and actuarial assumptions for the Bank’s retirement pay liability calculations. Actuarial profit and loss in 
the relevant reporting period was classified in “Other Reserves” under Shareholders’ Equity, as being associated 
with the Statement Related to Income and Expense Items Recognized in Equity. It is associated with the Related 
Table and accounted under the “Other Reserves” item under Equity. 
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In accordance with existing social legislation in Turkey, the Bank is required to make lump-sum termination 
indemnities for each employee whose employment is terminated due to retirement or for reasons other than 
resignation or misconduct. The Bank has calculated the estimated value of the probable future liability amounts 
arising from making severance pay to each employee who has completed over one year of service with the 
Bank and who retires or quits the employment to fulfill the compulsory military service, or who passes away, as 
defined in the Turkish Labor Law, based on their net present values and recognized in the financial statements. 

The Bank’s employees are not members of any pension fund, foundations, union or other similar entities.

As of 31 December 2020, the Bank does not have employees who are employed with a fixed-term contract, 
whose contract term will expire in a period more than 12 months from the balance sheet date.

XVI. Explanation on taxation

Current Tax:

As per the terms of the provisional article 10 added to the Law No. 5520 by the Article 91 of the Law No. 7061, 
it was established that the rate of 20%, as disclosed in the first paragraph of the Article 32 of the Corporate 
Tax Law No. 5520, shall be applied as 22% over the corporation income for the tax periods of the years 2018, 
2019, 2020 (and for entities that are appointed with special accounting period, for the accounting periods 
beginning within the relevant year). Council of Ministers is entitled to lower the rate of 22% as disclosed in the 
first paragraph to a limit of 20%.

Under this scope, corporate tax with the rate of 22% shall be calculated over the corporate income of the 
corporate taxpayers for the accounting periods of 2018, 2019 and 2020. 

In addition, as per provisions of the Income Tax Law, advance tax with the rate of 22% shall be paid by the 
taxpayers in the aforementioned periods in order to be offset from the corporate tax for the aforementioned 
tax periods.

The corporate tax rate will be applied as 22% for the years 2018, 2019 and 2020. This rate is applied on taxable 
income which is calculated by adjusting the income before tax for certain disallowable expenses, tax exempt 
income and other allowances. No further tax is applicable unless the profit is distributed. According to the tax 
legislations, advance tax amount shall also be calculated using a rate of 22% for 2018-2019-2020 over tax base 
and shall be paid, then the advance taxes paid within the year shall be offset from the corporate tax calculated 
over the yearly corporate tax return for that year.

 

Withholding taxes is not applied to dividends distributed to companies resident in Turkey or companies who 
earn income in Turkey through their resident representatives in Turkey. With the Council of Minister’s decision 
numbered 2009/14593 and 2009/14594 which are published in official gazette numbered 27130 and dated 3 
February 2009, some deduction rates in 15th and 30th articles of the corporate tax law numbered 5520 were 
re-determined. In accordance with this, dividends distributed to companies other than companies resident in 
Turkey or companies who earn income in Turkey through their resident representatives in Turkey are subject to 
15% withholding taxes. Double tax treaty agreements are also taken into consideration during the application of 
withholding taxes on dividends distributed to real persons and to foreign-based taxpayers. Addition of profit to 
share capital is not considered as dividend distributed therefore no withholding taxes is applied.

With the aforementioned amendment to the law, entities calculate advance tax using a rate of 22% over the 
quarterly financial income, for the years 2018-2019-2020 and advance tax returns are filed by the fourteenth 
day of the second month following the related period and taxes are paid by the seventeenth day. Advance 
taxes are paid within the year belong to that year, and the paid advance taxes are offset from the corporate 
tax liability calculated over the corporate tax returns in the subsequent year. Any remaining amount of paid 
advance taxes after the offset can be paid back in cash or it can be deducted from financial loans to the 
government.

For the purpose of issuance of certificate of leasing immovables to resource institutions, with the sale of asset 
leasing companies, the scope of Financial Leasing, Factoring and Financing Companies Law No.6361, dated 
21 November 2012 in order to lease it back and in case of taking back at the end of the contract, with the 
sale of financial leasing companies and asset leasing by asset leasing companies, for profit from the sale of 
the immovable property inherited from the institution applies this rate as 100% and for the immovable is not 
compulsory to be in assets at least for a period of two years. But the mentioned immovable’s; except in case of 
failure to fulfill the obligations arising from the source institution, the lesser or leasing agreement, immovable in 
question by the asset leasing company, in case of selling a third person or institutions, these immovable’s with 
the carrying value before its transfer to resource institution or asset leasing in lesser or asset leasing company, 
in mentioned institutions taking into consideration the total amount of depreciation is taxable for corporation 
engaged in the sale.
 
Corporate tax returns are filed by the twenty-fifth day of the fourth month following the balance sheet date 
and taxes is paid in one installment by the end of that month.  

Corporate tax losses can be carried forward for a maximum period of five years following the year in which the 
losses were incurred. However, losses cannot be carried back to offset profits from previous periods. The tax 
authorities can inspect tax returns and the related accounting records for a retrospective maximum period of 
five years. In Turkey, there is no procedure for a final and definite agreement on tax assessments.
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Deferred Tax:

For taxable temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts, as per the provisions of “Turkish Accounting Standard on Income Taxes” (“TAS 12”), the Bank 
calculates deferred tax liability over all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax asset over taxable 
temporary differences to the extent that is probable that taxable profit will be available in subsequent periods. 
Deferred tax asset and liabilities are shown in the accompanying financial statements on a net basis. The 
tax effect regarding the items directly accounted in equity are also reflected in equity. The rate is used in the 
calculation of deferred tax assets and liabilities is 20%. 
 
XVII. Explanations on borrowings 

Borrowings other than funds collected are measured at amortized cost using the internal rate of return method 
after the initial recognition. The Bank does not apply hedging techniques on related borrowings.

The Bank has not issued convertible bonds.

XVIII. Explanation on issuance of share certificates:

There are no share certificates issued by the Bank.  

There is no dividend distribution decision of the Bank announced after the balance sheet date.

XIX. Explanations on availed drafts and acceptances

Acceptances and availed drafts are realized simultaneously with the payment dates of the customers and they 
are presented as probable payables and commitments in off-balance sheet accounts. The Bank does not have 
availed drafts and acceptances that are presented as liabilities corresponding to assets.

XX. Explanations on government grants 

There are no government incentives utilized by the Bank as of 31 December 2020.

XXI. Profit reserves and distribution of profit

The accumulated profit of the Bank are available for distribution, provided that permission is obtained from the 
BRSA.

XXII. Related parties

In line with the purpose of these financial statements, shareholders, senior executives and members of the 
board of directors, their families and companies controlled by them or affiliated with them, associates and joint 
ventures are classified as related parties within the scope of the “Related Party Disclosures Standard” (“TAS 
24”). Transactions made with related parties are presented in Section Five, note VII.

XXIII. Cash and cash equivalents

“Cash”, which is the basis for the preparation of cash flow statements, is defined as effective money in transit 
and purchased bank checks and demand deposits in banks including the R.T. Central Bank (“CBRT”), and “Cash 
equivalent asset” is defined as interbank money market placements with an original maturity of less than three 
months and time deposits in banks.

XXIV. Explanation on segment reporting

Operating segment is the distinguishable part of the Bank that the Bank operates in the provision of a single 
product or service or a related product or service group and that has different characteristics from other fields 
of activity in terms of risk and return. The information of the Bank’s business segments is explained in Section 
Four, disclosure numbered XIV.

XXV. Explanations on other matters

The fact that the Covid-19 outbreak, which affected the whole world, halted or slowed all units of the economy, 
including manufacturing, service, trade, finance and consumption, at the same time have been faced with a 
crisis that has not been experienced before in the history of modern finance. While all segments of society were 
affected by this severe crisis, the differences in the measures taken by the states also differentiated the results 
obtained.

Turkey, which has also mobilized its developed health infrastructure by intervening in the outbreak with the 
necessary seriousness from the first day, has made a more successful impression in this challenge compared 
to other countries. Although fragility continues in the current account deficit, growth, interest and inflation 
equation, which is the weak point of the economy, it is considered that the effects of the outbreak will remain 
limited with the measures to be taken by the economy management.

As the Bank, an Emergency Action Plan has been prepared in order to take urgent measures in case of 
crisis and/or quarantine within the scope of Covid-19 and similar epidemic diseases and to continue banking 
activities without interruption. In case of such unfavorable conditions, it is aimed to establish processes to 
ensure business continuity and to take necessary measures, taking into account the Bank’s internal and 
external service dependencies, to ensure that the emergency action plan is in line with the objectives and 
priorities of the Bank, and is adequate for the purpose.

In this context, in the process of obtaining an activity permit corresponding to the pandemic period, the method 
of working from home and working alternately was applied by providing the necessary infrastructure works. 
With the precautions taken and detailed studies, there were no disruptions in Bank’s activities.

Although it is unknown how long the Covid-19 effect will last in the world or in Turkey, it is predicted that there 
will be no disruption in the activities of the Bank as a result of the measures taken, and the practices are 
arranged in parallel with the developments in the pandemic process.
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SECTION FOUR
Explanations Related to the Financial Position and Risk Managements

I. Explanations on the components of shareholder’s equity

Shareholders’ equity and capital adequacy ratio were calculated within the framework of “Regulation on Banks’ 
Equity” and “Regulation on Measurement and Evaluation of Capital Adequacy of Banks”.

As of 31 December 2020, Bank’s total shareholders’ equity is calculated as TL 137.599, capital adequacy ratio is 
139,5%. This ratio is well above the minimum ratio required by the legislation.

Amount

The Amount 
Related to 

Application Prior 
to 1/1/2014*

COMMON EQUITY TIER 1 CAPITAL  
Paid-in capital following all debts in terms of claim in liquidation of the Bank  150.000 -
Share issue premiums - -
Reserves - -
Gains recognized in equity as per TAS - -
Profit  4.998 -
Current Period Profit  9.591 -
Prior Periods’ Profit  (4.593) -
Shares acquired free of charge from associates, subsidiaries and joint ventures and cannot be recognized within profit for the period  - -

Common Equity Tier 1 Capital Before Deductions 154.998 -
Deductions from Common Equity Tier 1 Capital (17.400) -
Common Equity as per the (i) clause of Provisional Article 9 of the Regulation on the Equity of Banks - -
Portion of the current and prior periods’ losses which cannot be covered through reserves and losses reflected in equity in accordance 
with TAS - -
Improvement costs for operating leasing - -
Goodwill remaining after offsetting with the relevant deferred tax liability - -
Other intangible assets remaining after offsetting with the related deferred tax liability, excluding the rights to provide mortgage service - -
The remaining part of the deferred tax asset based on taxable income to be obtained in future periods, excluding the deferred tax assets 
based on temporary differences, after deducting with the related deferred tax liability (17.400) -
Differences are not recognized at the fair value of assets and liabilities subject to hedge of cash flow risk - -
Communiqué Related to Principles of the amount credit risk calculated with the Internal Ratings Based Approach, total expected loss 
amount exceeds the total provision - -
Gains arising from securitization transactions - -
Unrealized gains and losses due to changes in own credit risk on fair valued liabilities - -
Defined-benefit pension fund net assets - -
Direct and indirect investments of the Bank in its own Common Equity - -
Shares obtained contrary to the 4th clause of the 56th Article of the Law - -
Portion of the total of net long positions of investments made in equity items of banks and financial institutions outside the scope of 
consolidation where the Bank owns 10% or less of the issued common share capital exceeding 10% of Common Equity of the Bank - -
Portion of the total of net long positions of investments made in equity items of banks and financial institutions outside the scope of 
consolidation where the Bank owns 10% or more of the issued common share capital exceeding 10% of Common Equity of the Bank - -
Portion of mortgage servicing rights exceeding 10% of the Common Equity - -
Portion of deferred tax assets based on temporary differences exceeding 10% of the Common Equity  - -
Amount exceeding 15% of the common equity as per the 2nd clause of the Provisional Article 2 of the Regulation on the Equity of Banks - -
Excess amount arising from the net long positions of investments in common equity items of banks and financial institutions outside the 
scope of consolidation where the Bank owns 10% or more of the issued common share capital - -
Excess amount arising from mortgage servicing rights - -
 

Amount

The Amount 
Related to 

Application Prior
 to 1/1/2014*

Excess amount arising from deferred tax assets based on temporary differences - -
Other items to be Defined by the BRSA - -
Deductions to be made from common equity due to insufficient Additional Tier I Capital or Tier II 
Capital - -

Total Deductions from Common Equity Tier I Capital (17.400) -
Total Common Equity Tier I Capital 137.598 -

ADDITIONAL TIER I CAPITAL - -
Preferred stock not included in common equity Tier I Capital and the related share premiums - -
Debt instruments and premiums approved by BRSA - -
Debt instruments and premiums approved by BRSA (Temporary Article 4) - -

Additional Tier I Capital before Deductions - -
Deductions from Additional Tier I Capital - -

Direct and indirect investments of the Bank on its own Additional Tier I Capital (-) - -
Investments of Bank to Banks that invest in Bank’s additional equity and components of equity issued by financial institutions with 
compatible with Article 7. - -
Total of net long positions of the investments in equity items of banks and financial institutions where the Bank owns 10% or less of the 
issued share capital exceeding the 10% threshold of above Tier I Capital - -
The total of net long position of the direct or indirect investments in Additional Tier I Capital of 
banks and financial institutions where the Bank owns more than 10% of the issued share capital - -
Other Items to be defined by the BRSA - -

Transition from the Core Capital to Continue to deduce Components - -
Goodwill and other intangible assets and related deferred tax liabilities which will not deducted from Common Equity Tier 1 capital for 
the purposes of the first sub-paragraph of the Provisional Article 2 of the Regulation on Banks’ Own Funds (-) - -
Net deferred tax asset/liability which is not deducted from Common Equity Tier 1 capital for the purposes of the sub-paragraph of the 
Provisional Article 2 of the Regulation on Banks’ Own Funds (-) - -
Deductions to be made from common equity in the case that adequate Additional Tier I Capital or Tier II Capital is not available (-) - -

Total Deductions from Additional Tier I Capital - -
Total Additional Tier I Capital - -
Total Tier I Capital (Tier I Capital= Common Equity Tier I Capital + Additional Tier I Capital) 137.598 -

TIER II CAPITAL  1 -
Debt instruments and share issue premiums deemed suitable by the BRSA  - -
Debt instruments and share issue premiums deemed suitable by BRSA (Temporary Article 4) - -
Provisions (Article 8 of the Regulation on the Equity of Banks)  1 -

Tier II Capital Before Deductions - -
Deductions from Tier II Capital - -

Direct and indirect investments of the bank on its own Tier II Capital (-) - -
Investments of Bank to Banks that invest on Bank’s Tier 2 and components of equity issued by financial institutions with the conditions 
declared in Article 8. - -
Portion of the total of net long positions of investments made in equity items of banks and financial institutions outside the scope of 
consolidation where the Bank owns 10% or less of the issued common share capital exceeding 10% of Common Equity of the Bank (-) - -
Portion of the total of net long positions of investments made in Additional Tier I Capital item of banks and financial institutions outside 
the scope of consolidation where the Bank owns 10% or more of the issued common share capital exceeding 10% of Common Equity of 
the Bank - -
Other items to be defined by the BRSA (-) - -

Total Deductions from Tier II Capital - -
Total Tier II Capital  1 -
Total Capital (The sum of Tier I Capital and Tier II Capital)  137.599 -
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Amount

The Amount 
Related to 

Application Prior 
to 1/1/2014*

Total Capital (The sum of Tier I Capital and Tier II Capital) 137.599 -
Deductions from Capital Loans granted contrary to the 50th and 51th Article of the Law - -
Net Book Values of Movables and Immovables Exceeding the Limit Defined in the Article 57, Clause 1 of the Banking Law and the Assets 
Acquired against Overdue Receivables and Held for Sale but Retained more than Five Years - -
Other items to be defined by the BRSA - -

In transition from Total Core Capital and Supplementary Capital (the capital) to Continue to Download Components - -
The Sum of net long positions of investments (the portion which exceeds the 10% of Banks Common Equity) in the capital of banking, 
financial and insurance entities that are outside the scope of regulatory consolidation, where the bank does not own more than 10% of 
the issued common share capital of the entity which will not deducted from Common Equity Tier 1 capital, Additional Tier 1 capital, Tier 2 
capital for the purposes of the first paragraph of the Provisional Article 2 of the Regulation on Banks’ Own Funds - -
The Sum of net long positions of investments in the Additional Tier 1 capital and Tier 2 capital of banking, financial and insurance entities 
that are outside the scope of regulatory consolidation, where the bank does not own more than 10% of the issued common share capital 
of the entity which will not deducted from Common Equity Tier 1 capital, Additional Tier 1 capital, Tier 2 capital for the purposes of the first 
paragraph of the Provisional Article 2 of the Regulation on Banks’ Own Funds - -
The Sum of net long positions of investments in the common stock of banking, financial and insurance entities that are outside the scope 
of regulatory consolidation, where the bank does not own more than 10% of the issued common share capital of the entity, mortgage 
servicing rights, deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences which will not deducted from Common Equity Tier1 capital for the 
purposes of the first and second sub-paragraph of the first paragraph of the Provisional Article 2 of the Regulation on Banks’ Own Funds - -

CAPITAL - -
Total Capital (Total of Tier I Capital and Tier II Capital) 137.599 -
Total Risk Weighted Assets 98.662 -

CAPITAL ADEQUACY RATIOS - -
CET 1 Capital Ratio (%) 139,5 -
Tier I Capital Ratio (%)  139,5 -
Capital Adequacy Ratio (%)  139,5 -

BUFFERS - -
Total additional core capital requirement ratio 2,5 -
Capital conservation buffer requirement (%) 2,5 -
Bank specific countercyclical buffer requirement (%) - -
Additional CET 1 Capital Over Total Risk Weighted Assets Ratio Calculated According to the Article 4 of Capital Conservation and Counter-
Cyclical Capital Buffers Regulation - -
Amounts Lower than Excesses as per Deduction Rules - -
Remaining Total of Net Long Positions of the Investments in Equity Items of Banks and Financial Institutions where the Bank Owns 10% or 
less of the Issued Share Capital  - -
Remaining Total of Net Long Positions of the Investments in Tier I Capital of Banks and Financial Institutions where the Bank Owns more 
than 10% or less of the Issued Share Capital  - -
Remaining Mortgage Servicing Rights - -
Net Deferred Tax Assets arising from Temporary Differences - -

Limits for Provisions Used in Tier II Capital Calculation - -
General Loan Provisions for Exposures in Standard Approach (before limit of one hundred and twenty five per the thousand - -
General Loan Provisions for Exposures in Standard Approach Limited by 1.25% of Risk Weighted Assets - -
Total Loan Provision that Exceeds Total Expected Loss Calculated According to Comminique on Calculation of Credit Risk by Internal 
Ratings Based Approach - -
Total Loan Provision that Exceeds Total Expected Loss Calculated According to Comminique on Calculation of Credit Risk by Internal 
Ratings Based Approach, Limited by 0.6% Risk Weighted Assets - -

Debt Instruments Covered by Temporary Article 4 (effective between 1 January 2018-1 January 2022)
Upper Limit for Additional Tier I Capital Items subject to Temporary Article 4 - -
Amount of Additional Tier I Capital Items Subject to Temporary Article 4 that Exceeds Upper Limit - -
Upper Limit for Additional Tier II Capital Items subject to Temporary Article 4 - -
Amount of Additional Tier II Capital Items Subject to Temporary Article 4 that Exceeds Upper Limit - -

(*) Amounts considered within transition provisions.
 

Information on debt instruments to be included in equity calculation:

None. 

Necessary explanations in order to reach an agreement between the statement of shareholder’s equity 
and balance-sheet amounts: 

The main difference between the “Equity” amount given in the statement of equity and the “Equity” amount 
in the balance sheet arises from the general provisions. The portion of general provisions up to 1.25% of the 
amount subject to credit risk is considered as Additional Tier I Capital in the calculation of the “Equity” amount 
given in the statement of equity. Operating lease development costs, intangible assets and deferred tax 
liabilities associated with them, which are under the item of Tangible Assets in the balance sheet, are taken into 
account in the calculation as Value to be Deducted from the Capital in the calculation of the “Equity” amount.

Balance sheet total equity 154.998
Hedge funds (effective part) -

Discounts made within the scope of the regulation -

Tier I capital 154.998
Additional capital -

Additional tier I capital 154.998
Provision for expected loss -

Debt instruments approved by the institution -

Discounts made within the scope of the regulation (17.399)

Total equity 137.599

Information on items that are subject to temporary application in equity calculation:

None.

Information on debt instruments included in equity calculation: 

None.



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES GOLDEN GLOBAL BANK ANNUAL REPORT 2020100 101

GOLDEN GLOBAL YATIRIM BANKASI ANONİM ŞİRKETİ
EXPLANATION AND NOTES RELATED TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2020
(Unless otherwise stated amounts are expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL”)

GOLDEN GLOBAL YATIRIM BANKASI ANONİM ŞİRKETİ
EXPLANATION AND NOTES RELATED TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2020
(Unless otherwise stated amounts are expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL”)

II. Explanation on credit risk 

Credit Risk refers to the probability of loss that may be incurred due to the failure of the loan customer to fulfill 
its obligations partially or completely on time by not complying with the contractual requirements. There is no 
geographical limitation.

The Bank ensures the management of credit risk in accordance with the volume, nature and complexity of its 
activities and observing the best practices within the framework of legal regulations. It is essential to limit the 
risk levels with the limits compatible with the risk profile in order to prevent the Bank from being significantly 
affected by the negativities that may arise regarding the general loan portfolio. In this context, the Risk 
Capacity, Risk Limit and Early Warning Level determined by the Board of Directors are shared and evaluated 
with the Assets and Liabilities Committee and the Audit Committee.

In order to ensure efficiency in risk management, regular information is provided on the basis of informing the 
Senior Management about the developments in credit risk management and the results of the analyzes and 
studies conducted. 

On-balance sheet or off-balance sheet transactions that can be carried out by the Treasury Department; 
Maximum transaction amounts, open position limits, stop loss limits, borrowing amounts are monitored by 
the Risk Management Unit depending on the risk capacity, risk limit and early warning level parameters 
determined by the Bank within the framework of the Risk Appetite Policy.

The share of the bank’s receivables from the top 100 cash loan customers in the total cash loans portfolio is 
100%, respectively. (As of 31 December, there are 2 cash loan customers.)

The share of the Bank’s top 100 non-cash loan customers in the total non-cash loan portfolio is 100%, 
respectively. (As of 31 December, there are 6 non-cash loan customers.)
 
The share of the Bank’s cash and non-cash receivables from its top 100 loan customers in total cash and non-
cash assets is 100%, respectively. (As of 31 December 2020, there are 8 cash and non-cash loan customers.)

Risk Classes
Current Period 
Risk Amount (*)

Average 
Risk Amount (**)

Contingent and non-contingent receivables from central governments or central 
banks - -

Contingent and non-contingent receivables from regional or local governments - -

Contingent and non-contingent receivables from administrative units and non-
trade enterprises - -

Contingent and non-contingent receivables from multilateral development banks - -

Contingent and non-contingent receivables from international organizations - -

Contingent and non-contingent receivables from banks and brokerage houses 21.952  16.556 

Contingent and non-contingent corporate receivables 59.360  47.340 

Contingent and non-contingent retail receivables - -

Contingent and non-contingent receivables secured with real estate mortgages - -

Overdue receivables - -

Receivables determined as high risk by the Board - -

Mortgage securities - -

Securitization positions - -

Short-term receivables and short-term corporate receivables from banks and 
brokerage houses - -

Investments that qualify as a collective investment institution - -

Share investments - -

Other receivables - -

Total 81.312  63.896 

(*) Risk amounts before the credit risk mitigation and after the loan conversion rate are given. 
(**) Average risk amount was determined by taking the arithmetic average of the values in the monthly reports prepared within the framework of the 
Regulation on Measurement and Assessment of Capital Adequacy of Banks.
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2.1 Profile on Risks of Importance in Important Regions:

Current Period*  Domestic  

European 
Union 

Countries
 OECD 

Countries (**)  
Coastal 

Banking Zones
 USD, 

Canada   
Other 

Countries 

Associates, 
Subsidiary 
and Joint 

Ventures (**)

Undistributed 
Assets / 

Liabilities (***)  Total (****)  
1 - - - - - - - - -
2 - - - - - - - - -
3 - - - - - - - - -
4 - - - - - - - - -
5 - - - - - - - - -
6 21.952 - - - - - - - 21.952
7 55.673 3.687 - - - - - - 59.360
8 - - - - - - - - -
9 - - - - - - - - -
10 - - - - - - - - -
11 - - - - - - - - -
12 - - - - - - - - -
13 - - - - - - - - -
14 - - - - - - - - -
15 - - - - - - - - -
16 - - - - - - - - -
17 - - - - - - - - -
18 77.625 3.687 - - - - - - 81.312  

(*) Risk amounts before the credit risk mitigation and after the loan conversion rate are given. 
(**) OECD countries other than EU countries, USA and Canada. 
(***) Assets and liabilities that cannot be allocated to segments on a consistent basis 
(****) Risk classes included in the Regulation on Measurement and Assessment of Capital Adequacy of Banks

1 Contingent and non-contingent receivables from central governments or central banks
2 Contingent and non-contingent receivables from regional or local governments
3 Contingent and non-contingent receivables from administrative units and non-commercial enterprises
4 Contingent and non-contingent receivables from multilateral development banks
5 Contingent and non-contingent receivables from international organizations
6 Contingent and non-contingent receivables from banks and brokerage houses
7 Contingent and non-contingent corporate receivables
8 Contingent and non-contingent retail receivables
9 Contingent and non-contingent receivables secured with real estate mortgages
10 Overdue receivables
11 Receivables determined as high risk by the Board
12 Mortgage securities 
13 Securitization positions
14 Short-term receivables and short-term corporate receivables from banks and brokerage houses
15 Investments that qualify as a collective investment institution
16 Share investments 
17 Other receivables 
18 Total 
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2.3 Breakdown of Risks with Maturities by Their Remaining Maturities

  Time to Maturity 

Risk Classes - Current Period (*) 1 month 1-3 months 3-6 months 6 - 12 months
1 year 

and more
Contingent and non-contingent receivables from central governments 
or central banks  -  -  -  -  -
Contingent and non-contingent receivables from regional or local 
governments  -  -  -  -  -
Contingent and non-contingent receivables from administrative units 
and non-trade enterprises  -  -  -  -  -
Contingent and non-contingent receivables from multilateral 
development banks  -  -  -  -  -
Contingent and non-contingent receivables from international 
organizations  -  -  -  -  -
Contingent and non-contingent receivables from banks and 
brokerage houses 21.952  -  -  -  -
Contingent and non-contingent corporate receivables 3.687  -  - 55.673  -
Contingent and non-contingent retail receivables  -  -  -  -  -
Contingent and non-contingent receivables secured with real estate 
mortgages  -  -  -  -  -
Overdue receivables  -  -  -  -  -
Receivables determined as high risk by the Board  -  -  -  -  -
Mortgage securities  -  -  -  -  -
Securitization positions  -  -  -  -  -
Short-term receivables and short-term corporate receivables from 
banks and brokerage houses  -  -  -  -  -
Investments that qualify as a collective investment institution  -  -  -  -  -
Share investments  -  -  -  -  -
Other receivables  -  -  -  -  -
  -  -  -  -  -
Total 25.639  -  - 55.673  -

(*) Risk amounts before the credit risk mitigation and after the loan conversion rate are given. 

2.4 Risk Amounts According to Risk Weight

 0% 10% 20% 50% 75% 100% 150% 200% 250%
Deducted 

from Equity 

Amount Before Credit 
Risk Mitigation  -  - 21.952 15.280  - 44.080  -  -  -  -

Amount After Credit 
Risk Mitigation  -  - 21.952 15.280  - 44.080  -  -  -  -

III. Explanations on currency risk 

Currency risk refers to the probability of loss that banks may be exposed to due to changes in foreign 
exchange rates. While calculating the capital requirement for currency risk, all foreign currency assets, liabilities 
and forward foreign exchange transactions of the Bank are taken into consideration, and the value at risk is 
calculated with the standardized method.

Bank’s financial statement date and current foreign exchange buying rates announced to the public in the 
last five working days backwards from this date:

Euro USD
31 December 2020 31 December 2020

31 December 2020Foreign Exchange Buying Rate TL 9,0015 TL 7,3353
1st Day’s Buying Rate of Exchange TL 9,0015 TL 7,3353

2nd Day’s Buying Rate of Exchange TL 9,0634 TL 7,4011

3rd Day’s Buying Rate of Exchange TL 9,1306 TL 7,4686

4th Day’s Buying Rate of Exchange TL 9,1973 TL 7,5465

5th Day’s Buying Rate of Exchange TL 9,1973 TL 7,5465

The simple arithmetic average value of the Bank’s current foreign exchange buying rate for the last thirty-
one days backwards from the financial statement date:

Euro USD
31 December 2020 31 December 2020

Arithmetic average - 31 days TL 9,3956 TL 7,7257
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Information on the Bank’s currency risk:

Current Period Euro USD Other Total 
Assets     
Cash (Cash, Banknotes, Money in Transit, Purchased Checks) and Central Bank 1.407  15.928  8.926 26.261 
Banks  4.026 38.155 1 42.182
Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss - - - -
Receivables from Money Markets - - - -
Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income - - - -
Loans - 3.687 - 3.687
Associates, Subsidiary and Joint Ventures under Common control (Joint Ventures) - - - -
Financial Assets at Amortized Cost - - - -
Derivative Financial Assets for Hedging Purposes - - - -
Tangible Assets - - - -
Intangible Assets - - - -
Other Assets - 837 - 837 
Total Assets (*)  5.433 58.607   8.927 72.967
Liabilities     
Banks Deposits - - - -
Foreign Exchange Deposit Account - - - -
Payables to Money Markets - - - -
Funds from Other Financial Institutions - - - -
Securities Issued - - - -
Miscellaneous Payables (***) 1.675 22.208 - 23.883 
Derivative Financial Liabilities for Hedging Purposes - - - -
Other Liabilities 3.169  27.994 - 31.163
Total Liabilities 4.844  50.202 -  55.046
Net Balance Sheet Position  589  8.405 8.927 17.921
Net Off-Balance Sheet Position  -  -  -  -
Receivables from Derivative Financial Instruments - - - -
Payables from Derivative Financial Instruments - - - -
Non-Cash Loans (**)  -  -  -  -

Prior Period 
Total Assets  -  135.933 - 135.933
Total Liabilities   -  -  -  -
Net Balance Sheet Position  -   135.933  - 135.933
Net Off-Balance Sheet Position  -  -  -  -
Receivables from Derivative Financial Instruments  -  -  - -
Liabilities from Derivative Financial Instruments  -  -  -  -
Non-Cash Loans (**)  -  -  -  -

(*) The table above represents the Bank’s net foreign currency position in terms of major currency types.
(**) It has no effect on the net off-balance sheet position.
(***) Includes funds.

Sensitivity analysis to currency risk

As of 31 December 2020, under the assumption that TL depreciates by 10% against other currencies and all 
other variables remain the same, increase (decrease) in net profit for the period as a result of net foreign 
exchange gain / (loss) arising from assets and liabilities in foreign currency are presented below.

Current Period  Income - (Expense)  Equity 
Euro   59 59 

USD 841   841 

Other   893 893 
 
IV. Explanations on share position risk 

There is no position risk of equity instruments arising from banking accounts.

V. Explanations on the liquidity risk management and liquidity coverage ratio

The liquidity risk of the Bank is the risk of being unable to fulfill its payment obligations on time due to not 
having enough cash sources or cash inflows to finance its cash outflows fully and on time due to cash flow 
instabilities.

Liquidity risk may also occur when the market penetration is not adequate, when the open positions cannot be 
closed quickly at suitable prices and sufficient amounts due to barriers and break-ups at the markets.

In order to avoid liquidity risk, the Bank covers the placements made to domestic banks with loans from foreign 
countries, the maturity match is observed between assets and liabilities, and liquid assets are preserved in 
order to fully meet the liquidity needs that may arise as a result of market fluctuations.
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5.1 Presentation of assets and liabilities according to their remaining maturities

31 December 2020 Demand 
Up to 

1 Month 1-3 Months 3-12 Months 1-5 Years 
5 Years 

and Over Undistributed (*) Total 

Assets 

Cash and Balances with the Central Bank 
of the Republic of Turkey 27.301 402 - - - - - 27.703

Banks  13.962 109.761 - - - - - 123.723

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through 
Profit and Loss - - - - - - - -

Receivables from Money Markets - - - - - - - -

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through 
Other Comprehensive Income - - - - - - - -

Loans Given - 3.687 - 40.393 - - - 44.080

Financial Assets Valued at Amortized 
Cost Value - - - - - - - -

Other Assets (*) - - - - - - 23.950 23.950

Total Assets 41.263 113.850 - 40.393 - - 23.950 219.456

Liabilities 

Interbank Deposits - - - - - - - -

Other Deposits - - - - - - - -

Funds Provided from Other 

Financial Institutions  - - - - - - - -

Money Market Borrowings - - - - - - - -

Issued Marketable Securities - - - - - - - -

Miscellaneous Payables 24.212 - - - - - - 24.212

Other Liabilities (**) 36.135 476 134 603 1.433 - 156.463 195.244

Total Liabilities 60.347 476 134 603 1.433 - 156.463 219.456

Long Position in the Balance Sheet - 113.374 - 39.790 - - - 153.164

Short Position in the Balance Sheet (19.084) - (134) - (1.433) - (132.511) (153.164)

Net Off-Balance Sheet Position - - - - - - - -

Financial Derivative Assets - - - - - - - -

Financial Derivative Liabilities - - - - - - - -

Non-cash Loans - - - 402 - - 30.157 30.559

Total Position (19.084) 113.374 (134) 39.790 (1.433) - (132.513) -

(*) Other assets which are required for banking operations and could not be converted into cash in short-term, such as; fixed assets, associates, 
subsidiaries, property holdings, prepaid expenses and non-performing loans are presented in this line.
(**) Equity is presented under “Undistributed” in “Other liabilities”. 

Representation of the contracted amounts of financial liabilities according to their remaining maturities:

Current Period Up to 1 Month 1-3 Months 3-12 Months 1-5 Years
5 Years 

and More Total 

Banks deposit - - - - - -

Other deposit - - - - - -

Funds from other financial 
institutions - - - - - -

Payables to money market - - - - - -

Finance lease payables 61 136 601 1.433 - 2.231

Total 61 136 601 1.433 - 2.231

Contract-based maturity analysis of the Bank’s derivative instruments:

 Up to 1 Month 1-3 Months 3-12 Months 1-5 Years
5 Years 

and More Total

Derivative financial assets 
held for trading - - - - - -

Currency derivatives: - - - - - -

Additions - - - - - -

Disposals - - - - - -

Hedging assets - - - - - -

Currency derivatives: - - - - - -

Additions - - - - - -

Disposals - - - - - -

Total Cash Inflow - - - - - -

Total Cash Outflow - - - - - -

Securitization positions: None.
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Credit risk mitigation techniques:

Risk Class Amount 
Financial 

Guarantees

Other / 
Physical 

Guarantees

Guarantees 
and Credit 

Derivatives

Contingent and Non-contingent Receivables from 
Central Governments or Central Banks - - - -

Contingent and Non-Contingent Receivables from 
Regional or Local Governments - - - -

Contingent and Non-Contingent Receivables from 
Administrative Units and Non-Trade Enterprises - - - -

Contingent and Non-Contingent Receivables from 
Multilateral Development Banks - - - -

Contingent and Non-Contingent Receivables from 
International Organizations - - - -

Contingent and Non-Conditional Receivables from 
Banks and Brokerage Houses - - - -

Contingent and Non-Contingent Corporate Receivables -

Contingent and Non-Contingent Retail Receivables - - - -

Contingent and Non-Contingent Receivables Secured 
by Real Estate Mortgages - - - -

Overdue Receivables - - - -

Receivables Determined as High Risk by the Board - - - -

Mortgaged Securities - - - -

Securitization Positions - - - -

Short-Term Receivables and Short-Term Corporate 
Receivables From Banks and Brokerage Houses - - - -

Investments in the Nature of a Collective Investment 
Firm - - - -

Other Receivables - - - -

Total - - - -
 

Liquidity Coverage Ratio

Current Period 31 December 2020
Total Unweighted 

Value *
Total Weighted 

Value *
 TL+FC FC TL+FC FC 
HIGH QUALITY LIQUID ASSETS 
1 High Quality Liquid Assets 121.488 46.629 121.488 46.629

CASH OUTFLOWS 
2 Retail and Small Business Customers, of which; 1.711 1.500 1.711 1.500

3 Stable deposits - - - -

4 Less stable deposits - - - -

5 Unsecured wholesale funding, of which; - - - -

6 Operational deposit - - - -

7 Non-operational deposits - - - -

8 Other unsecured funding - - - -

9 Secured funding 22.704 16.960 22.704 16.960

10 Other cash outflows, of which; - - - -

11 Derivatives cash outflow and liquidity needs related to market valuation 
changes on derivatives or other transactions 4.854 1.967 4.854 1.967

12 Obligations related to structured financial products - - - -

13 Commitments related to debts to financial markets and other off-balance 
sheet obligations - - - -

14 Other revocable off-balance sheet commitments and contractual 
obligations - - - -

15 Other irrevocable or conditionally revocable off-balance sheet obligations - - - -

16 TOTAL CASH OUTFLOWS 29.269 20.427 29.269 20.427
CASH INFLOWS   
17 Secured lending - - - -

18 Unsecured lending 73.433 416 73.433 416

19 Other cash inflows - - - -

20  TOTAL CASH INFLOWS 73.433 416 73.433 416
 
21 TOTAL HQLA STOCK 121.488 46.629
22 TOTAL NET CASH OUTFLOWS 29.269 20.427
23 LIQUIDITY COVERAGE RATIO (%) 415%  228%

(*) The average of last one month’s liquidity coverage ratio calculated by weekly simple averages.

With the “Liquidity Coverage Ratio” prepared within the framework of the “Regulation on Calculation of the 
Liquidity Coverage Ratio of Banks” published by the BRSA, the balance between banks’ net cash outflows and 
high quality liquid asset stock is measured.
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The bank’s high quality liquid asset stock comprise cash values and debt instruments issued by the R.T. Central 
Bank and the R.T. Undersecretariat of Treasury.

The important fund resources of the Bank are funds obtained from deposits and other financial institutions.

As of the report date, the average for the last 3-month period was 228% in foreign currency, and 415 % in total.

VI. Explanation on leverage ratio 

The Regulation sentenced the minimum leverage as 3%.

Leverage Ratio 

Balance sheet assets  Current Period (*) 
1 On-balance sheet items (excluding derivative financial instruments and credit derivatives but 

including collateral) 206.433 
2 Assets deducted in determining Tier 1 capital (21.686) 
3 Total on-balance sheet risks 184.747
 Derivative financial instruments and credit derivatives  
4 Replacement cost associated with all derivative financial instruments and credit derivatives -
5 Potential risk amount associated with all derivative financial instruments and credit derivatives -
6 Total risks of derivative financial instruments and credit derivatives  3.825 
 Securities or commodity financing transactions 
7 Risks from SCFT assets (excluding on-balance sheet) -
8 Risks from brokerage activities related exposures -
9 Total risks related with securities or commodity financing transactions -
 Other off-balance sheet transactions 
10 Gross notional amounts of off-balance sheet transactions 29.566
11 Adjustments for conversion to credit equivalent amounts -
12 Total risks of off-balance sheet items  -
 Capital and total risks 
13 Tier 1 capital  139.767 
14 Total risks  218.138 
 Leverage ratio 
15 Leverage ratio  64,19 

(*) The amounts in the table are calculated by using the quarterly average amounts.

VII. Explanations on financial assets and liabilities at fair value 

a) Fair value calculations of financial assets and liabilities:

The fair value of held-to-maturity investments is determined based on market prices or, in cases where this 
price cannot be determined, on the basis of quoted market prices for other securities subject to the same 
redemption in terms of dividends, maturity and other similar conditions.

The estimated fair value of the demand borrower funds represents the amount to be paid upon request. The 
fair value of floating rate placements and overnight deposits represents the carrying value. The estimated 
fair value of the borrower with fixed dividend payments is calculated by determining the discounted cash flow 
using the market dividend rates applied to similar loans and other debts.

The total fair value of the securities issued is calculated based on quoted market prices, and where there is no 
market price, a discounted cash flow model based on current return is used for the remaining maturity.

The fair value of loans is calculated by finding discounted cash flows using current market profit share rates for 
fixed profit share loans. The carrying value of variable profit share loans represents their fair value.

The table below represents the carrying value and fair value of some financial assets and liabilities. Carrying 
value represents the sum of the acquisition cost of the related assets and liabilities and the accumulated 
dividend rediscounts.

Carrying Value Fair Value 
31 December 2020 31 December 2020

Financial Assets 
Due from Banks  123.723  123.723 
Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income  -  -
Financial Assets at Amortized Cost 44.080 44.080

Loans Given (*) 44.080 44.080
Financial Liabilities 
Borrower Funds 499 499
Funds 23.713 23.713
Finance Lease Payables 2.231 2.231
Funds From Other Financial Institutions (*)  -  -
Securities Issued  -  -
Other Liabilities  36.134  36.134 

(*) It is considered that the carrying value reflects the fair value since the maturities of the Loans and Financial Liabilities are mainly less than 1 year.
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b) Fair value classifications:

TFRS 7 determines a classification of valuation techniques according to the observability of the data used in 
valuation techniques, which are the basis for fair value calculations.

The aforementioned classification of fair value is formed as follows.

a) Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1);

b) Data excluding registered prices in Level 1 and that can be observed directly (through prices) or indirectly 
(derived from prices) in terms of assets or payables (Level 2)

c) Data not based on observable market data regarding assets or liabilities (Level 3).

According to the aforementioned principles, the fair value order of the financial assets and liabilities that the 
Bank stated at fair value is given in the table below:

Current Period - 31 December 2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit 
or Loss - - - -
- Government Debt Securities - - - -
- Securities Representing Share in Capital - - - -
- Derivative Financial Assets For Trading - - - -
- Other Securities - - - -
Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other 
Comprehensive Income - - - -
- Securities Representing Share in Capital - - - -

Total Assets - - - -

Derivative Financial Liabilities - - - -
Total Liabilities - - - -

There is no transition between Level 1 and Level 2 in the current year.

VIII. Explanations on Risk Management  

Notes and explanations prepared in accordance with “the Communiqué on Disclosures about Risk 
Management to Be Announced to Public by Banks” published in Official Gazette no. 29511 on 23 October 2015 
by BRSA and became effective as of 31 March 2017 are presented in this section. The following tables, which 
should be given in six-month periods in accordance with the relevant communiqué, are not presented as of 31 
December 2020, as the standard approach is used in the capital adequacy calculation of the Bank:

RWA flow statements of credit  risk exposures under IRB (Internal Rating-Based) approach 
RWA flow statement of CCR exposures under Internal Model Method (IMM)
RWA flow statements of market risk exposures under an IMA

Overview of Risk Weighted Amounts
  

 Risk Weighted Amount 
Minimum Capital 

Requirement
 Current Period Current Period 
Credit risk (excluding counterparty credit risk)  81.312 6.505
   Standardised approach  81.312 6.505
   Internal rating-based approach - -
Counterparty credit risk - -
   Standardised approach for counterparty credit risk  - -
   Internal model method  - -
Basic risk weight approach to internal models equity position in the banking account - -
Investments made in Collective Investment Companies-look through approach - -
Investments made in co Collective Investment Companies - mandate-based approach  - -
Investments made in Collective Investment Companies -1250% weighted risk approach  - -
Settlement risk  - -
Securitization positions in banking accounts - -
   IRB ratings-based approach  - -
   IRB Supervisory Formula approach  - -
   SA/simplified supervisory formula approach  - -
Market risk  17.350 1.388
   Standardised approach  17.350 1.388
   Internal model approaches  - -
Operational risk  - -
   Basic Indicator approach  - -
   Standard approach  - -
   Advanced measurement approach  - -
The amount of the discount threshold under the equity (subject to a 250% risk weight) - -
Floor adjustment - -

Total 98.662 7.893
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Credit Risk Disclosures

General information on Credit Risk

General qualitative information on credit risk

Credit risk management, measurement and monitoring activities are carried out within the scope of credit risk 
appetite. Credit risk appetite shows the level of risk that the Bank wants to bear in order to achieve its budget 
targets, taking into account the risk capacity of the Bank.

The Bank carries out the activities of defining, evaluating, monitoring, controlling and reducing credit risks 
under the supervision of the Board of Directors.

Credit quality of assets

The gross amount valued in 
accordance with TAS in the 
legal financial statements

Default Not Default

Provisions / 
depreciation

and impairment Net value 
Loans - 153.841 - 153.841
Debt Instruments - - - -
Off-Balance Sheet Receivables - - - -
Total - 153.841 - 153.841

Changes in the inventories of default receivables and debt securities

There is no change in the bank’s default receivables and debt securities inventories.

Additional explanations on credit quality of assets:

a) The scope and definitions of “overdue” receivables and receivables “provided for” used for accounting 
purposes and differences between the definitions of “overdue” and “provided for”, if any

The Bank does not have any “overdue” receivables.

b) The part of overdue receivables (those with more than 90 days) that are not considered as “provided 
for” and the reasons for this application

The Bank does not have any “overdue” receivables.

a) Definitions of the methods used in determining the provision amount

The general provision amount is determined in line with the rules stated in the “Regulation on Procedures and 
Principles for Determination of Qualifications of Loans and Other Receivables by Banks and Provisions to be 
Set Aside”

b) Definitions of restructured receivables

The Bank does not have any restructured receivables.

c) Breakdown of receivables by geography, region, sector and remaining maturity

 Current Period
 TL (%) FC (%)
Agriculture - - - -

Farming and Livestock - - - -
Forestry - - - -
Fishery - - - -

Industry - - - -
Mining and Quarrying - - - -
Manufacturing Industry - - - -
Electricity, Gas, Water - - - -

Construction - - - -
Services - - - -

Wholesale and Retail Trade - - - -
Hotel and Restaurant Services - - - -
Transport and Communications - - - -
Financial Institutions - - - -
Real Estate and Rental Services - - - -
Self-Employment Services - - - -
Education Services - - - -
Health and Social Services - - - -

Other 40.393 33% 3.687 12%
Total 40.393 33% 3.687 12%

f) Amounts of receivables (according to the definition used by the bank in terms of accounting) and 
related provisions and the amount deleted from assets on the basis of geographical regions and sector

There is no amount to be allocated for provision.
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g) Aging analysis for overdue receivables

The Bank does not have any overdue receivables.

h) Breakdown of restructured receivables according to whether provision has been allocated or not

The bank does not have any restructured receivables.

Credit risk mitigation 

Information to be disclosed to the public on credit risk mitigation techniques

On-balance sheet and off-balance sheet netting is not used in the Bank.

Credit risk mitigation tecniques

 

Unsecured  
receivables: 
TAS valued  

amount 

Receivables  
secured by  
guarantee 

Collateralized 
portions of 

collateralized 
receivables 

Receivables  
protected 

by financial  
guarantees 

Collateralized 
portions of 
receivables 

protected 
by financial  
guarantees 

Loans 
protected 
by credit 

derivatives 

Collateralized 
portions of 
receivables 

protected 
by credit 

derivatives 

Loans 153.841 - - - - - -

Debt instruments - - - - - - -

Total 153.841 - - - - - -

Defaulted - - - - - - -

Credit risk in case of using standard approach

Explanations on the rating grades used by banks when calculating credit risk with a standard approach

Risk weight of 0% is applied to the receivables in TL from Republic of Turkey Central Administration or Republic 
of Turkey Central Bank. 

Exposure to Credit Risk and Credit Risk Mitigation Effects

The credit conversion rate  
and the credit amount before 

the credit risk reduction 

The credit conversion rate 
 and the credit amount after 

the credit risk reduction

Risk weighted 
amount and risk weighted 

amount density 

Risk Classes
On-balance

 sheet amount 
Off-balance 

sheet amount 
On-balance 

sheet amount 
Off-balance

 sheet amount 
Risk weighted 

amounts
Risk weighted 

amount density

Receivables from central government or 
central banks - - - - - -

Receivables from regional or local 
governments - - - - - -

Receivables from administrative units and 
non-commercial enterprises - - - - - -

Multilateral development receivables 
from banks - - - - - -

Receivables from international 
organizations - - - - - -

Receivables from banks and intermediary 
institutions 109.761  -  109.761  -  21.952 -

Corporate receivables  44.080  30.559  44.080  30.559  59.360 -

Retail receivables - - - - - -

Receivables secured with real estate 
mortgage for residence - - - - - -

Receivables secured by real estate 
mortgage - - - - - -

Delayed receivables - - - - - -

Receivables determined as with high-risk 
by the Board - - - - - -

Mortgage-backed securities - - - - - -

Short-term receivables from banks and 
intermediary institutions and short-term 
corporate receivables - - - - - -

Investments in the nature of collective 
investment enterprise - - - - - -

Other receivables - - - - - -

Equity investments - - - - - -

Total 153.841 30.559  153.841 30.559  81.312 -
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Receivables related with Risk Classes and Risk Weights

Risk Classes/ Risk Weight 0% 10% 20% 50% 75% 100% 150% 200% Others

Total risk 
amount 

(post-CCF 
and CRM) 

Exposures to sovereigns and their 
central banks - - - - - - - - - -

Exposures to regional and local 
government - - - - - - - - - -

Exposures to administrative bodies and 
non-commercial entities - - - - - - - - - -

Exposures to multilateral development 
banks - - - - - - - - - -

Exposures to international organizations - - - - - - - - - -

Exposures to banks and brokerage 
houses - - - - - - - - - -

Exposures to corporates - - -  30.559 -  44.080 - - -  59.360 

Retail exposures - - - - - - - - -  -

Exposures secured by residential 
property - - - - - - - - -  -

Exposures secured by commercial 
property - - - - - - - - -  -

Past-due items - - - - - - - - -  -

Receivables determined as with high-
risk by the Board - - - - - - - - -  -

Exposures in the form of bonds secured 
by mortgages - - - - - - - - -  -

Short term exposures to banks, 
brokerage houses and corporates - -  109.761 - - - - - -  21.952 

Exposures in the form of collective 
investment undertakings - - - - - - - - -  -

Equity share investments - - - - - - - - -  -

Other Receivables - - - - - - - - -  -

 -

Total  -  -  109.761  30.559  -  44.080  -  -  -  81.312 

Counterparty credit risk disclosures

While determining the counterparty credit risk limits, the Bank takes into account the results of the credit 
worthiness analysis of loans and other receivables and their effects on the existing capital adequacy, and 
applies the risk limit allocations at least once a year within the framework of these principles.

The Bank does not have any collaterals for counterparty credit risk as of 31 December 2020.

As of 31 December 2020, the Bank does not have a risk amount related to the reverse trend risk.

As of 31 December 2020, the Bank does not have any protections made with loan derivatives.

Capital Requirement for Loan Valuation Adjustments

None.

Evaluation of counterparty credit risk according to measurement methods

None.

Counterparty credit risk according to risk classes and risk weights

None.

Collaterals used for counterparty credit risk

None.

Loan derivatives

None.

Risks to Central Counterparty

None.

IX. Explanations on securitization

There are no securitization transactions.
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X. Qualitative information on market risk 

Notes and explanations prepared in accordance with “the Communiqué on Disclosures about Risk 
Management to Be Announced to Public by Banks” published in Official Gazette no. 29511 on 23 October 2015 
by BRSA and became effective as of 30 June 2017 are presented in this section. The following tables, which 
should be given in six-month periods in accordance with the relevant communiqué, are not presented as of 31 
December 2020, as the standard approach is used in the capital adequacy calculation of the Bank:

- RAW flow statements  of credit  risk exposures under IRB (Internal Rating-Based) approach 
- RWA flow statement of CCR exposures under Internal Model Method (IMM)
- RWA flow statements of market risk exposures under an IMA

 RAT
Direct (cash) products

Interest rate risk (general and specific) -

Share risk (general and specific) -

Currency risk 17.350

Commodity risk -

Options 
Simplified approach -

Delta-plus method -

Scenario approach -

Securitization -

Total 17.350
 

XI. Transactions made on behalf and account of others, transactions based on faith

The bank provides custody, management and consultancy services on behalf and account of the customer. 
Such transactions are followed in off-balance sheet accounts.

XII. Explanations on operational risk

The amount subject to operational risk is calculated and reported with the “Basic Indicator Method” included in 
the “Regulation on Measurement and Assessment of Capital Adequacy of Banks”, the updated version of which 
was published in the Official Gazette dated 23 October 2015 and numbered 29511 and entered into force as of 
31 March 2016.

Operational risk has not been taken into account in the calculations within the scope of “Capital adequacy 
standard ratio” stated in Note I of this section, since the Bank was newly established. Therefore, as of 31 
December 2020, there is no operational risk that may be exposed.

XIII. Explanations on profit share rate risk in banking account:

The economic value differences arising from the fluctuations in the profit share rates in accordance with the 
regulation on the measurement and evaluation of the profit share rate risk arising from banking accounts with 
the standard shock method: 

Row Currency 
Shock Applied 

(+ / - X Base Points) Gains / Losses 
 Gains / Equity 
Losses / Equity  

1 TL (+) 500 162 0,1%

2 TL (-)  400 (151) -0,1%

 Total (for Negative Shocks)  162 0,1%
 Total (for Positive Shocks)  (151) -0,1%

XIV. Explanations on operating segments 

The Bank operates in the field of corporate banking and treasury transactions within its core banking services.
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Information on the business segments of the Bank: 

Representation of certain financial statement items by business segments:

Current Period 

1 January 2020 - 31 December 2020
Private 

Banking 
Corporate

 Banking 
Investment 

Banking Other
Total Activity 

of the Bank 

Operating income - -            34.953  -            34.953  

Operating expenses (-) - -              23.760    -              23.760    

Transfers between segments - -                 -      -                 -      

Net operating profit / loss - -           6.685    -           6.685    

Net Price Commission income/expense - - 817 - 817

Trade Profit and Loss 26.876 26.876

Other Operating income/expense - - (23.185) - (23.185)

Income from associates - -                -      -                -      

Profit Before Tax - -         11.193    -         11.193    

Tax Provision - - -1.602    - -1.602    

Net Profit for the Period - -           9.591    -           9.591    

Current Period 31 December 2020

Segment Assets  - -        219.456     -        219.456    

Undistributed assets  - -                 -       -                 -      

Total Assets  - -       219.456     -        219.456    

Segment Liabilities  - -          64.458     -          64.458    

Undistributed Liabilities  - - -  - - 

Equity  - -        154.998     -        154.998    

Total Liabilities  - -       219.456     -        219.456    

 

SECTION FIVE
Explanations and notes related to the financial statements 

I. Explanations and notes related to the assets

a) Information on cash and balances with the Central Bank of Turkey:

1) Information on Cash and balance with the Central Bank of Turkey:

 31 December 2020 31 December 2019
 TL FC TL FC
Cash/Effective 1.335 16.932 4 -

Central Bank of Turkey 107 403 - -

Other - 8.926 - -

Total 1.442 26.261 4 -

2) Information on the Central Bank of Turkey:

31 December 2020
TL FC

Unrestricted Demand Deposit - -

Unrestricted Time Deposit 107 1

Restricted Time Deposit - -

Required Provision Account - 402

Total 107 403

(31 December 2019 - None)

3) Explanation on Required Provisions: 

Banks established in Turkey or operating in Turkey by means of opening branches are subject to the Republic 
of Turkey Central Bank’s Communiqué Regarding Required Provisions No. 2015/19. Except for the obligations 
to the Central Bank, the Treasury, domestic banks and the headquarters and branches of the banks in Turkey 
established by international agreement, based on the accounting standards and recording order that banks 
and companies are subject to, the items specified in the communiqué constitute the obligations subject to 
reserve requirements.
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According to the “Communiqué Regarding Required Provisions No. 2013/15” of the Centrak Bank of Turkey, 
the Bank maintains required reserves at the Centrak Bank of Turkey for Turkish lira (TL) and foreign currency 
(FC) liabilities. Required provisions can be kept in Turkish Lira, USD, EUR and standard gold according to the 
“Communiqué on Required Provisions” at the Centrak Bank of Turkey. The valid rates for Turkish lira required 
reserves are between 1% and 6% depending on the maturity structure; the valid rates for foreign currency 
required reserves are between 5% and 22% depending on the maturity structure. Centrak Bank pays dividends 
to the part of required reserves held in TL and USD.

b) Information on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
 
I. Information on financial assets at fair value through profit and loss given as collateral or blocked:

None.

II. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and subject to repurchase agreements: 

None.

III. Positive differences related to derivative financial assets:

None.

c) Information on banks:

Information on banks and other financial institutions:

 31 December 2020 31 December 2019
 TL FC TL FC
Banks     

Domestic 81.541 40.924 144 135.933

Foreign - 1.258 - - 

Total 81.541 42.182 144 135.933

d) Information on financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income:

1) Information on financial assets whose fair value difference is reflected to other comprehensive income 
given as collateral/blocked:

None.

2) Information on financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income:

None.

3) Information on financial assets at fair value difference through other comprehensive income given as 
collateral/blocked:

None.

e) Information on loans:

1) Information on the balance of all kinds of loans or advances given to the partners and members of the 
Bank:

None.

2) Information on first and second group loans, other receivables and loans and other receivables that are 
restructured or rescheduled:

i)

Cash Loans Standard Quality Loans
Loans Under Close Monitoring

Those not 
Included in 

the Scope of 
Restructuring Restructured

Change in 
Contract 

Conditions Refinancing
Non-Specialized Loans - - - -
Business Loans - - - -
Export Loans - - - -
Import Loans - - - -
Financial Loans - - - -
Consumer Loans - - - -
Credit Cards - - - -
Other 3.687 - - -
Specialized Loans 40.393 - - -
Other Receivables - - - -
Total 44.080 - - -
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ii)

Number of Changes Regarding Extension of the Payment Plan

Standard 
Loans and Other 

Receivables

Loans and Other 
Receivables under 

Close Monitoring
Extended 1 or 2 times - -

Extended 3, 4 or 5 times - -

Extended more than 5 times - -

iii)

Extended Time With Payment Plan Change

Standard 
Loans and Other 

Receivables

Loans and Other 
Receivables under 

Close Monitoring
0-6 Months - -

6– 12 Months - -

1-2 Years - -

2-5 Years - -

5 Years and More - -

Total - -

3) Information on consumer loans, personal credit cards and personnel credit cards:

None (31 December 2019: None).

4) Information on commercial installement loans and corporate credit cards:

None (31 December 2019: None).

5) Distribution of loans according to users:

31 December 2020
Public  - 

Private 44.080

Total 44.080 

6) Distribution of domestic and foreign loans:

31 December 2020
Domestic Loans  40.393

Foreign Loans 3.687

Total 44.080 

(31 December 2019: None)

7) Loans granted to investments in subsidiaries and associates:

None (31 December 2019: None).

8) Special provisions for loans:

31 December 2020 31 December 2019
Made for Loans with Limited Collection - -

Made for Doubtful Loans (*) - -

Made for Loss Loans - -

Total - -
(*) The Bank has been exempted from TFRS 9 application since it was newly established and due to the requirement for the credit history to be 
known in order to determine the expected loss provision.

9) Information on non-performing loans:

(i) Information on non-performing loans restructured or rescheduled and other receivables: 

None (31 December 2019: None).

(ii) Information on the movement of total non-performing loans:

None (31 December 2019: None).

(iii) Information on non-performing loans granted as foreign currency loans:

None (31 December 2019: None).
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(iv) Breakdown of non-performing loans according to their gross and net values: 

None (31 December 2019: None).

10) Main guidelines for liquidation process of uncollectible loans and other receivables: 

Loans and other receivables, which were deemed impossible to be collected in accordance with the principles 
of the “ Regulation on the Procedures and Principles Regarding Classification of Loans and Provisions to be 
Reserved” published in the Official Gazette dated 1 November 2006 and numbered 26333, are classified as loan 
qualified as loss by fulfilling the requirements of the Tax Procedure Law.

11) Explanations on wirte-off policy:

As a result of the follow-up transactions, non-performing loans that are uncollectible are written off from assets 
with the decision of the Board of Directors.

12) Other explanations:

Loans by maturity

31 December 2020
Short-term  3.687

Medium and Long-term 40.393

Total 44.080 

f) Information on financial assets measured at amortised cost:

g) Information on financial assets measured at amortised cost:

None (31 December 2019: None).

1) Information on financial assets measured at amortised cost:

None (31 December 2019: None).

2) Movements of financial assets measured at amortised cost during the year:
None (31 December 2019: None).

3) Main characteristics of financial assets measured at amortised cost given as collateral:

None (31 December 2019: None).

4) Financial assets measured at amortised cost subject to repo transactions:

None (31 December 2019: None).
 
h) Information on associates (Net):

Title
Address

 (City / Country)

If the Bank’s share
 rate is different, 

voting rate (%)
Bank risk group 

share rate (%)
- - - -

(31 December 2019: None).

i) Information on subsidiaries (Net): 

Title
Address

 (City / Country)

If the Bank’s share
 rate is different, 

voting rate (%)
Bank risk group 

share rate (%)
- - - -

(31 December 2019: None).

j) Information on entities under common control (joint ventures):

None (31 December 2019: None).

k) Information on lease receivables (Net):

None (31 December 2019: None).

l) Information on the hedging derivative financial assets:
 
None (31 December 2019: None).
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m) Information on tangible assets: 

 
Machinery 

and equipment
Fixtures 

and furniture Vehicles 
Other tangible 

assets 
Right-of-

use assets Total

Cost      

As of 1 January 2020 305 809 - 303 -  1.417 

Additions 296 2 80 1.090 2.863  4.331 

Disposals (-)   - - -  - - -

As of 31 December 2020 601 811 80 1.393 2.863  5.748 

Accumulated depreciation      

As of 1 January 2020 62 159 - 66 - 287

Depreciation 42 159 7 126 747 1.081 

Disposals (-) - - - - - -

As of 31 December 2020 104 318 7 192 747 1.368 

      

As of 1 January 2020. net 243 650 - 237 -  1.130 

As of 31 December 2020. net 497 493 73 1.201 2.116   4.380 

a) The Impairment Provision Set or Cancelled in The Current Period According to The Asset Groups Not 
Individually Significant but Materially Affecting The Overall Financial Statements, and The Reason and 
Conditions for This: None

b) Pledges, mortgages and other restrictions on tangible fixed assets, the amount of expenses incurred during 
construction for tangible fixed assets, commitments made for the purchase of tangible fixed assets: None. 

n) Explanations on intangible assets: 

 
Software programs 

and intangible rights
Cost  

As of 1 January 2020 4.946

Additions 17.345

Disposals (-) -

As of 31 December 2020 22.291
Accumulated depreciation  
As of 1 January 2020 1.290

Amortization 3.601

Disposals (-) -

As of 31 December 2020 4.891
  
As of 1 January 2020. net 3.656
As of 31 December 2020. net 17.400

a) If there is an intangible asset that is significant for the financial statements as a whole, its carrying value, 
description and remaining depreciation period: None.

b) Information on intangible assets, if any, acquired within the scope of government incentives and recognized 
at their fair value at the initial recognition: None.

o) Explanations on investment properties:

None (31 December 2019: None).
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p) Explanation on deferred tax assets:

As of 31 December 2020, the Bank has calculated a deferred tax liability amounting to TL 566.

 

Accumulated 
temporary 
differences

Deferred tax 
asset/(liability)

 31 December 2020 31 December 2020
Valuation differences 690 138

Differences between the carrying value of tangible and 
intangible fixed assets and tax base (3.653) (731)

Differences resulting from the application of TFRS 16 136 27

Deferred tax liabilities, Net (2.827) (566)

(31 December 2019: None)

The deferred tax asset/liability movement is as follows:

 31 December 2020
Opening balance -
Deferred tax (expense)/income recognized in profit or loss, (net) (566)

Deferred tax (expense)/income recognized in equity, (net) -

Other -

Closing balance (566)
 
f) Explanation on non-current assets held for sale and related to discountinued operations: 

None (31 December 2019: None).

g) Explanations on current tax assets: 

The Bank has a corporate tax provision of 1.036 TL as of December 31, 2020, and the total amount of data paid 
in advance during the year is 1.868 TL. There is 832 TL temporary corporate tax receivables after netting (31 
December 2019: None). 

h) Information on other assets:

 31 December 2020
TL FC

Cash Guarantees Given  - 734

Other Prepaid Expense 277 -

Deposits Given 200 -

Withheld Income Taxes 24 -

Other - 103

Total 501 837

(31 December 2019: None)

II. Explanations and notes related to the liabilities 

a) Information on deposit:

The bank is an investment bank, it does not accept deposits.

b) Information on loans received:

1. Information on banks and other financial institutions:

None (31 December 2019: None).

2. Maturities of loans borrowings:

None (31 December 2019: None).

c) Information on derivative financial liabilities:

None (31 December 2019: None).
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d) Information on other liabilities: 

Distribution of transactions that make up the Other Liabilities item of the balance sheet;

 31 December 2020
TL FC

Free Transfer Payables 3.866 25.664

Foreign Trade Transfer Payables 25 5.202

Other 1.080 297

Total 4.971 31.163

(31 December 2019: None)

e) Information on lease obligations: 

 Gross Net
More than 1 Year 998 798

1-4 Years 1.627 1.433

More than 4 Years - -

Total 2.625 2.231

f) Information on hedge derivative financial liabilities: 

None (31 December 2019: None).

g) Explanations on provisions:

1) General loans for provisions are explained:

It consists of provisions amounting to 669 TL for cash loans and 229 TL for non-cash loans (31 December 2019: 
None).

2) Foreign exchange provisions for foreign currency indexed loans are explained:

As of 31 December 2020, there is no foreign currency indexed loans and no provision for exchange difference 
(31 December 2019: None).

3) Specific provisions for non-cash loans that are not indemnified and converted into cash

None (31 December 2019: None). 

4) Liabilities regarding provision for employee benefits:
 
According to the Turkish Labor Law, the Bank has to pay employement termination benefit for its personnel 
who completed one year and has been dismissed or retired due to compulsory reasons, completed 25 years 
of service (20 for women) and earned the right to retirement (age 58 for women, 60 for men), recruited 
or deceased. After the legislative change on 23 May 2002, some transition period articles regarding the 
employment termiantion benefit period before retirement were removed.

Employment termination benefits to be paid is up to one month’s salary for each year of service and this 
amount is limited to TL 7.117,17 (full TL amount) for 31 December 2020. The employment termination benefit is 
not legally subject to any funding and there is no funding requirement.

Provision for employment termination benefit is reserved by calculating the present value of the possible 
liability that the Bank will have to pay in case of retirement of employees. TAS 19 requires actuarial valuation 
methods to be used to calculate liabilities of entities. In this context, actuarial assumptions will be used in the 
calculation of total liabilities.

The basic assumption is that the employment termination benefit ceiling amount, which is TL 7.117,17 (full TL 
amount) for each service year, will increase each year at the rate of inflation. Thus, the discount rate applied 
will represent the real rate free of the expected effects of inflation.

The Bank did not make any provision, since the employees have not completed a full year and do not have 
employment termination benefit and vacation rights.

5) Information on other provisions: 

(i) Information on provisions for possible risks:

None (31 December 2019: None).

(ii) If other provisions exceed 10% of the total provisions, the items causing the excess and their amounts 
are explained:

None (31 December 2019: None).
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h) Explanations on tax payable: 

1) Explanations on current tax payable:

(i) Information on taxes payable:

31 December 2020
Corporate Tax -
Taxation on Securities -
Capital Gains Tax on Property 5
Banking Insurance Transaction Tax (BITT) 60
Foreign Exchange Tax -
Value Added Tax Payable 45
Other 193
Total 303

(ii) Information on premiums:

 31 December 2020
Social Security Premiums-Employee 47
Social Security Premiums-Employer 59
Bank Social Aid Pension Fund Premiums-Employee -
Bank Social Aid Pension Fund Premiums-Employer -
Pension Fund Membership Fees and Provisions-Employee -
Pension Fund Membership Fees and Provisions-Employer -
Unemployment Insurance-Employee  3
Unemployment Insurance-Employer 7
Other -
Total 116

2) Information on deferred tax payable:

Presented in Section V note VII.
 

i) Information on equity:

1) Presentation of paid-in capital:
 

 31 December 2020
Common Stock 150.000

Preferred Stock -

2) Paid-in capital amount, explanation as to whether the registered share capital system is applicable at 
Bank and if so amount of registered share capital ceiling:

Share capital system is not applied in the Bank. 

3) Information on share capital increases and their sources and other information on increase capital 
shares:  

None (31 December 2019: None).

4) Information on share capital increases from capital reserves: 

None (31 December 2019: None).

5) Capital commitments in the last fiscal year and at the end of the following period, the general pupose 
of these commitments and projected resources required to meet these commitments:

None (31 December 2019: None).

6) Indicators of the Bank’s income, profitability and liquidity for the previous periods and possible effects 
of these future assumptions on the Bank’s equity due to the uncertainty of these indicators:

Since the Bank assumes that there is no uncertainty in the previous period indicators related to its income, 
profitability and liquidity, it does not anticipate an estimated effect on its equity. No negative developments are 
expected in the profitability and liquidity of the Bank.

7) Information on preferred shares: 

None (31 December 2019: None).

8) Information on marketable securities value increase fund: 

None (31 December 2019: None).
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9) Information on revaluation value increase fund: 

None (31 December 2019: None).

10) Information on minority shares:

None (31 December 2019: None).

III. Explanations and notes on off-balance sheet items

a) Explanations on off-balance sheet liabilities:
 
1) Nature and amount of irrevocable loan commitments:

As of 31 December 2020, the Bank has no payment commitments for irrevocable checks. (31 December 2019: 
None).

2) Type and amount of probable losses and obligations arising from off-balance sheet items:
 
(i) Non-cash loans including guarantees, acceptances, financial guarantee and other letter of credits:

There are no possible losses arising from off-balance sheet items. Commitments consisting of off-balance 
sheet liabilities are presented in the “Off-Balance Sheet Liabilities Table”. (31 December 2019: None).

3) (i) Total amount of non-cash loans:

 31 December 2020
Non-Cash Loans for Cash Loans   -

One Year Or Less Real Maturity   -

One Year or More Real Maturity   -

Other Non-cash Loans 30.559 

Total 30.559

(ii) Information on the risk concentration by sector within the non-cash loans account

Current Period TL % FC %
Agriculture - - - -
Farming and Livestock - - - -

Forestry - - - -

Fishery - - - -

Industry - - - -
Mining and Quarrying - - - -

Manufacturing Industry - - - -

Electricity, Gas, Water - - - -

Construction - - - -
Services 22.815 100% 7.744 100%
Wholesale and Retail Trade 22.815 100% 7.341 95%

Hotel and Restaurant Services     

Transport And Communication   403 5%

Financial Institutions     

Real estate and rental services     

Self-Employment Services     

Education Services     

Health and Social Services     

Other      

Total 22.815 100% 7.744 100%

(31 December 2019: None)
 
b) Explanations on derivative transactions:

None (31 December 2019: None)
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c) Explanations on contingent liabilities and assets:

As of 31 December 2020, there are no ongoing lawsuits filed against the Bank. There are no ongoing lawsuits 
filed by the bank (31 December 2019: None).

d) Explanations on services rendered on behalf and account of others:

None (31 December 2019: None).

III. Explanations and notes related to income statement

I. Information on profit share income: 

a) Information on profit share income on loans:

31 December 2020
TL FC

Short-term Loans 4.409 37
Medium and Long-Term Loans 2.315 -
Non-Performing Loans - -
Premiums Received from Resource Utilization Support Fund - -
Total (*) 6.724 37

*Includes fees and commissions obtained from cash loans.

b) Information on profit share received from banks:

31 December 2020
TL FC

The Central Bank of Turkey - -

Domestic Banks - 181

Foreign Banks - -

Total - 181

c) Information on profit share income from marketable securities:

None.

d) Information on profit share income received from associates and subsidiaries:

None.

II. Information on profit share expenses:

a) Information on profit share given to loans used:

 Current Period 
TL FC

Banks 17 -
The Central Bank of Turkey  - -
Domestic Banks 17 -
Foreign Banks - -
Foreign Headquarters and Branches - -

Other Institutions 240 -
Total 257 -

b) Information on profit share expense to associates and subsidiaries:

None.

c) Information on profit share expense to marketable securities issued: 

None.
 
III. Explanations on trading profit/loss (Net):

31 December 2020
Profit 156.312
Profit on Capital Market Operations -
Profit on Derivative Financial Instruments 75
Foreign Exchange Gains  156.312 
Loss (-)  (129.436)
Loss on Capital Market Operations -
Loss on Derivative Financial Instruments (75)
Foreign Exchange Losses  (129.436) 
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IV. Explanation on other operating income: 

Other Operating Income Current Period 

Cancelled Tax Withholding Income 16

Other 6

Total 22

V. Provisions for impairment on loans and other receivables of banks: 

None.

VI. Information on other operating expenses:

 Current Period
Personnel Expenses               7.864    
Provision for Employment Termination Benefit - 
Impairment Losses on Tangible Assets - 
Depreciation Expense of Tangible Assets                  334    
Impairment Losses on Intangible Assets - 
Goodwill Impairment Losses     - 
Depreciation Expenses of Intangible Assets               3.601    
Impairment for Investmnets Accounted for under Equity Method - 
Impairment Losses on Assets Held for Resale - 
Depreciation Expenses of Assets Held for Resale - 
Operational Lease Expenses                 747    

Maintenance and Repair Expenses - 
Advertisement Expenses - 
Other Expenses (*)                  747    

Losses on Disposal of Assets - 
Other Operational Expenses              10.661    

Communication Expenses                  677    
Computer Usage Expenses               3.997    
Dues                  890    
Financial Activity Fees                  684    
Audit and Consultancy Fees                  934    
Other Fees               1.092    
Banking and Insurance Transactions Tax                  236    
Other               2.151    

Total            23.207    

(*) It is the depreciation expense calculated in accordance with TFRS 16. 

VII. Explanations on tax provision:

a) Explanations on calculated current tax income or expense and deferred tax income or expense:

As of 31 December 2020, the Bank has a current tax provision of TL 1.036 and a deferred tax expense of TL 566.

b) Explanation on deferred tax income or expense arising from the origination or reversal of temporary 
differences:

The Bank has a deferred tax expense of TL 566.

c) Explanations on deferred tax income or expense reflected in the income statement on temporary 
differences, financial losses and tax deductions and exceptions:

As of 31 December 2020, the Bank has a deferred tax expense of TL 566 arising from temporary differences.

VIII. Explanations on profit/loss from continued and discontinued operations before tax:

As of 31 December 2020, the profit before tax from the continued operations is TL 11.193.

IX. Explanation on net profit/loss for the periods 

There is no change in the quality of income and expense items arising from ordinary banking transactions.

X. Explanations on fee and commissions given:

 Current Period 

Fee and Commissions Given TL FC

Given to Reporters 1 112

Payments for EFT & Swift 140  -

Letter of Guarantee Commissions  - 8

Physical Transaction Fees and Commissions 35  -

Total 176 120
 
V. Explanations and notes related to statement of shareholder’s equity 

There is no amount of dividends declared after the balance sheet date but before the announcement of 
the financial statements. The dividend distribution will be decided at the General Assembly meeting, and the 
General Assembly has not been held as of the date when the accompanying financial statements are finalized.



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES GOLDEN GLOBAL BANK ANNUAL REPORT 2020146 147

GOLDEN GLOBAL YATIRIM BANKASI ANONİM ŞİRKETİ
EXPLANATION AND NOTES RELATED TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2020
(Unless otherwise stated amounts are expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL”)

GOLDEN GLOBAL YATIRIM BANKASI ANONİM ŞİRKETİ
EXPLANATION AND NOTES RELATED TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2020
(Unless otherwise stated amounts are expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL”)

VI. Explanations and notes related to statement of cash flows

a) Information on cash and cash equivalents:

1) The elements that make up cash and cash equivalent assets, and the accounting policy used in 
determining these elements:

Safe, effective storage, cash in transit, bank check purchased and demand deposits at banks including the 
Republic of Turkey Central Bank are defined as “Cash” and interbank money market placements with an 
original maturity of less than three months and time deposits in banks and investments in securities are defined 
as “cash equivalent assets”.

2) Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period:

 Current Period 
Cash   136.081 

Safe, Effective Storage and other   4 
Demand deposits in banks   136.077 

Cash Equivalents  -
Interbank money market  -
Time deposit in banks  -
Securities  -

Total cash and cash equivalents 136.081 

3) Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period:

 Current Period 
Cash 150.916 

Safe, Effective Storage and other 27.193 
Demand deposits in banks 123.723 

Cash Equivalents 510
Interbank money market -
Time deposit in banks 510
Securities -

Total cash and cash equivalents 151.426 

b) Information on the cash and cash equivalent assets of the Bank that are not available for free use of 
the Bank due to legal restrictions or other reasons:

(31 December 2019: None)

c) The effect of change in exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents:

The effect of the change in foreign exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents is calculated as approximately 
TL 26.876 as of 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019: None). The effect of the exchange rate on cash and 
cash equivalents is calculated by multiplying the exchange rate difference between the cash entry date and the 
balance sheet date by the relevant cash amount. 

d) Explanations on other items in the statement of cash flows: 

“Other” item amounting to TL (10.193) (15 October - 31 December 2019: (3.283)) in “operating profit before the 
changes in the assets and liabilities subject to banking activity” mainly consists of other operating expenses 
excluding the fees and commissions given and personnel expenses. 

“Net increase/decrease” in other assets” item amounting to TL 4.793 (15 October - 31 December 2019: (6.017)) in 
“Change in assets and liabilities subject to banking activities” mainly consists of changes in deferred tax assets 
and other assets. 

“Net increase/decrease in other payables” amounting to TL 37.092 (15 October - 31 December 2019: 1.567) in 
“Change in assets and liabilities subject to banking activities” mainly consists of changes in other liabilities. 

VII. Explanations on the risk group in which the parent bank is included 

a) Transactions carried out during the year with the shareholders of the Company and all related 
companies that have a share in the working capital of these partners and the remaining balances:

Associates, subsidiaries,
 and entities under common 

control (joint ventures)
The bank’s direct and
 indirect partnerships

Other real and legal persons 
included in the risk group

Current Period Prior Period Current Period Prior Period Current Period Prior Period 

Funds accepted from 
shareholders - - 23.713 - - -

b) Information on benefits provided to Key Management:

In the period of 1 January - 31 December 2020, the Bank’s key management was paid TL 1.344 (15 October - 31 
December 2019: TL 420).
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VIII. Information on the domestic and international branches and representative offices of the Bank:

 Number 
Number of 
Employees

Domestic Branch 1 23

IX. Explanations and notes related to subsequent events 

None.
 

SECTION SIX
Explanations on intependent auditor’s report 

I. Matters related to independent auditor’s report

As of 31 December 2020, financial statements prepared for the period then ended were audited by DRT 
Bağımsız Denetim ve Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Müşavirlik A.Ş. and the independent audit report dated 30 March 
2021 has been presented before the financial statements.

II. Explanations and notes prepated by the independent auditor 

None.
 

SECTION SEVEN
Other explanations and notes

I. Other explanations related to Bank’s acitivities

None.
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